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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
ETE®|E

Dear Shareholders,

In 2022, the decelerated global economy, coupled with the
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, posed mounting challenges
for the Internet industry. Despite of these external headwinds, we
continued our intelligent CRM development strategy driven by
both technology and business to cope with complex market
changes. This brought us to a new level in terms of technology
and product development, business ecosystem creation and
capital operation. During the Reporting Period, we maintained
steady growth in business operations and experienced an
increase of 5.2% in total revenue as compared to the same period
in 2021, of which we recorded an increase of 73.8% in our revenue
generated from Al related products and services for the year
ended 31 December 2022 as compared to the previous year, and
maintained stable level of cash and cash equivalents, which
enabled business growth in a healthy and orderly manner during
the pandemic period.
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Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

During the Reporting Period, we continued to invest in research
and development and services to expand our in-house research
and development capabilities, and empowered the digital
intelligence transformation of our clients based on the multi-
touch, all-channel and entire business cycle strategic system. As
for our CRM PaaS services, we further strengthened the
innovation and development of our self-developed full-stack 3+1
structure, which are built on cPaaS platform, Al and DI capabilities
and aPaa$ platform, and achieved recurrent computing upgrades
in platforms and breakthroughs in technology patents. Supported
by the technical capabilities such as cloud communication, Al and
DI capabilities, we further consolidated our leading position of
our services in the market. Regarding our CRM SaaS services
business, we optimised our three cloud services comprising
Marketing Cloud, Sales Cloud and Service Cloud in terms of
services portfolio and business models by utilising the platform’s
technology base. As of now, we have penetrated into several fast-
growing industries, such as financial, public utility entities and
government organisations (“Government-related”), Fast Moving
Consumer Goods (“FMCG") and Technology, Media, Telecom
("TMT") industries, especially the best-performing ICC module
under the Marketing Cloud in the financial industry, which drove
the growth of our CRM Saa$S services segment. Meanwhile, to
expand our products and services portfolio, we launched Artificial
Intelligence and Internet of Things (“AloT") products such as the
intelligent fridge to improve terminal sales of FMCG enterprises,
thereby creating value for our clients and achieving “win-win”
situation.

ZHREREERER AR
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
ERE®E (])

In terms of business ecosystem cooperation, we made

breakthroughs in cooperation with cloud vendors, such as Huawei
Cloud and JD Cloud,

amongst clients, channels and products and services. We have

in achieving multi-level cooperation

made in-depth exploration on segment demands within an
industry and expanded its boundary to form a replicable, scalable
and expandable business model, and have been committed to
serving more corporate clients and enhancing clients’ loyalty to

further drive the sustainable growth of our business.

With the trust from our Shareholders and the efforts of our staff,
we have successfully listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) in 2022,
marking the official standing of our Company in the global and
international capital market, which has strengthened our capital
strength and brand awareness. This will assist us in carrying out
international cooperation and developing a sound ecosystem for
our intelligent CRM services, thereby enabling us to attract more
capital investments and in turn, further consolidate and
strengthen our position in the industry and demonstrate our long-

term investment value.

Thanks to the unwavering support and confidence from our
Shareholders. On behalf of the Group, | would like to present to
Shareholders the business performance and operational
highlights of our Company for the year ended 31 December 2022
as well as the summary of our Company’s strategy and outlook
for 2023.
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Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

With the wave of localisation and the digital intelligence
transformation of enterprises, digital economy is undoubtedly a
new driving force and new opportunity for future growth.
According to the policy of the “14th Five-Year Plan for Digital
Economy Development” issued by the State Council of the PRC,
the value added of the core industries of digital economy will
account for 10.0% of the GDP in 2025. According to the data
reported by the China Academy of Information and
Communications Technology, the scale of digital economy in the
PRC is expected to exceed RMB60.0 trillion by 2025. On the other
hand, the PRC government continues to enhance its support
relating to scientific and technological innovation, with the scale
of the information technology application innovation (“ITAI")
industry expected to exceed RMB2.0 trillion in 2025. The ITAI
industry is not only a strategic means for the continuous upgrade
of information technology industry in the PRC, but also a booster
for the digital transformation of the financial and Government-
related industries. As an intelligent CRM Saa$S services provider
that facilitates the digital intelligence transformation of
enterprises as well as a leader in the intelligent CRM services
industry, we respond actively to national policies and market
demands, and gradually consolidate the quality of CRM products
that are adapted to and certified by the ITAl industry. Our
excellent Al and DI, cloud computing, internet, communications
capabilities, as well as loT and other technologies, enable our
clients to reduce cost and enhance efficiency throughout their
entire business cycle, and thereby allowing us to rapidly expand
our market shares in FMCG, financial, Government-related and
TMT industries.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
ERE®E (])

In 2022, we continued to increase our investments in the
intelligent CRM services industry and focused on the intelligent
CRM SaaS services segment. After years of cultivation in the
industry, we have accumulated high-quality client base in various
industries and obtained profound practical experience and
industry expertise. During the Reporting Period, our client’s
coverage included various top 100 companies™, which comprised
of 16 of top 100 software companies, 24 of top 100 internet
companies, 36 of top 100 regulated security companies, 44 of top
100 banking companies, 14 of top 100 Chinese liquor companies,
22 of top 100 commodity companies, 32 of top 100 beverage
companies and 34 of top 100 food companies. Our one-stop
intelligent CRM services, which helped our clients to manage
their entire business cycle’s operation through the offering of our
comprehensive services matrix, contributed to an increase in our
average price per client? and enhancement of user stickiness. For
the year ended 31 December 2022, we recorded a total revenue
of RMB1,043.4 million, with a 5.2% growth as compared to the
previous year. The following outline our services and performance

by two segments.

BUSINESS REVIEW

CRM PaaS Services

Our CRM PaaS services are built on cPaaS platform, Al and DI
capabilities and aPaaS platform. Our cPaaS platform
encompasses various composable functional modules (e.g. voice
and text verification code module, notification text and call
module, hidden-number module) to empower our clients with
consolidated communication capabilities mainly in the form of
easily-deployed APIs and SDKs, thus enabling them to reach end
users in an easy, efficient and flexible way. In addition, we also
integrated the Al and DI capabilities required for our intelligent
CRM services.

Notes:

(1):  Top 100 companies refer to top 100 enterprises in terms of revenue

in various segments within an industry.

(2):  For the year ended 31 December 2022, the average price per client

refers to average revenue generated per client for the year.

Annual Report 2022 —Z = —F %

09



10

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
EIR®|E (F)
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In 2022, our cPaaS platform completed the upgrade and
transformation of cloud native structure, and the infrastructure of
which was re-optimised by the engagement of the hybrid cloud
model, so as to provide our clients with more efficient and higher
quality of communication capabilities. Based on the cloud native
technologies, we achieved a more effective research and
development process, and improved the utilisation rate of
infrastructure resources and flexibility and efficiency of the
platform, which reinforced business continuity and stability, and
laid down a solid technical foundation to support the rapid

growth of multi-touch communication traffic.

Besides, our self-developed Al capabilities are based on cloud
native computing technology with focus on image recognition,
enabling us to provide our clients with top tier algorithms in the
FMCG industry. In 2022, we solidified and completed innovative
technologies in FMCG field, including 3D depth estimation and
application scenarios analysis, to further reduce modeling time
and labor costs. The high recognition accuracy rate of Al
capabilities enabled us to attract new clients as well as retain our
existing clients, and attributed to enhancement in commercial

capability of AloT and continuous innovation of DI capabilities.

During the Reporting Period, we also continued to strengthen our
aPaa$S platform and DI capabilities. In terms of aPaaS platform,
technological breakthroughs in cloud native deployment were
achieved in 2022 enabling the deployment of hybrid cloud in our
services, which also gained recognition from our clients. These
breakthroughs not only saved cost of cloud services and
improved efficiency of data inquiries, but also allowed quicker
response to our clients’ demands. In addition, we leveraged our
DI capabilities to assist clients in store expansion such as avoiding
the establishment of duplicated stores in the same location and
establishing a system of tags for FMCG industry, which helped us
to deepen our understanding of FMCG industry effectively and
enabled enterprise clients to achieve better intelligent decision-

making.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
ERE®E (])

CRM SaaS Services

Our CRM Saa$ services comprise Marketing Cloud, Sales Cloud
and Service Cloud, which integrate the traditional CRM functions
with cloud communication, upgraded and encapsulated
communication capabilities as well as Al and DI capabilities to
offer our clients one-stop intelligent CRM services throughout
their entire business cycle, from initial marketing to after-sales
services. Our CRM Paa$S services provide underlying
communication, Al and DI capabilities for CRM SaaS services,
facilitating and enhancing the functions of Marketing Cloud, Sales

Cloud, and Service Cloud.

it contributed RMB390.7

million to the revenue for the year ended 31 December 2022,

First, in terms of Marketing Cloud,

accounting for 82.4% of our revenue generated from CRM Saa$S
services. Among them, revenue generated from ICC related
services for the year ended 31 December 2022 increased by
298.1% as compared to previous year, mainly due to the
combined effects of the following efforts we made over the past
years: (i) the creation of product matrix; (ii) fulfilment of visualised
interaction demands; (i) implementation of local adaptation
strategy; and (iv) the joint operating strategy with cloud vendors.
The ICC modules matrix is flexible and diverse, which allows
greater control in terms of size of projects and better fulfilment of
clients’ demands at various stages. Based on which, we enhanced
the visualised interaction application scenarios of the service to
improve its performance in smart customer consultation and sales
marketing scenarios. Besides, we also actively sought the
adaptation to and certification of mainstream ITAl products and
reached cooperation with cloud vendors such as Huawei Cloud
and JD Cloud, which were also our efforts to respond to the

national strategies and drive the expansion of the industry.
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Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

For Sales Cloud, we consistently adhered to the three business
models such as co-cultivation among manufacturers, channel
cultivation as well as the integration of the marketing and digital
management of terminal stores and end users ("BC Integration”)
with the aim of satisfying the growing demand of consumers.
Leveraging on our advanced self-developed Al and aPaaS
capabilities, and with more than ten years of experience in the
FMCG industry, we can quickly respond to changes in clients’
demands and constantly enhance our clients’ operations, allowing
our clients to reduce costs and improve efficiency, and
empowering our clients to achieve business growth. As a result,
we achieved a core clients’ retention rate®® of 91.7% in respect
of our Sales Cloud in 2022. For the year ended 31 December
2022, revenue contributed by Sales Cloud services amounted to
RMB60.6 million, representing 12.8% of our revenue generated
from CRM SaaS services. In terms of AloT products and services,
we gradually launched smart box, intelligent fridge and other
major products. With the integration of all-channel data
capabilities, we enabled our clients to carry out real-time
monitoring of terminal fridge display and sales, deepened links to
end customers, and ultimately improved the sales volume of
terminals. Furthermore, we have developed the air curtain cabinet
which can be used to identify display and sales volume position
of products in real time, thus allowing our clients’ staffs to make
timely product replenishment or display adjustment according to

the terminal situation.

Notes:

(3):  For the year ended 31 December 2022, core clients are defined as

clients contributing RMB300,000 or above of revenue for the year.

(4):  For the year ended 31 December 2022, core clients’ retention rate
refers to the percentage of core clients for the immediately
preceding year which remained to be our core clients for the

current year.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
ERE®E (])

For Service Cloud, we achieved a breakthrough in our Cloud Call
Centre service for our clients in the financial industry with the
discovery of replicable business solutions. In this regard, our Al
robot service has further enhanced business capabilities for our
clients in various industries such as the financial, TMT and
Government-related industries. We adhere to provide intelligence-
based Service Cloud services, by rolling out a matrix of intelligent
services continuously such as Call Centre, Intelligent Quality
Inspection and Al robot to enhance the efficiency and overall
service quality of customer service so as to enable our clients to
improve the efficacy of their customer service and intelligent

communication.

BUSINESS PROSPECT

In 2023, with the relaxation of domestic epidemic prevention and
control policies, the recovery of economy, together with the
support of industrial policies relating to digital economy and the
development of domestically adaptive software, we will
unswervingly consolidate research and development strengths
and enhance competitiveness of our intelligent CRM services. We
have also been actively increasing our investment in research and
development and talent training in order to continuously provide
our clients with high-quality services, while constantly deepening
the ecological cooperation with our clients. Looking forward, we
will continue to focus on the industry leading clients and expand
into more industries. By setting benchmark cases with our
industry leading clients, we will further replicate our industry
experience to the small-and-medium enterprises, with an aim to
achieve a replicable, scalable and extendable business model
that can help us to realise a rapid and sustainable growth for our

future performance.
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Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

Firstly, we will continue to invest in research and development. In
the field of Al capabilities, we will continue to deepen the image
recognition analysis and iteration of depth estimation models,
strengthen the application of image and video recognition
algorithms, further enhance smart store expansion scenarios, and
provide more application scenarios for our intelligent CRM
services. At present, our Al laboratory has certain competitive
strengths backed by underlying technologies such as big data
and multimodal detection. In the future, by leveraging the
leading Generative Pre-trained Transformer ("GPT") technology
in the industry, we will further innovate in the application
scenarios through the integration of Al pre-trained model and
intelligent CRM services so as to achieve cost reduction, efficiency
enhancement and performance growth for our clients with

digitalised intelligent solutions.

In addition, in the field of cPaaS services, we are committed to
building a multi-touch communication technology foundation
with multimedia reachable and intelligent interaction capabilities
to help clients to connect their end users digitally. Such technical
innovation and structure reorganisation will greatly enhance the

technical advantages of our services.

Secondly, we will improve the overall competitiveness of
Marketing Cloud, Sales Cloud and Service Cloud. In terms of
Marketing Cloud, we will integrate ICC module and Call Centre
to promote diversified integration of software services,
communication resources and marketing services. We will
continue to focus on the financial industry, enhance the
competitiveness of our Group's multi-touch solutions in the
banking industry, and increase channels for traffic monetisation,
so as to achieve service innovation, standardisation and

industrialisation.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
ERE®E (])

In terms of Sales Cloud, we will continue to consolidate our
existing shares in the FMCG market and optimise the service
portfolio to gradually expand into the consumer durables
industry. For our flagship service Smart Sales 100, we will continue
to improve its functional coverage. Leveraging our advantages in
Al and DI capabilities and other innovative technologies, we will
develop more innovative application scenarios for the BC
Integration, further refine service standardisation to meet the
needs of clients in business efficiency enhancement, and boost
our market share with enhanced intelligence and technological
foundation. In terms of AloT products and services, we will assist
clients to optimise their business strategies and increase the
market presence of our AloT products and services, as a mean to
improve our market share of Sales Cloud, and thereby continue
to develop more industry leading clients in the FMCG industry,
while simultaneously launching more new products and services
in 2023. We believe that our AloT products and services will
reconstruct the business framework between the people, the
goods and the markets and help our clients to carry out digital

marketing with smart retail stores in an all-round way.

In terms of Service Cloud, we will further promote the self-service
capabilities, experience optimisation, mainstream ITAl product
adaptation to improve the marketing conversion rate and
customer service efficiency of our clients. On the other hand, we
will transform our existing services into systems that support
cloud native technology through learning and application of
cloud native structure. Our intelligent customer services will utilise
our Al capabilities to simplify the formulation of complex
application scenarios, and improve the efficiency of multiple
rounds of dialogue application scenarios between our clients and

their users.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
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Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

In 2023, through the established industry research institute, we
developed a set of standardised systems for research by industry
think-tanks and assembled a team of high-calibre industry
research talents. We will retain and cultivate talented experts,
create think tanks for different industry segments and build a
training-oriented micro-consultation service system. The industry
research institute will help us to accelerate the standardisation of
our products and services and enhance our influence in the

industry, leading us to further explore our business blueprint.

At the same time, we will continue to embrace the opportunity
with our cloud vendor ecosystem and develop new eco-
capabilities for our Group. In 2022, we had set up an ecological
cooperation department to strengthen cooperation with Huawei
Cloud and other cloud vendors, and we will develop ecological
cooperation with other cloud vendors and channels in the year
ahead. Looking forward, we will remain focused on Huawei Cloud
in order to expand our business scale on the one hand, and on
the other hand, apply the well-established business operation
model to other core businesses with the utilisation of business

model driven software.

We believe the long-term trend of digitalisation and intelligence
in enterprise will remain unchanged. With the support from Al
and DI capabilities and other technologies, the bonding between
our services and clients will be strengthened. Externally, we are
committed to expanding our market layout, taking clients and
channel partners as part of our efforts to go global. At the same
time, we will actively join hands with cloud vendors to further
deepen ecological cooperation. Internally, we will continue to (i)
promote innovative research and development and gain insight
into the latest industry dynamics by leveraging our research and
development team and the industry research institute; (ii) intensify
and solidify our business operations throughout the industry-wide
value chain to develop star products; (iii) insist on providing high
quality products and services to our clients; and (iv) strive to

create value for our clients.
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ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

On behalf of the Board, | would like to convey my sincere
gratitude to all our clients, shareholders and investors for their
trust and support over the past year. Also, | would like to express
my appreciation to our management team and colleagues for
their dedication and hard work over the past year, making us a
step further on the road to becoming a leading intelligent CRM
services provider. The goals are distant but can be attained; the
tasks are challenging but can be accomplished. In the coming
year, we will continue to promote the high-quality development
of our Company by upholding the “client first, forge ahead”
philosophy, and to adhere to the long-term development policy

to create value for our clients and shareholders.

CHEN Yonghui

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2023
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REVENUE

The Group generated revenue from two operating segments:
CRM PaaS services and CRM Saa$ services. CRM Paa$S services
was the slightly larger segment for the two years ended 31
December 2021 and 2022. For the year ended 31 December 2022,
CRM PaaS services accounted for 54.6% of the Group's revenue
(year ended 31 December 2021: 55.9%) while CRM SaaS services
accounted for 45.4% of the Group's revenue (year ended 31
December 2021: 44.1%).

The following table sets forth the Group's segment revenue both
in absolute amount and as a percentage of its revenue for the
years presented. For the year ended 31 December 2022, total
revenue had a moderate increase of 5.2% to RMB1,043.4 million
from RMB991.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2021.
This increase was mainly driven by the growth in the Group's
CRM SaaS services.

BZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

2022 20214
2022 2021
ARET T % ARETIT %
RMB’000 % RMB'000 %
CRM PaaS R 7 CRM PaaS services 569,177 54.6 554,643 55.9
CRM SaaS iR & CRM SaaS services 474,201 45.4 437,298 44.1
1,043,378 100.0 991,941 100.0

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EEEFWR D (&)

CRM PaaS services

The Group's revenue from CRM PaaS services was relatively
stable at RMB569.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2022
(year ended 31 December 2021: RMB554.6 million) accounting for
54.6% of the total revenue of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022 (year ended 31 December 2021: 55.9%).

CRM SaaS services

The following table sets forth the breakdown of revenue from

CRM SaaS services by solutions for the years presented.

BE12A31BLFE

Year ended 31 December

20224 20214

2022 2021

ARET T ARETF T

RMB’000 RMB’000

EHE Marketing Cloud 390,740 347,618
HESE Sales Cloud 60,584 66,163
ZRE Service Cloud 22,877 23,517
474,201 437,298
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Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

The Group's revenue from CRM Saa$ services increased by 8.4%
to RMB474.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 (year
ended 31 December 2021: RMB437.3 million), accounting for
45.4% of the total revenue of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022 (year ended 31 December 2021: 44.1%), primarily
due to (i) clients’ rising demand for its CRM Saa$S services; (i)
enhanced features in its solutions; (iii) increase in number of its
core clients® from CRM SaaS services; (iv) increase in average
price per core client® from CRM SaaS services; and (v) increase in
revenue from Marketing Cloud which was primarily due to the
increase in sales volume of its ICC module while partially offset by
the decrease in sales volume of its cloud communication and loT

modules.

COST OF SALES

The Group's cost of sales increased by 7.7% to RMB817.7 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022 from RMB759.5 million for
the year ended 31 December 2021. The increase was in line with
its business expansion in both CRM PaaS services and CRM Saa$

services for the year ended 31 December 2022.

CRM PaaS$ services: The cost of sales from CRM Paa$ services
increased by 6.1% to RMB524.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 from RMB494.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2021, primarily due to the increase in costs of
telecommunication resources in relation to CRM PaaS services
which was generally in line with the increase in revenue generated

from CRM PaaS services.

Notes:

(5)  For the two years ended 31 December 2021 and 2022, core clients
are defined as clients contributing RMB300,000 or above of revenue

for the relevant year.

(6)  For the two years ended 31 December 2021 and 2022, the average
price per core client refers to the average revenue generated per

core client for the relevant year.

ZREHRERERAT



CRM SaaS AR 7 : CRM SaaSAR 7% 1 $8 & &K
RNEAEHE2021F12A3BIEFENARE
26555 8 JT 1% HN10.5% % & £2022F 12 A
JMIHLEFEMARK2934EGE T £EH
72 (i) CRM SaaS AR 7% 18 B & (5 & IR 89 5K AN 15
hn - 3% 0E B 7R & B 7R G N #E 17 CRM SaaS
AR 75 B0 2 IS ok R B - M) & B 18
FAYHBEAEERFAMNKZE REE AR
#R M e

ENREBHN =R

ERERZ AEENBERBENAEBZE
2021F12A3MBIEFEMARKI2N4ESE
LR A 29% EH E2022F12A318 IEFE
MARMB256BE T MEBEEENEIA
23.4% K ZE21.6% o

CRM PaaS AR 7% : CRM PaaSHR 7% B & F| %
M A £2021F 128318 LIt F E 8910.9% 8
DEEHE202F12A318 LFERT9%°
2022 F F Y ZE E 5 COVID-19&Z 16 FT B i 1Y
BRI E S R PR PR T AN B SR B
B{LCRM PaaSHR T & P B¥ A9 EH &l - W E 5
RESZREEMNENEPREER -

CRM SaaSAR % : CRM SaaSAR 7 H E 7| R 4
BHESET REZE202F12A31HLEF
[E538.1%  MEZE2021F12A31H ILFE
#39.3% °

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEBFRE D (F)

CRM SaaS$ services: The cost of sales from CRM Saa$ services
increased by 10.5% to RMB293.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 from RMB265.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2021, primarily due to (i) the increase in costs of
telecommunication resources in relation to CRM Saa$ services,
which was generally in line with the Group’s business expansion
in CRM SaaS services during the year and (ii) increase in employee
benefit expenses in line with the Group’s revenue growth and

number of employees during the year.

GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

As a result of the foregoing, the Group's overall gross profit
decreased by 2.9% to RMB225.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 from RMB232.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2021, while its overall gross profit margin decreased
from 23.4% to 21.6%, respectively.

CRM PaaS services: The gross profit margin in CRM Paa$ services
decreased to 7.9% for the year ended 31 December 2022 from
10.9% for the year ended 31 December 2021. The strict lockdowns
and restrictions implemented in relation to COVID-19 pandemic
during the fourth quarter of 2022 have temporarily impeded the
Group's strategic plannings in optimising CRM PaaS services
client portfolio, which led to serving more clients with lower gross

profit margin.

CRM SaaS services: The gross profit margin in CRM Saa$ services
was relatively stable at 38.1% for the year ended 31 December
2022 and 39.3% for the year ended 31 December 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

The Group's selling and distribution expenses increased by 22.3%
to RMB111.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 from
RMB91.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2021, primarily
due to increase in employee benefit expenses and marketing and
promotion expenses mainly resulting from the expansion of its
business where the Group recorded 5.2% increase in revenue and

increase in number of employees in sales and marketing function.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The Group's administrative expenses increased by 11.5% to
RMB76.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 from
RMB68.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2021, primarily
due to incurrence of listing expenses in the amount of RMB23.0

million.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES

The Group's research and development expenses increased by
25.1% to RMB82.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2022
from RMB66.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2021,
primarily due to (i) the Group’s continuous investment in research
and development so as to expand its CRM Saa$ services; and (i)
the increase in employee benefit expenses which was generally in
line with the increase in the number of employees in research and

development function.

NET IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON FINANCIAL
ASSETS

The Group's net impairment losses on financial assets increased
by 35.2% to RMB7.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2022
from RMB5.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2021,
primarily attributable to (i) the increase in its trade receivables
which was generally in line with its business expansion; and (i) the
increase in trade receivables aged between one and two years
due to the disruption to the collection process brought by
COVID-19 pandemic in 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEBFRE D (F)

OTHER INCOME

The Group's other income increased by 10.3% to RMB13.9 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022 from RMB12.6 million for
the year ended 31 December 2021, primarily due to increase in

government grants, which was in line with its business expansion.

FINANCE COSTS — NET

The Group's finance costs — net comprise finance income,
interest expenses of lease liabilities and interest expenses of
borrowings. The Group's finance costs — net amounted to
RMB3.0 million and RMB1.8 million for the two years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021, respectively.

INCOME TAX CREDIT

The Group had income tax credit of RMB1.3 million and RMB2.9
million for the two years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,

respectively.

(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

As a result of the foregoing, the Group had a net loss of RMB35.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2022, compared with a
net profit of RMB15.4 million for the year ended 31 December
2021, which was primarily attributable to the (i) continuous
increase in the Group's research and development expenses in its
CRM SaaS services; and (i) implementation of strict lockdowns
and restrictions in relation to COVID-19 pandemic during the
fourth quarter of 2022, which adversely affected (a) the operation
of the Group (where headquarter is situated in Haizhu District,
Guangzhou, PRC), in particular, part of the implementation
activities and corresponding schedules of the Group; and (b) the

operations of the Group's clients.
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NON-HKFRS MEASURE: ADJUSTED NET (LOSS)/
PROFIT

To supplement the Group's consolidated financial information
which are presented in accordance with HKFRS, the Group also
uses adjusted net (loss)/profit (defined below) as an additional
financial measure, which is not required by, or presented in
accordance with HKFRS. The Group believes that the presentation
of this non-HKFRS measure facilitates comparisons of operating
performance. The Group also believes that this measure provides
useful information to investors in understanding and evaluating
the Group’s consolidated results of operations in the same
manner as they do for the Group’s management. However, the
use of non-HKFRS measure has limitations as an analytical tool,
and you should not consider them in isolation from, or as a
substitute for analysis of, the Group's results of operations or
financial conditions as reported under HKFRS. In addition, the
non-HKFRS financial measure may be defined differently from
similar terms used by other companies. The Group defines
"adjusted net (loss)/profit” (non-HKFRS measures) as profit or
loss for the year and adding back listing expenses and it referred
to expenses the Group incurred in connection with the Global
Offering.

The following table sets forth the reconciliations of the Group's
non-HKFRS financial measure for the two years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021 to the nearest measure prepared in
accordance with HKFRS:

BZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

2022 % 20214

2022 2021

ARMETF T AREFTT

RMB’000 RMB’000

4 (18), /7 Net (loss)/profit (34,968) 15,351
AT % - Adjust for:

i E Listing expenses 22,971 15,617

(11,997) 30,968

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEBFRE D (F)

TRADE, BILL AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's trade, bill and other
receivables and prepayments amounted to RMB444.5 million,
representing an increase of 20.3% as compared with RMB369.6
million as at 31 December 2021. Such increase was primarily due
to (i) the increase in prepayments to suppliers from RMB86.7
million as at 31 December 2021 to RMB140.9 million as at 31
December 2022; and (ii) the increase in trade receivables from
RMB264.3 million as at 31 December 2021 to RMB285.0 million as
at 31 December 2022, which was attributable to the increase in

the Group's revenue.

TRADE, BILL AND OTHER PAYABLES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's trade, bill and other payables
amounted to RMB104.1 million, representing a decrease of 24.8%
as compared with RMB138.4 million as at 31 December 2021. Such
decrease was primarily due to the decrease in trade payables from
RMB94.1 million as at 31 December 2021 to RMB48.3 million as at
31 December 2022, which was attributable to the further

acceleration of settlements with suppliers.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Treasury Policies

The Group adopts a prudent treasury management policy to
actively monitor its liquidity position and maintain sufficient
financial resources for future development. On this basis, the
Group regularly reviews and adjusts its financial structure in
response to dynamic changes in economic conditions to ensure
financial resources are deployed in the best interests of the

Group.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's cash and cash equivalents
were RMB161.0 million, representing an increase of 82.3% from
RMB88.3 million as at 31 December 2021.
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B% Indebtedness
HZ12A31BLLEE

Year ended 31 December
2022 % 2021 5
2022 2021
AR¥T T ARBEFTT
RMB'000 RMB'000
& Borrowings 88,481 58,480
HEAE Lease liabilities 28,083 31,880
116,564 90,360

FREE
R2022F12A31H » AEB W ET M EK
HREME -
BAREE

R2022512 A3 H  AEBE Y EERNEX

EXREELR

20226 12A31H - AEENEAREBEL
XA BERINERTZNADL MR E
BENERERAFRATAEAENAETES
) 727.6% (522021612 A31 8 < 31.5%) °

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any material

contingent liabilities.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any material

capital commitment.

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's gearing ratio (i.e.
percentage of total liabilities divided by total equity, and total
liabilities is calculated as the aggregate of total borrowings and
lease liabilities) was 27.6% (as at 31 December 2021: 31.5%).

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited ZRERFEIERAR AR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEBFRE D (F)

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE
RATES

The Group's businesses are principally conducted in RMB. The
Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures arise
from financing and operating activities of the Group's entities
conducted in currencies other than the functional currency. As at
31 December 2022, major non-RMB assets are cash and cash
equivalents which denominated in Hong Kong dollar (“HK$") or
Unite States dollar (“US$"). Fluctuation of the exchange rate of
RMB against HK$ or US$ could affect the Group's results of
operations. The Group has not entered into any forward
exchange contract to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange

risk.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not hold any significant
investments in the equity interests of any other companies,
including any investment in an investee company with a value of 5%

or more of the Company's total assets as at 31 December 2022.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION OR DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES

The Group has not conducted any substantial acquisition or disposal
of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures that were required to be
disclosed during the year ended 31 December 2022.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not pledge any of its assets.
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Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus, the Group has no concrete
plan for future material investments and capital assets as at the

date of this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

From the Listing Date and up to 31 December 2022, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or

redeemed the Company'’s listed securities.

DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend the declaration of a
final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM will be held on Monday, 26 June 2023. A notice
convening the AGM will be published and dispatched to the
Shareholders in the manner required by the Listing Rules in due

course.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEBFRE D (F)

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF SHARES

For the purpose of ascertaining the members’ eligibility to attend
and vote at the AGM, the Company’s register of members will be
closed from Tuesday, 20 June 2023 to Monday, 26 June 2023,
both dates inclusive, during which period no transfer of share will
be registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the
AGM, unregistered holders of shares of the Company shall ensure
that all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share registrar in
Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen's Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong for registration not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 19 June 2023.

EMPLOYEES REMUNERATION AND RELATIONS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had a total of 889 employees,
all of whom were based in the PRC. The Group's total employee
costs (including directors’ emoluments) for the year ended 31
December 2022 was RMB206.1 million (year ended 31 December
2021: RMB171.0 million). Remuneration packages for employees
and directors are structured according to market terms as well as

individual performance and experience.

The Group has also established comprehensive training programs
that cover topics such as its corporate culture, employees’ rights
and responsibilities, team building, professional behaviour and
job performance to ensure that its employees’ skill sets remain
up-to-date which enable them to discover and meet its clients’

needs.
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Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 1 December 2022 (the “Adoption Date”), the Company
adopted the Restricted Share Award Scheme. No Shares shall be
issued or purchased pursuant to the Restricted Share Award
Scheme if as a result of such issue and purchase, the number of
Shares administered under the Restricted Share Award Scheme
shall reaches 10% or more of the issued share capital of the
Company on the Adoption Date or such other limit as determined
by the Administration Committee in its sole and absolute
discretion provided always that it is in compliance with the Listing
Rules. Subject to compliance with the requirements under the
Listing Rules, the maximum number of Award Shares which may
be granted to a Selected Participant at any one time or in
aggregate may not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the
Company on the Adoption Date. Further details of the Restricted
Share Award Scheme are set out in the paragraph headed “Report
of Directors — Employee Incentive Schemes” in this annual
report and the announcements of the Company dated 1
December 2022 and 20 December 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, no share awards were granted to the
employees by the Company pursuant to the Share Award

Scheme.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

On 6 January 2023, the Company has resolved to make grants of
Award Shares under the Restricted Share Award Scheme. Details

of the grant is as follows:

Number of Award Shares granted under Restricted Share Award
Scheme:

4,985,000 Shares, representing approximately 0.89% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of the grant

Selected Participants:
Certain core employees who have served the Company for a
lengthy period of time and are not connected persons of the

Company
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEBFRE D (F)

Number of Selected Participants:
54

Vesting period:

The Award Shares granted typically shall vest in the Selected
Participants within approximately three years from 6 January
2023.

Closing price and market value:

Based on the closing price of HK$3.00 per Share on 6 January
2023 (i.e. the date of the grant of the Award Shares), the market
value of 4,985,000 Award Shares in aggregate is HK$14,955,000.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 6 January 2023.

Save for disclosed above, there were no other material events
subsequent to 31 December 2022 which could have a material
impact on our operating and financial performance as of the
Latest Practicable Date.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

The Company was listed on the Stock Exchange on 8 July 2022.
The net proceeds from the Global Offering (after deducting
underwriting fees, commissions and estimated expenses paid and
payable by the Company in connection with the Global Offering)
was approximately HK$163.3 million, which have been and will be
used in the manner consistent with that mentioned in the section
headed "Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” of the Prospectus.
The following table sets forth the status of the use of net

proceeds from the Global Offering:

ZEEA

R2022F R2022%F KBARE

PigE] 12A31H 12A31H MIEFEMN
MEFHE 2 &M REA TR R
Expected

timeline of full

Utilised as at Unutilised as at utilisation of

Net 31 December 31 December the unutilised

proceeds 2022 2022  net proceeds
(Ag%ERT) (BE&BT) (A&%ET)
(HK$ million)  (HK$ million) (HK$ million)

X ZCRMPaaSk#¥ Improving CRM Paa$

services
12 FtaPaaS & Enhancing aPaa$ and
cPaaS¥ & cPaa$ platforms
1 2 Dl g Developing DI capacity
HUHE Al B2 Fostering Al capacity

13.2 4.2 9.0 On or before
31 December

2024

120244

12A31H%

Z A

5.6 2.0 3.6 On or before
31 December

2024

#2024

128318

2 Hi

5.6 2.0 3.6 On or before
31 December

2024

#2024 4F

12A31H 3k

Z Al

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited ZRERFEIERAR AR



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Utilised as at Unutilised as at

EEBFRE D (F)

BEBA

M2022%F KBARE
12A31H RIEFHEN
RrEBA 8 5 B R R
Expected

timeline of full
utilisation of

Net 31 December 31 December the unutilised
proceeds 2022 2022 net proceeds
(&%) (BE&BET) (B&ET)
EH ltem (HK$ million)  (HK$ million) (HK$ million)
8 CRM SaaSFR#  Strengthening CRM
SaaS services
BEE2REZLIHE  Providing all-channel 25.4 7.7 17.7 On or before
fRRTT 2R Marketing Cloud 31 December
Solutions 2024
20245
12 H31H 3k
Z A
N5E 38 & E AR R 77 = Enhancing Sales 28.5 6.9 21.6 On or before
Cloud solutions 31 December
2024
R 2024 F
12A31H 3k
Z Hi
R ARZE R R T Reinforcing Service Cloud 1.4 35 7.9 On or before
solutions 31 December
2024
2024 F
12H31H 3k
Z Al
EEHEREHEEEHN Improving sales and
marketing abilities
EeE - Bk Strengthening our brand 24.5 5.9 18.6  On orbefore

BEEMITEMR
HAIE 5B 2

in the financial,
governmental and
internet industries
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Net
proceeds
(B&BT)
(HK$ million)

"2022 %
12A31H
E28A

Utilised as at
31 December
2022
(BB#T)
(HK$ million)

H2022F
128318
KE A

Unutilised as at

31 December
2022
(BB#T)
(HK$ million)

EHEHA
KEBRAME
REFEDN
FEHRRE R

Expected

timeline of full

utilisation of
the unutilised
net proceeds

ERXKBEE TER
BEITRERTLM
H) dm bR I X 37—
HEARTTRA R

s

18K 3 AT O 35 5 B X
N 12 BR %55 8 BX

BERERWKE

EEEEN
—REXRR

Promoting our brand in
the consumer, retail and
healthcare industries and
setting up a relevant
industry research institute

Enlarging our sales team
and post-sales service
team

Strategic investment
and acquisitions

Working capital and
general corporate use

4.9

19.6

16.4

8.2

0.9

3.7

4.2

4.0

15.9

16.4

4.0

Total

163.3

41.0

1223

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEBFRE D (F)

Extension of Expected Timeline for Use of Part of
Proceeds

As disclosed in the section headed "Future Plans and Use of
Proceeds” in the Prospectus, the Company intended to utilise
approximately 4.0% out of the net proceeds from the Global
Offering on strategic investment and acquisitions by 31
December 2022 (the "“Expected Timeline”). The Board has
resolved to extend the Expected Timeline and the relevant
proceeds from the Global Offering are expected to be utilised by
31 December 2024.

Reasons for the Extension of Expected Timeline for
Use of Part of Proceeds

Since the Listing Date, the Group has been actively identifying
suitable investment and/or acquisition opportunities that
maximise the expected return for the Shareholders and minimise
the risks and exposures associated with the investments and/or

acquisitions.

Although the Group has been searching for suitable investment
and/or acquisition targets in the PRC, it has taken a prudent
approach in light of the COVID-19 pandemic and the slow PRC
intelligent CRM services market recovery. As at the date of this
annual report, the Group has not been able to identify any CRM
SaaS or cloud and communication-based Al technologies
companies worth acquiring or investing in. In addition, due to the
effect brought by the COVID-19 pandemic and economic
downturn, the Group adopted a prudent development approach

in expansion of its business since the Listing Date.
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Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

In spite of the cancellation of the domestic epidemic prevention
and control policies by the PRC government in early January
2023, the macro-economic environment requires time to recover
and will continue to face great challenges in the foreseeable
future. In view of this, on 28 March 2023, the Board resolved to
extend the Expected Timeline from on or before 31 December
2022 to on or before 31 December 2024. The extension of the
Expected Timeline is based on the Directors’ best estimation
barring unforeseen circumstances, and would be subject to

changes based on the development of market conditions.

The Board's Views

The Board will closely monitor the utilisation of the net proceeds
from the Global Offering. The Board further confirms that there is
no material change in the business of the Group as set out in the
Prospectus. The Board considers that the proposed extension of
Expected Timeline for use of the net proceeds from the Global
Offering will not have any material adverse impact on the
operations of the Group and is in the interests of the Company

and the Shareholders as a whole.
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The biographical details of the Board and the senior management
of the Company who held office during the Reporting Period and

up to the date of this Report are as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHEN Yonghui (BR 7k ¥&) (“Mr. Chen"), aged 47, is a co-
founder of the Group and is currently serving as an executive
Director, the chairman of the Board and the chief executive
officer of the Company. Mr. Chen was appointed as a Director on
26 April 2021 and re-designated as an executive Director on 15
June 2022. Mr. Chen is responsible for overall daily operation and
management of the Group and overseeing the Company's
Consumer Products Business Department, Consumer Products
Operation Department, Brand & Marketing Department and the

Industry Research Institute.

Mr. Chen joined Guangzhou Jiemiao Trade Limited (& /N 71 #& %
B58BMRAA) (formerly known as Guangzhou Xuanwu
Information and Technology Limited (B M ™ Z R & A K AR
A 7)) (“Xuanwu Information and Technology”) and had acted

as a deputy general manager thereof until October 2010.

Mr. Chen obtained his bachelor’'s degree in applied mathematics
from South China University of Technology FERIE T K£) in
June 1999 and his executive master’'s degree in business

administration from China Europe International Business School
(P ERBIFR T 2 Ft) in October 2013.

Mr. HUANG Fangjie (E {5 #) (“Mr. Huang”), aged 55, is a co-
founder of the Group and is currently serving as an executive
Director. Mr. Huang was appointed as a Director on 11 August
2021 and re-designated as an executive Director on 15 June 2022.
Mr. Huang was a Senior Vice President of the Company between
November 2010 and January 2023. Mr. Huang is mainly

responsible for overseeing the Company’s Audit Department.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
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Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

Between June 2000 and October 2010, Mr. Huang had acted as a

deputy general manager at Xuanwu Information and Technology.

Mr. Huang received an executive master’'s degree in business
administration from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business
(RIEEFR) in September 2016.

Mr. LI Hairong (2 %) (“Mr. Li"), aged 45, is a co-founder of
the Group and is currently serving as an executive Director and a
Senior Vice President of the Company. Mr. Li was appointed as a
Director on 11 August 2021 and re-designated as an executive
Director on 15 June 2022. Mr. Li is mainly responsible for
overseeing the Company’s Business Cooperation Centre,
Financial, Government-related and TMT (together, "FGT")
Products Business Department and Testing Department, cPaaS

Platform Department and Client Operations Department.

Before founding the Group with other co-founders, Mr. Li had
worked with Guangzhou Huagong Computer Network
Engineering Co., Ltd. (BMTWE T BB TEER A7) for
the period between September 1999 and May 2000. Between
June 2000 and October 2010, Mr. Li had served as a senior vice

president at Xuanwu Information and Technology.

Mr. Li received his bachelor's degree in applied mathematics
from South China University of Technology FERIE T KE) in
June 1999, and obtained his executive master’s degree in

business administration from China Europe International Business
School (A7 Br B % T 7 2% ) in October 2013.

Mr. GUO Haiqiu (ZBEER) (“Mr. Guo"), aged 47, is currently
serving as an executive Director and a Senior Vice President of
the Company. Mr. Guo was appointed as a Director on 11 August
2021 and re-designated as an executive Director on 15 June 2022.
Mr. Guo is mainly responsible for overseeing the Company's
Human Resources Department, Administration and Legal Affairs

Department and IT Management Department.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
EEREREEE (B

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Guo had worked with Kingdee
Software (China) Co., Ltd. (& & #{4F (Fh ) B B A 7)) as a project
manager at its research and development centre and a manager
of its development department between 1999 and December
2005. And, between January 2006 and December 2012, he had
served as a director of operation and management department
and a deputy general manager at Guangzhou branch of the same

company.

Mr. Guo received his bachelor’'s degree in applied mathematics
from South China University of Technology FERIE T K£) in
June 1999 and obtained his executive master’'s degree in business

administration from China Europe International Business School
(R BN B BRI 2 B2) in August 2019.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. XU Xin (RfiX) ("Mr. Xu"), aged 46, joined the Group in
December 2020. Mr. Xu was appointed as a Director on 11 August
2021 and re-designated as a non-executive Director on 15 June
2022. He is mainly responsible for provision of professional and

strategic advice to the Board.

Since January 2016, Mr. Xu has served as a partner, the co-
president and the investment managing director at Shanghai
Fosun Capital Investment Management Co., Ltd (/818 E&IE
HEEERMAMR AT ("Shanghai Fosun”). Since February
2023, he has served as a global partner at Fosun International
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
0656.HK) and the rotating chairman at Shanghai Fosun.

Since 20 November 2018, Mr. Xu has acted as a director of
Espressif Systems (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (#2512 B &I (L 8)i% 5
BBRAA]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 688018).
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Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

Previously, Mr. Xu had served as a vice president of China area at
Arvato Bertelsmann (China) Limited (B £ H1 S &£ B B ME 5 (T )
BBE AT for the period from March 2014 to January 2016.
Before joining Arvato Bertelsmann (China) Limited, Mr. Xu had
served as a senior director of greater China area at Nielsen
Company (China) Limited (JE B #k(F B)A R A &) from March
2011 to March 2014. And, Mr. Xu had worked as a general
manager of business department and technical leader in
Microsoft Corporation/Microsoft Global Technology Centre (fik &
N B /PR B2 BR T A 0y for almost four years from July 1999 to
March 2003.

Mr. Xu received his Bachelor of Science degree from Fudan
University (1§ B KZ) in July 1999 and obtained his executive
master's degree in business administration from Washington
University in St. Louis (28 & 5 H7 #£ 5% 18 K 22) in December 2009.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. DU Jianqing (£t %] &) (“Mr. Du"), aged 46, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 15
June 2022.

Mr. Du is currently serving as a full-time lawyer at Guangdong
Shenghesheng Law Firm (BEREMPBREMELAT) ("GS Law
Firm") since January 2017 and he was a partner of GS Law Firm
between June 2020 and August 2022. Before joining the aforesaid
law firm, Mr. Du had worked at Guangdong Fanli Law Firm (& &
Rz 2 BB E 5 Fr) from June 2014 to January 2017 as a full-time
lawyer. Prior to that, Mr. Du had worked for a judicial organisation
between July 1999 and August 2013.

Mr. Du joined the on-job postgraduate program and received his
master’s degree in economic law from the Sun Yat-Sen University
(FF 10K E8) in June 2008 and obtained his bachelor's degree in
law from Guangdong University of Finance & Economic (& 5 Bf
R E) in July 1999.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
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Ms. WU Ruifeng (R % &) (“Ms. Wu"), aged 52, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 15
June 2022. Ms. Wu has been acting as a department manager at
Guangdong Branch of Wan Long (Shanghai) Assets Appraisal
Co, Ltd. (BE(LB)EEFBEARAAERD A A
August 2020. Before joining that company, Ms. Wu had worked
with Beijing Hengxin Delv Asset Appraisal Co., Ltd. (1t R 1815 1=
BEEMNMAR R A for the period between January 2014 and
May 2016 and then between July 2016 and July 2020, at
Guangzhou Zhongguangxin Assets Evaluation Co., Ltd. (& A
15 G E T E B R A R). Since 1 June 2021, Ms. Wu has acted
as a partner at Shenzhen Junrui Assets Appraisal Office (Special

al) since

General Partnership). Between January 1998 and December 2000,
Ms. Wu had worked as an auditor and a project manager at
Yonganda Accountant Office Co., Ltd. (Bk/B T K ZZEEETRIE
% BT ABR A 8]). From January 2001 to December 2013, she had
worked as an auditor, project manager and department manager
at Zhuhai Branch of Da Hua Certified Public Accountants (Special
General Partnership) (KEGFHEIEHEMEER L BE B)IKED
FfT).

Ms. Wu was accredited as a member of the Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in June 1999 and certified to

practice as an asset valuer in April 2000.

Prof. WU Jintao (88 & &) (“"Prof. Wu"), aged 48, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 15
June 2022.

Prof. Wu had worked as an associate professor of business
administration in Lingnan (University) College, Sun Yat-Sen
University (FF 1L K228 7 (K 2)EFT) between 2003 and 2022.
Prof. Wu also served the role of the assistant to the dean, and the
director of the EMBA/MBA Centre concurrently between 2003
and 2022. Prof. Wu has been re-designated as an associate
professor of business administration in Sun Yat-Sen University (F
LI KE) in 2022, and ceased to be an associate professor of
business administration, assistant to the dean, and the director of
the EMBA/MBA Centre in Lingnan (University) College, Sun Yat-

Sen University thereafter.
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Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

Prof. Wu has over 10 years of experience in certain research areas,
such as smart interaction and consumer creativity. His research
primarily focuses on marketing management, customer
relationship management, brand positioning and relationship
marketing. Prof. Wu has published numerous papers as the

editor-in-chief thereof.

Prof. Wu obtained a Ph.D. degree in enterprise management
from the Economics and Management School of Wuhan
University ()2 K S48 7 % 22 2 Fz) in July 2003. He received his
master’s degree in economics and bachelor’s degree in business
administration from the same university in July 2000 and July 1997

respectively.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. GE Ping (E3%) ("Ms. Ge"), aged 46, is the chief financial
officer, Senior Vice President and joint company secretary of the
Company. Ms. Ge was a vice president of the Company since
November 2015 and she was promoted to Senior Vice President
in January 2023. Ms. Ge is currently responsible for overseeing
the Company’s Financial Department, Investor Relations
Department, Government and Securities Affairs Department and

the Board Secretary.

Before joining the Group in November 2015, Ms. Ge had worked
as a deputy general manager and served as a director in Zhujiang
Film & Media Corporation Limited (£ /L & 2 EE R HER A 7))
since June 2012. Between January 2008 and May 2012, Ms. Ge
had served as a vice general manager and the chief financial
officer at Yipinhong Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (— & 41 %% 2 f% {5
R~ a]).

Ms. Ge was accredited as a member of the Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in March 2004 and certified as an
intermediate accountant in May 2000. Ms. Ge received her
executive master’s degree in business administration from China
Europe International Business School (R EXEIER T 263) in
June 2013 and obtained her bachelor’'s degree in management in

June 2001 from Anhui University of Finance and Economics (% &
B K2
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
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Mr. ZHANG Deqi (FRZH) (“Mr. Zhang"), aged 58, is a Senior
Vice President of the Company. Mr. Zhang was a vice president of
the Company since January 2019 and he was promoted to Senior
Vice President in January 2023. Mr. Zhang is mainly responsible
for overseeing the Group’s marketing function, in particular the
sales segment, solution segments (particularly the Sales Cloud
segment) as well as relevant projects implementation segment

and client services segment.

Mr. Zhang had worked with Kingdee Software (China) Co., Ltd.
(EEEHH(FR)BRAAF) from May 2012 to February 2016.
Before joining the Group in January 2019, Mr. Zhang had served
as a vice president at The S.F. Express Company (I £ 3% i3 (% )
A BR A &) from March 2016 to December 2018.

Mr. Zhang received his master’s degree in graph database (&
ZIEE) from Shenyang Institute of Computing Technology,
Chinese Academy of Sciences (1 B %} £ Bz 28 b5 5+ & £ 47 #f 7T FT)
in April 1990.

Mr. LIU Hanwei (2]7& &) ("Mr. Liu"), aged 43, is a vice president
of the Company. Mr. Liu is mainly responsible for overseeing
nationwide sales of cPaaS, Marketing Cloud and Service Cloud

solutions.

Prior to joining our Group, he had served as the sales director for
the East China region in Guangzhou Youyi Network Technology
Co., Ltd. (BN ERAHERHXAMR AR from October 2010 to
November 2012; and a general manager, a general manager of
East China region and an assistant president in Shanghai Branch
of Xuan Wu (BM T ZRERBERNERAF LED QA
since December 2012.

Mr. Liu obtained his bachelor's degree in engineering (T £) from
Tongji University ([7 /% A £) in June 2001.
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Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

Mr. ZHU Yuan (%R ) (“Mr. Zhu"), aged 40, is a vice president of
the Company. Mr. Zhu is mainly responsible for overseeing the
Group’s TMT Products Business Department and DMP Products

Business Department.

Before joining our Company in November 2010, Mr. Zhu had
served as a sales manager and general manager assistant in
Xuanwu Information and Technology from July 2007 to October
2010. Mr. Zhu received his bachelor's degree in management
(& 2 £) from Sun Yat-Sen University (4 L] KX £8) in June 2008.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. CHAN Hei Man (B &%) (“Ms. Chan"), is the joint company
secretary of the Company and is a solicitor qualified to practice in
Hong Kong. Ms. Chan is currently an associate of Zhong Lun Law
Firm LLP, specialising in corporate finance work including initial
public offerings, mergers and acquisitions and private equity
investments. Ms. Chan received a Bachelor of Commerce degree
from the University of New South Wales, Australia in August 2012.
Ms. Chan graduated from the Chinese University of Hong Kong
with Juris Doctor in November 2014 and Postgraduate Certificate
in Laws in July 2015, respectively.

Ms. Ge Ping, is the joint company secretary of the Company. For
details of her biography, please refer to the paragraph headed

“Senior Management”.
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS
EEEWRE

The Board is pleased to present its report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the

Reporting Period.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 26 April
2021 as an exempted company with limited liability, and the
shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 8
July 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of CRM Paa$
services and CRM Saa$ services. The Group strives to, through
applying technologies such as Al, DI, cloud computing, mobile
internet, communication and loT, help its clients to achieve cost
reduction and efficiency enhancement from initial marketing to
sales and to after-sales management, provide its clients with
suggested solutions, and assist its clients to acquire new
customers, perform customer management and enhance the
connections among its clients and their customers. The analysis
of the Group's revenue and contribution to results by business
segments are set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial

statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022
are set out in the consolidated statements of comprehensive

income on pages 111 to 112 of this annual report.
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Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

BUSINESS REVIEW

Overview and Performance for the Reporting Period

A fair review of the business of the Group as required by
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”), including an
analysis of the Group's financial performance and an indication of
likely future developments in the Group's business is set out in
the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. These discussions
form part of this report. Events affecting the Company that have
occurred since the end of the Reporting Period is set out in the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis —

Significant Event After the Reporting Period” in this report.

Social Responsibilities, Environmental Policies and
Performance

The Group has taken environmental, social and governance ("ESG”)
risks and opportunities into consideration when formulating its
business strategies as it is fully aware of the importance in
enhancing environmental and social benefit in order to achieve
sustainable business operations. The Group has established a
four-tier ESG governance structure to carry out ESG management

during its daily operation.

The Group has established close relationship with government
and regulatory authorities, investors and shareholders,
employees, clients, suppliers and business partners and
community and charitable organisations through various
communication mechanisms to respond actively to the

expectations and requests from stakeholders.
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In 2022, the Group adheres to the idea of green development. By
continuously enhancing all aspects of green operation in
compliance with the Environmental Protection Law of the PRC,
the Group has reduced its emission with advanced technologies,
and reduced the impact on environment during daily business
operations with application of cutting-edge business model and
scientific operational thinking. Due to the nature of the Group's
business, the Group does not have obvious emission of pollutants
or consume significant energy during its daily operation, thus the
Group would not cause significant negative impact on the

environment and natural resources.

Further, the Group is committed to supporting social welfare and
In 2022, the Group

organised multiple social and charitable events to build a socialist

fulfil its social responsibilities actively.

harmonious society and delivered warmth and kindness to the

public.

For details of the Group’'s environmental policies and
performance, the compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations and the relations with its employees, suppliers and
customers, please refer to the section headed "Environmental,

Social and Governance Report” of this annual report.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

The Group has complied with the requirements under the
Companies Ordinance, the Listing Rules, the SFO and the CG
Code for, among other things, the disclosure of information and
corporate governance. For further details, please refer to the
section headed “Corporate Governance Report — Compliance
with the CG Code” in this annual report. The Group has also
complied with other relevant laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the operations of the Group.
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Key Risks and Uncertainties

KEEBMEBESLNBRERIBEREZ]— The Group's business involves certain risks as set out in the
ENFTai A TR - LA T/BBE Ml KA%E B section headed “Risk factors” in the Prospectus. The following list
frERNETTERBRETEFERZ  E  isasummary of certain principal risks and uncertainties facing the
RE S B AN S E A & E -

Group, some of which are beyond its control.
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The Group relies on major telecommunication network
operators for their provision of telecommunication
resources. If the Group fails to maintain its collaborations
with these telecommunication network operators or they
keep increasing their service fees level, the Group's
business, results of operations and financial condition will

be materially and adversely affected.

The Group’s future business growth and expansion is
dependent on the continued development of its services

and its target clients’ need for intelligent CRM services.

If the Group fails to keep up with rapid changes in Al, DI,
machine learning and other capabilities, its future success

may be adversely affected.

Regulatory, legislative or self-regulatory developments for
provision of intelligent CRM services, including privacy and
data protection regimes, are expansive, not clearly defined
and rapidly evolving. These laws and regulations could
create unexpected costs, subject the Group to enforcement
actions for compliance failures, or restrict portions of its
business or cause us to change our technology platform or

business model.

If the Group fails to perform our services in accordance with
contractual requirements, it could be subject to significant

costs or liability and our reputation could be harmed.

Any severe or prolonged slowdown in the global or the PRC
economy may adversely affect the Group's business, results

of operations and financial condition.
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e  Adverse changes in the economic, political and social
conditions, as well as changes in the policies of the PRC
government, could have a material adverse effect on the
Group's business, results of operations and financial

condition.

o Uncertainties with respect to the PRC legal system could
adversely affect the Group's business, results of operations

and financial condition.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Major Customers

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group's transaction
amounts to its five largest customers accounted for 39.0% (year
ended 31 December 2021: 34.2%) of the Group's total revenue
and the transaction amount of its single largest customer
accounted for 20.6% (year ended 31 December 2021: 16.5%) of

the Group's total revenue.

Major Suppliers

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the transaction amounts
of the Group's five largest suppliers accounted for 64.8% (year
ended 31 December 2021: 86.1%) of the Group's total purchases
and the transaction amount of its single largest supplier
accounted for 44.0% (year ended 31 December 2021: 70.3%) of

the Group's total purchases.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, none of the Directors or
any of their close associates or any Shareholders (which, to the
best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the total
number of issued Shares) had any interest in any of the Group's

five largest customers and suppliers.
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Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS
AND EMPLOYEES

Customers

The Group has built strong, long-standing relationships with its
major customers and established a strong customer base. The
Group is committed to protecting the interests of its customers
and end users and improving their experience. Good service is
one of the key competencies of the Group and it always strives to

reduce complaints.

During the Reporting Period, the Group attended industry
conferences to solicit new potential customers and maintain
relationships with existing customers. To further enhance the
business relationship with its customers, its operations and sales
teams also visit its customers on a regular basis to exchange
views and collect feedback with a view to providing better

services.

Suppliers

The Group has established stable business relationships with its
suppliers which is essential to the smooth operation of the
Group's business, as the Directors consider that timely delivery of
services and provision of assistance can enable the Group to
meet the schedules of its customers. The Group has also
maintained a list of approved suppliers which is periodically
reviewed and updated based on the internal assessment of their
performance, to ensure that all works performed by the suppliers

satisfy the requirements of the relevant contract.

Employees

The Group maintains a cooperative and good relationship with its
management and employees in providing competitive
remuneration, staff welfare and benefits. In general, the Group
reviews and determines the remuneration packages of its
employees on a periodical basis by reference to, among other
things, the market level of salaries paid by comparable
companies, the respective responsibilities of its employees and

the performance of the employees and the Group.
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During the Reporting Period, there was no labour dispute or
strike. The Board is of the view that the Group’s current

relationship with its employees is satisfactory.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Board is aware, for the year ended 31 December
2022, there was no material breach of or non-compliance with
applicable laws and regulations by the Group that has a

significant impact on the business and operations of the Group.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Company during the Reporting Period are set out in note 14

to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the Reporting Period are set out in note 22 to the consolidated

financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during the
Reporting Period are set out in note 23 to the consolidated
financial statements. As of 31 December 2022, the Company had
retained nil (2021: nil) profits as reserves available for distribution
to the Shareholders.

BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank borrowings of the Group as of 31 December
2022 are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial

statements.
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Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the past five financial years are set out in the section

headed “Financial Summary” of this annual report.

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Yonghui (€ 5k #£) (Chairman)
Mr. Huang Fangjie (& {5 )

Mr. Li Hairong (2= /& £8)

Mr. Guo Haiqgiu (/8 Ek)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Xu Xin (& fik)

Independent Non-executive Directors

(Hta )
Ms. Wu Ruifeng (& I &)
Prof. Wu Jintao (8 & /&)

Mr. Du Jianging

In accordance with Article 108 of the Articles of Association, at
every annual general meeting of the Company, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not three or a
multiple of three, then the number nearest to, but not less than,
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
A retiring Director shall retain office until the close of the meeting
at which he retires and shall be eligible for re-election thereat.
Accordingly, Mr. Guo Haigiu, Mr. Du Jianging and Ms. Wu
Ruifeng shall retire by rotation at the AGM and they being

eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Details of the Directors to be re-elected at the AGM are set out in

the circular to the Shareholders.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of

the Company are set out on pages 37 to 44 of this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE FROM
THE INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors a confirmation of his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company
considers all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent from the date of their appointments and up to the

date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS AND
LETTERS OF APPOINTMENTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company for an initial fixed term of three years
commencing from 11 August 2021 and will continue thereafter
until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by either party on the other, which notice shall not expire

until after the fixed term.

The non-executive Director has entered into a service contract
with the Company for an initial fixed term of three years
commencing from 11 August 2021 and will continue thereafter
until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by either party on the other, which notice shall not expire

until after the fixed term.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial fixed
term of three years commencing from the Listing Date and will
continue thereafter until terminated by not less than three
months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other,

which notice shall not expire until after the fixed term.
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Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has entered into,
or has proposed to enter into, a service contract with the Group
(other than contracts expiring or determinable by the employer
within one year without payment of compensation (other than

statutory compensation)).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this report, none of the Directors nor any
entity connected with the Directors had a material interest, either
directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract
of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a

party during the year ended 31 December 2022.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company

were entered into or existed during the Reporting Period.

REMUNERATION POLICY

A remuneration committee was set up for reviewing the Group's
remuneration policy and structure for all remuneration of the
Directors and senior management of the Group, having regard to
the Group's operating results, individual performance of the
Directors and senior management and comparable market

practices.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors, senior management
and the five highest paid individuals during the Reporting Period
are set out in note 8 and note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements. No amount was paid to any Director or any of the five
highest paid individual disclosed in note 8 to the consolidated
financial statements as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Company or as a compensation for loss of office. In addition,
there was no arrangement under which a Director waived or

agreed to waive any remuneration.
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Remuneration paid to the senior management of the Group in
2022 by band was as follows:

Number of staff

BT AR
A R #900,0007T 2 A E # 1,000,000 7T RMB900,000-RMB 1,000,000 1
A E#800,0007T £ A K #900,0007T  RMB800,000-RMB200,000 1
AR #600,0007T % A K #700,0007C RMB600,000-RMB700,000 1
AR #500,0007T 2 A K #600,0007C  RMB500,000-RMB600,000 1

IR K48 A5 &

AEERBETERAUNEEZRABRERE RS
[Ff— & RRAEF T & - M2022412 A
318 MR IKAE FIGH Bl FF IR B AR & B 75
KM 8L aE32

EBEHBE

BR202F12R18  AARNEZTERER
BN I BE & PR 6 AR 10 22 ) 51 &1 o 72022
F12A318 KRR BERIE IR D 2B T
gl e B & I AR 0 52/ -

BRI M BT 8 (7202212 A1
HAEB)WFBOT :

(a) ZRHIRGEBTEZRE

XERBIRD B EEREELHE
ERHEESARAMAEEEDZNK
T AR BREZFALTAAEEN
N BEFREEKERB FOEI
REAMBAEEE-TERENRS
BAT  UHBEE2REREES
B E R ARRQ AW A &E & KIEAR A
EE-

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

The Group operates a “five social insurance and one housing
fund” retirement benefit scheme in accordance with the rules and
regulations in the PRC for its employees, particulars of which as at
31 December 2022 are set out in note 8 and note 32 to the

consolidated financial statements.

EMPLOYEE INCENTIVE SCHEMES

On 1 December 2022, the Company adopted and approved the
Restricted Share Award Scheme by resolutions of the Board. As
at 31 December 2022, no share awards were granted to the
employees by the Company pursuant to the Share Award

Scheme.

Details of the Restricted Share Award Scheme (which became

effective on 1 December 2022) are set out as follows:

(a) Purposes of the Restricted Share Award Scheme

The purposes of the Restricted Share Award Scheme are to
provide the Selected Participants with an opportunity to
acquire a proprietary interest in the Company, to encourage
and retain such individuals to work with the Group, to
provide additional incentives for them to achieve
performance goals, to attract suitable personnel for further
development of the Group, and to motivate the Selected
Participants to maximise the value of the Company for the

benefits of both the Selected Participants and the Company.
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(b) Duration of the Restricted Share Award Scheme

(c)

The Restricted Share Award Scheme shall remain valid and
effective for a period of ten years from 1 December 2022 (the
"Scheme Period”) and can be terminated or extended by a
resolution of the Board at any time prior to the expiry of the

Scheme Period.

Participants of the Restricted Share Award
Scheme and Basis for Determining the Eligibility
of the Selected Participants

Subject to the rules governing the Restricted Share Award
Scheme, the Administration Committee may, from time to
time in its sole and absolute discretion, select any
Participant to be a Selected Participant and make a Grant to
such Selected Participant on and subject to any terms and

conditions that the Administration Committee may impose.

In determining the Selected Participants (excluding any
Excluded Employee), the number of Award Shares to be
granted, the vesting conditions, the purchase price (if any)
to be paid by the Selected Participants (the “Purchase
Price"”) for each Award Share, the manner of payment of the
Purchase Price and the other terms and conditions of the
Grants, the Administration Committee shall take into

consideration any matter which it considers relevant.
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Limitations

No Shares shall be issued or purchased pursuant to the
Restricted Share Award Scheme if as a result of such issue
and purchase, the number of Shares administered under the
Restricted Share Award Scheme shall reaches 10% or more
of the issued share capital of the Company on 1 December
2022 or such other limit as determined by the Administration
Committee in its sole and absolute discretion provided

always that it is in compliance with the Listing Rules.

Subject to compliance with the requirements under the
Listing Rules, the maximum number of Award Shares which
may be granted to a Selected Participant at any one time or
in aggregate may not exceed 1% of the issued share capital

of the Company on 1 December 2022.

For the avoidance of doubt, the Restricted Share Award
Scheme was contemplated and adopted to be funded
solely by the existing Shares. The Award Shares to be
granted under the Scheme will not be satisfied by issuing
new Shares under the available general mandate but will be
satisfied by making purchases on the Stock Exchange.
Should the circumstances, where the Restricted Share
Award Scheme will be funded by issue of new Shares or any
other sources, arise in the future, the Company will seek
approval by its Shareholders in compliance with the

applicable Listing Rules requirements.

Vesting Period

Any Award Share granted to a Selected Participant pursuant
to the rules of the Restricted Share Award Scheme shall vest
in such Selected Participant in accordance with the vesting
conditions as set out in the grant letter issued by the

Administrative Committee.
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EERBESTHAERER® - 48 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
AR REEIZITNEZR XA  INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

M2022F12A31MH KRR ESE K& ETT As at 31 December 2022, the interests of the Directors and the
BAERARNG REMRBELAE(FERLE chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares
EREEETI EXVE) M IR®D - HE M ©H  and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations
LERED BACREBEESELBASEKM  within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO, as notified to the
EXVEIETIRFESNDHLRHERAT LB  Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
MES(BREBEEALRPSEEHNEBIE of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
N EBEEFRBABBEENERLARE) 8L which he/she was taken or deemed to have taken under such
B AREBEZSNMHEKDE3521478F  provisions of the SFO), as recorded in the register required to be
BENSEMANES KD BIBEEEST  kept under section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
AlHEg R e RERXMEOERAT : Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code

were as follows:

EE 1T
Fir ¥ R 4 BB
EEHR B REEMHE B4 & E BMABE D

Approximate
percentage of

Number of the total number

Name of Director(s) Capacity/Nature of interests Shares held of issued Shares
BRokEEE ((REE]) REEBEEDZL -BTHALEZOHO 298,932,230 53.35%
Mr. Chen Yonghui Interest in a controlled corporation and interest of

("Mr. Chen") party acting in concert” &
BEHREE(TERE]) XBEEERDR-BITHALTEROH 298,932,230 53.35%
Mr. Huang Fangjie Interest in a controlled corporation and interest of

(“Mr. Huang”) party acting in concert® &
FHRAE(FRE]) REZERSER -HITHALHEROHC 298,932,230 53.35%
Mr. Li Hairong Interest in a controlled corporation and interest of

("Mr. Li") party acting in concert®&®
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Notes:

m

@

Mr. Chen beneficially owns (1) 100% of the issued share capital of
Zhenghao Global Holding Limited (“Zhenghao Global”) and (2)
more than one third of the interest in Guangzhou Xuandong
Investment Co., Ltd. (Limited Partnership) (“Guangzhou
Xuandong”). Further, Mr. Chen is the sole general partner of each
of Guangzhou Xuannan Investment Co., Ltd. (Limited Partnership)
("Guangzhou Xuannan”), Guangzhou Xuanxi Investment Co., Ltd.
(Limited Partnership) ("Guangzhou Xuanxi”) and Guangzhou
Xuanbei Investment Co., Ltd. (Limited Partnership) (“Guangzhou
Xuanbei”). By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chen is deemed to be
interested in 100,968,000 Shares, 31,500,000 Shares, 13,500,000
Shares, 18,000,000 Shares and 13,500,000 Shares held by Zhenghao
Global, Guangzhou Xuandong, Guangzhou Xuannan, Guangzhou
Xuanxi and Guangzhou Xuanbei, representing 18.02%, 5.62%, 2.41%,
3.21% and 2.41% of the entire issued share capital of the Company

as at the date of this annual report, respectively.

Mr. Huang beneficially owns 100% of the issued share capital of
Honghan Worldwide Limited (“Honghan Worldwide"). By virtue of
the SFO, Mr. Huang is deemed to be interested in 66,311,770
Shares held by Honghan Worldwide representing 11.83% of the
entire issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this

annual report.

Mr. Li beneficially owns 100% of the issued share capital of Double
Winner Worldwide Limited (“Double Winner”). By virtue of the
SFO, Mr. Li is deemed to be interested in 55,152,460 Shares held
by Double Winner representing 9.84% of the entire issued share

capital of the Company as at the date of this annual report.

Mr. Chen, Mr. Huang and Mr. Li have been acting in concert with

each other.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the

Directors or the chief executive of the Company had any interests
or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were required: (a) to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which he/she was taken or deemed to have taken
under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to therein; or (c)
pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time
during the Reporting Period was the Company or its consolidated
affiliate entities a party to any arrangement that would enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in
or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate, and
none of the Directors or their spouses or children under the age
of 18 were granted any right to subscribe for the share capital or
debt securities of the Company or any other body corporate, or

had exercised any such right.
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TEREAARATRD REEBER  SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
HHHEZRARE AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

20229128310 stEE R AR A HES  As at 31 December 2022, so far as the Directors or the chief
THABRE  UTEBE AL (WIEESE executive of the Company are aware of, the following
SARNBESITHABR)RAKRMBEEI corporation/person (not being a Director or the chief executive of
DHEEREZESRBAEEMEXVESE2 the Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares or
REIDHAMENABATHENEZ S AXAE ©  underlying Shares, which would fall to be disclosed under the
SRR ARNABIEFSEREEEDIFE  provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which
BIFATHEFHELMAOERSAE :  were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO:

HE BT
Fir 5 R 4 A
BRREB ME B EEME 4 & E OB D

Approximate
percentage of
Number of the total number

Name of Shareholder(s) Capacity/Nature of interests Shares held of issued Shares
EVEIRIR EmEAA 100,968,000 18.02%
Zhenghao Global Beneficial owner

FEBRIR ExmBEAA 66,311,770 11.83%
Honghan Worldwide Beneficial owner

R IRIR BEXEAA 55,152,460 9.84%
Double Winner Beneficial owner

RESEIZRER A BESEAA 89,101,170 15.90%
Baoya Group Holdings Limited Beneficial owner

RAPNFREE REXEERE 89,101,170 15.90%
Mr. Song Xiaohu Interest in a controlled corporation®

MEE L R AEERY 56,908,600 10.16%
Mr. Xie Lejun Interest in a controlled corporation®

BMZR EmEAA 31,500,000 5.62%
Guangzhou Xuandong Beneficial owner

BNzt REEEEEREC 31,500,000 5.62%
Ms. Ge Ping Interest in a controlled corporation®
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HE T

Fir #% fR 17 48 B
BRREE HE B EEME REE BMHOBTL
Approximate
percentage of
Number of the total number
Name of Shareholder(s) Capacity/Nature of interests Shares held of issued Shares
LBEREE -HEEREES EHSBAA 30,647,000 5.47%
BREX(ERAER)
Shanghai Fosun Weishi Phase | Beneficial owner
Equity Investment Fund
(Limited Partnership)
LtBEEEEREEEARAR R EEERY 30,647,000 5.47%
Shanghai Fosun Weishi Investment Interest in a controlled corporation®
Management Co., Ltd.
FPHEEAEREEERN REEEERY 30,647,000 5.47%
AR A
Shanghai Fosun Capital Investment Interest in a controlled corporation®
Management Co., Ltd.
LBEEERRAERRAT XA EERY 30,647,000 5.47%
Shanghai Fosun Industrial Investment  Interest in a controlled corporation®
Co., Ltd.
tHBEERMZ(RE)ERAF REXEERE 30,647,000 5.47%
Shanghai Fosun High Technology Interest in a controlled corporation”
(Group) Co., Ltd.
BEBRRARAR REAEER 30,647,000 5.47%
Fosun International Limited Interest in a controlled corporation®
BEEEBRARAF RELEERE" 30,647,000 5.47%
Fosun Holdings Limited Interest in a controlled corporation®
EEBERZERERRAA XA EERD 30,647,000 5.47%
Fosun International Holdings Ltd. Interest in a controlled corporation™
HES R EE R 30,647,000 5.47%
Guo Guangchang Interest in a controlled corporation”

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited
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4.54% o
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RIEEFREERDERBREMNZEE
FF#931,500,000 [ D R HEB = - IAAF
¥ B B (L N2 )5.62% ©
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30,647,000 I P B = - RAF R A
BB AR R F)5.47% °
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Notes:

m

Mr. Song Xiaohu beneficially owns 100% of the issued share capital
of Baoya Group Holdings Limited. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Song
Xiaohu is deemed to be interested in 89,101,170 Shares held by
Baoya Group Holdings Limited representing 15.90% of the entire
issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this annual

report.

Mr. Xie Lejun beneficially owns 48.71% of the interest in Guangzhou
Xuandong. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Xie Lejun is deemed to be
interested in 31,500,000 Shares held by Guangzhou Xuandong
representing 5.62% of the entire issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this annual report. Further, Mr. Xie Lejun
beneficially owns 100% of the issued share capital of East Pride
Industrial Limited (“East Pride"), which holds 25,408,600 Shares. In
accordance with SFO, Mr. Xie Lejun is deemed to be interested in
all the Shares held by East Pride representing 4.54% of the entire
issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this annual

report.

Ms. Ge Ping, being the sole general partner of Guangzhou
Xuandong, is deemed to be interested in 31,500,000 Shares held
by Guangzhou Xuandong under the SFO, which representing 5.62%

of the Company as at the date of this annual report.

Shanghai Fosun Weishi Investment Management Co., Ltd. ("Fosun
Weishi Investment”), being the sole general partner of Shanghai
Fosun Weishi Phase | Equity Investment Fund (Limited Partnership)
("Shanghai Fosun”), is deemed to be interested in 30,647,000
Shares held by Shanghai Fosun under the SFO, which representing
5.47% of the Company as at the date of this annual report.

Shanghai Fosun Capital Investment Management Co., Ltd. (“Fosun
Capital”) beneficially owns more than one third of the issued share
capital of Fosun Weishi Investment. By virtue of the SFO, Fosun
Capital is deemed to be interested in 30,647,000 Shares held by
Shanghai Fosun, which representing 5.47% of the Company as at

the date of this annual report.
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Shanghai Fosun Industrial Investment Co., Ltd. (“Fosun Industrial”)
beneficially owns more than one third of the issued share capital of
Fosun Capital. By virtue of the SFO, Fosun Industrial is deemed to
be interested in 30,647,000 Shares held by Shanghai Fosun, which
representing 5.47% of the Company as at the date of this annual
report.

Shanghai Fosun High Technology (Group) Co., Ltd. (“Fosun High
Technology”) beneficially owns more than one third of the issued
share capital of Fosun Industrial. By virtue of the SFO, Fosun High
Technology is deemed to be interested in 30,647,000 Shares held
by Shanghai Fosun, which representing 5.47% of the Company as

at the date of this annual report.

Fosun International Limited (“FIL") beneficially owns more than one
third of the issued share capital of Fosun High Technology. By
virtue of the SFO, FIL is deemed to be interested in 30,647,000
Shares held by Shanghai Fosun, which representing 5.47% of the

Company as at the date of this annual report.

Fosun Holdings Limited (“FHL") beneficially owns more than one
third of the issued share capital of FIL. By virtue of the SFO, FHL is
deemed to be interested in 30,647,000 Shares held by Shanghai
Fosun, which representing 5.47% of the Company as at the date of

this annual report.

Fosun International Holdings Ltd. (“FIH") beneficially owns more
than one third of the issued share capital of FHL. By virtue of the
SFO, FIH is deemed to be interested in 30,647,000 Shares held by
Shanghai Fosun, which representing 5.47% of the Company as at

the date of this annual report.

Mr. Guo Guangchang beneficially owns more than one third of the
issued share capital of FIH. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Guo
Guangchang is deemed to be interested in 30,647,000 Shares held
by Shanghai Fosun, which representing 5.47% of the Company as

at the date of this annual report.
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Save as disclosed above, so far as the Directors or the chief
executive of the Company are aware of, as at 31 December 2022,
no corporation/person (not being a Director or the chief executive
of the Company) had any interests or short position in the Shares
or underlying Shares, which would be required to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which was recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands that would
oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to

the existing Shareholders.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or their
which

compete or are likely to compete either directly or indirectly, with

respective associates had any interests in business,

the business of the Group.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the

Company'’s securities.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The following transactions of the Group constituted continuing
connected transactions for the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Background to the Contractual Arrangements

The businesses which the Group currently operate, i.e.
provision of CRM Paa$S services and CRM Saa$ services, are
subject to foreign investment restrictions under the current
PRC laws and regulations. The provision of CRM Paa$
services and CRM Saa$S services falls within the scope of
value-added telecommunication services which are subject
to holding of valid SP Licence, and therefore, subject to

foreign investment restriction.

Due to regulatory restrictions on foreign ownership in the
PRC, the Group conduct its business operations indirectly in
the PRC through the Consolidated Affiliated Entities while
complying with applicable PRC laws and regulations. For
details of the Contractual Arrangements, please refer to the
paragraph headed “Summary of the Contractual
Arrangements”. Through the Contractual Arrangements,
the Company exercise effective control over the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities. The Contractual
Arrangements enable the Company to (i) receive the
economic benefits generated by the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities; (i) exercise effective control over the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities; and (iii) hold an irrevocable and exclusive
right to require (1) each of the Registered Shareholders to
transfer any or all their equity interests in Guangzhou Xuan
Wu, (2) Guangzhou Xuan Wu to transfer any or all of the
assets it held, (3) Guangzhou Xuan Wu to transfer any or all
their equity interests in any of its subsidiaries and/or (4) any
of the subsidiaries of Guangzhou Xuan Wu to transfer any or
all of the assets it held, to Xuantao and/or a third party
designated by it, at any time and from time to time, at the

lowest purchase price that is permitted by the PRC laws.

The revenue contribution of all of the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities to the Group amounted to approximately
100% of the total revenue of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2022. As at 31 December 2022, the total
assets of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities in aggregate
represent approximately 100% of the total assets of the

Group.
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Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements and
Actions Taken to Mitigate the Risks

The Group believes the following risks are associated with
the Contractual Arrangements. Further details of these risks

are set out on pages 66 to 70 of the Prospectus.

o If the PRC government finds that the agreements that
establish the structure for operating the Group's
operations in the PRC do not comply with applicable
PRC regulations, or if these regulations or the
interpretation of existing regulations change in the
future, the Group could be subject to severe
consequences, including the nullification of the
contractual arrangements and being forced to

relinquish our interests in those operations.

e  The Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective
in providing operational control as direct ownership.
Any failure by any Consolidated Affiliated Entity or its
shareholders to perform the obligations under the
Contractual Arrangements would have a material
adverse effect on the Group's business, results of

operations and financial condition.

e  The shareholders of the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities may have actual or potential conflicts of
interest with the Group, which may materially and
adversely affect the Group’s business, results of

operations and financial condition.

e  Substantial uncertainties exist with respect to the
interpretation and implementation of the Foreign
Investment Law and the Implementation Rules and
how they may impact the viability of the Group's
current corporate structure, corporate governance and

business operations.

e  The Contractual Arrangements may be subject to
scrutiny by the PRC tax authorities and they may
determine that the Company or the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities owe additional taxes, which could
materially and adversely affect our business, results of

operations and financial condition.
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° If the Group exercises the option to acquire equity
ownership and assets of the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities, the ownership or asset transfer may subject

the Group to certain limitations and substantial costs.

The Company’s management works closely with its external
legal counsels and advisers to monitor the regulatory
environment and developments in PRC laws and regulations
to mitigate the risks associated with the Contractual

Arrangements.

The Group has adopted measures to ensure the effective
operation of the Group’s businesses with the
implementation of the Contractual Arrangements and its
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements, including,

among others:

() major issues arising from the implementation and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements or any
regulatory enquiries from government authorities will
be submitted to our Board, if necessary, for review and

discussion as and when they arise;

(i)  the Board will review the overall performance of and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements at least

once a year;

(i) the Company will disclose the overall performance and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements in the

annual reports;

(iv) the Company will engage external legal advisers or
other professional advisers, if necessary, to assist the
Board to review the implementation of the Contractual
Arrangements, review the legal compliance of the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities to deal with specific
issues or matters arising from the Contractual

Arrangements; and

(v) the independent non-executive Directors will review
the compliance of the Contractual Arrangements on
an annual basis and their confirmation will be disclosed

in the Company's annual report.

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited ZREFHIZERBRA
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Listing Rules Implications and Waivers

The transactions contemplated under the Contractual
Arrangements constitute continuing connected transactions
for the Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. The Company has applied to the Stock Exchange for,
and the Stock Exchange has granted, a waiver from (i) strict
compliance with the announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules in respect of the transactions under the
Contractual Arrangements; (i) setting a maximum aggregate
annual value, i.e. an annual cap, for the transactions under
the Contractual Arrangements; and (iii) limiting the term of
the Contractual Arrangements to three years or less, for so
long as the Shares are listed on the Stock Exchange subject
to certain conditions. For details, please refer to the section

“Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus.

PRC Laws and Regulations

Pursuant to the Foreign Investment Negative List, provision
of value-added telecommunication services falls within the
“restricted” category. As such, the shareholding percentage
of a foreign investor in companies engaged in value-added
telecommunication services shall not exceed 50% (the

“Foreign Ownership Restrictions”).

According to the Regulations on the Administration of
Short Message Service (#1525 B R7% & H 4R E), those
who operate SMS shall obtain the telecommunication
business licence according to the PRC laws. In particular,
Article 6 of the Regulations on the Administration of
Short Message Service provides that an operator of
basic telecommunication business shall not, without
telecommunication business licence, provide network or
access service for sending SMS to any institution or
individual. Accordingly, for access to the network maintained
by telecommunication network operators for sending SMS,
each of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities must obtain and
has obtained the SP Licence.
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Qualification Requirements

On 11 December 2001, the State Council promulgated the
Administrative Provisions on the Administration of Foreign
Invested Telecommunications Enterprises (the “2016
Regulations”), which was last amended on 6 February 2016.
According to the 2016 Regulations, foreign investors are not
allowed to hold more than 50% of the equity interests in a
company providing value-added telecommunications
services. Article 10 of the Administrative Provisions on the
Administration of Foreign-funded Telecommunication
Enterprises SMEHREERFELEEIEMRE) (the "FITE
Regulations”) further provides that a major foreign investor
which invests in a value-added telecommunication business
in the PRC must possess prior experience in, and a proven
track record of good performance of, operating value-
added telecommunication businesses overseas (the
“Qualification Requirements”). Foreign investors that meet
these requirements must obtain approvals from the Ministry
of Industry and Information Technology of the PRC (% A
RAMB TEMERB/LE) (the "MIT") which retain

discretion in granting such approvals.

The MIIT issued the Guidance Memorandum (9 1% & &2
LEEEBEMRBEIERE). According to this Guidance
Memorandum, a foreign investor applicant is required to
provide the proof of the satisfaction of the Qualification
Requirements. The Guidance Memorandum, however, does
not provide any further guidance on the proof, record or
document required to support the proof satisfying the
Qualification Requirements.

On 29 March 2022, the State Council promulgated the
Decision of the State Council on Revising or Abolishing
Some Administrative Regulations (the “2022 Decision”)
that took effect from 1 May 2022 made certain significant
changes to the 2016 Regulations. The 2022 Decision repeals
the Qualification Requirements. As such, the restrictions of
Qualification Requirements no longer apply to foreign
investors, and foreign investors may be allowed to hold no
more than 50% of the equity interests of a company
providing value-added telecommunications services.
However, as at the date of this annual report, no applicable
PRC laws, regulations or rules have provided clear guidance
or interpretation about the 2022 Decision. It remains
uncertain as to the interpretation and enforcement of the
2022 Decision in practice and relevant regulations by
government authorities.
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Summary of the Contractual Arrangements

During the Reporting Period, the Group has set up a new
operating subsidiary, Guangzhou Xuankrypton Technology
Co., Ltd* (BMmZERHAERALA]) ("Guangzhou
Xuankrypton”), which principally engages in the provision
of intelligent CRM services, which falls within the “restricted”
category as stipulated under the Foreign Investment
Negative List. As such, a series of Contractual Arrangements
were entered into among Guangzhou Xuankrypton, Xuantao
and Guangzhou Xuan Wu on 19 August 2022, of which the
terms and conditions are substantially the same as the
existing Contractual Arrangements. The Contractual

Arrangements in place for the Reporting Period were:

o Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements. Under
the exclusive business cooperation agreements (the
"Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements”)
dated 10 August 2021, 29 December 2021 and 19
August 2022 entered into among Xuantao, Guangzhou
Xuan Wu and its subsidiaries and the Registered
Shareholders, in exchange for an annual service fee,
Xuan Wu and its subsidiaries agreed to engage
Xuantao as their exclusive provider of technical

support, consultation and other services.

e  Exclusive Option Agreements. Under the exclusive
option agreements (the “Exclusive Option
Agreements”) dated 10 August 2021, 29 December 2021
and 19 August 2022 among Xuantao, Guangzhou Xuan
Wu and its subsidiaries and the Registered Shareholders,
Guangzhou Xuan Wu and its subsidiaries and the
Registered Shareholders agreed to grant Xuantao an
irrevocable and exclusive right to require, without
additional conditions, (i) each of the Registered
Shareholders to transfer any or all their equity interests in
Guangzhou Xuan Wu; (i) Guangzhou Xuan Wu to transfer
any or all of the assets it held; (iii) Guangzhou Xuan Wu to
transfer any or all their equity interests in any of its
subsidiaries and/or (iv) any of the subsidiaries of
Guangzhou Xuan Wu to transfer any or all of the assets it
held, to Xuantao and/or a third party designated by it, at
any time and from time to time, at the lowest purchase

price that is permitted by the PRC laws.
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Equity Pledge Agreements. Under the equity pledge
agreements (the “Equity Pledge Agreements”) dated
10 August 2021, 29 December 2021 and 19 August
2022 entered into among Xuantao, Guangzhou Xuan
Wu and its subsidiaries and the Registered
Shareholders, Guangzhou Xuan Wu and the Registered
Shareholders agreed to pledge all their respective
equity interests in Guangzhou Xuan Wu and its
subsidiaries that they own, including any dividend or
other benefits arising therefrom, to Xuantao as charge
to guarantee the performance of contractual
obligations under the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreements, the Exclusive Option Agreements and

the Proxy Agreements (as defined below).

Proxy Agreements and Powers of Attorney.
Guangzhou Xuan Wu and the Registered Shareholders
had entered into the proxy agreements (the “Proxy
Agreements”) and executed the powers of attorney (the
“Powers of Attorney”) on 10 August 2021, 29
December 2021 and 19 August 2022, respectively.
Under the Proxy Agreements, Guangzhou Xuan Wu
and the Registered Shareholders appointed Xuantao
and/or any person designated by Xuantao as their
proxy to manage their equity interest in Guangzhou
Xuan Wu and/or its subsidiaries and exercise all
shareholder’s rights in Guangzhou Xuan Wu and/or its
subsidiaries on behalf of the Registered Shareholders
and/or Guangzhou Xuan Wu.

ZHREREERER AR



BRBRREAE SECREDHE
REFBEF)OWEREBS(WER)
WTEREETEERZEMZR
REFREMERCGEREFH
ER EmEzR) SEEMNZRD
AEEEEMTE: (\VEERAB
MTWEHW - BITAEN
WE BHIE EOHERGE BEX
BERMERABREIEREMNZ
B AR R 1T E R A Bt S
AR HRZERRVLENTH
NREBREBAIEESR  BX
EERSR BREBERER K
REREZEERREEZTEE
BT MmEMAAN - EE A
EBAN - FEA BREA KB
FEMEEREMNZEORES
REENEBRERN S E M AL
EEABERTETIEAERMTR
A ITE) (4B BEITE) Al g
FEIDRSELDRERHE
MZRBITERBREBEIES
A -BRXEEESR REBSR
ER BRERAEZTERRE
BEXEBTHNEMD -

BRAZE STLRENESB
(WER)EEBEES A
OB ETREREMNZRA
e GEREREMEMER)T
BHEAMESHEN  R(i)HER
ZEERELTRENEBEBETE
HzERaRHEMEAR-

REPORT OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEE8RE (R

Undertakings from the Registered Shareholders.
Each of the Registered Shareholders has confirmed to
the effect that among other things, (i) his spouse (where
applicable) does not own and does not have the right
to claim any interests in the equity interest of
Guangzhou Xuan Wu (together with any other interests
therein) or exert influence on the day-to-day
management by Guangzhou Xuan Wu, (i) where
applicable, in the event of his/their death, incapacity,
bankruptcy, divorce, insolvency, liquidation or any
other event which causes his/their inability to exercise
his/their rights as a shareholder of Guangzhou Xuan
Wu, he/they will take actions deemed necessary by
Xuantao to safeguard the performance of the Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreements, the Exclusive
Option Agreements, the Equity Pledge Agreements,
the Proxy Agreements and the Powers of Attorney,
and his/their successors, guardians, managers,
liquidators, creditors, spouse or any other person that
has a claim on his/their equity interest in Guangzhou
Xuan Wu or related rights will not, under any
circumstance and in any way, take any action, when
such action may affect or hinder the respective
Registered Shareholder and/or Guangzhou Xuan Wu
in performing their obligations under the Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreements, the Exclusive
Option Agreements, the Equity Pledge Agreements,

the Proxy Agreements and the Powers of Attorney.

Spouse Undertakings. The spouse of each of the
Registered Shareholders, where applicable, has signed
undertakings to the effect that (i) the respective
individual Registered Shareholder’s interests in
Guangzhou Xuan Wu (together with any other interests
therein) do not fall within the scope of communal
properties, and (i) she has no right to such interests of
the respective Registered Shareholder and will not

have any claim on such interests.
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For details of the major terms of the Contractual
Arrangements, please refer to the section headed

“Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus.

Apart from the above, there were no other new Contractual
Arrangements entered into, renewed or reproduced during
the year ended 31 December 2022. Save as disclosed above
or in the Prospectus, there was no material change in the
Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances under
which they were adopted for the year ended 31 December
2022.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, none of the
Contractual Arrangements had been terminated as none of
the restrictions that led to the adoption of the contracts

under the Contractual Arrangements has been removed.

Confirmation from Independent Non-executive Directors
The Company's independent non-executive Directors have

reviewed the Contractual Arrangements and confirmed that:

() the transactions carried out during the year have been
entered into in accordance with the relevant provisions
of the Contractual Arrangements to the effect that the
revenue generated by the Consolidated Affiliated

Entities has been substantially retained by Xuantao;

(i)  no dividends or other distributions have been made
by the Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the holders
of its equity interests which are not otherwise
subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group

during the Reporting Period;

(i) no new contracts were entered into, renewed or
reproduced between the Group and the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities during the year other than the ones

disclosed above;
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(iv) the Contractual Arrangements have been entered into
in the ordinary and usual course of business of the

Group;

(v)  the Contractual Arrangements have been entered into

on normal commercial terms or better; and

(vi) the Contractual Arrangements have been entered into
in accordance with the relevant agreement governing
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a

whole.

Reporting from the Company’s Independent Auditors
The auditor of the Company has carried out procedures in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants on the transactions carried out pursuant
to the Contractual Arrangements and has confirmed in
a letter to the Board, with respect to Contractual

Arrangements and the transactions contemplated therein:

() nothing has come to their attention that causes them
to believe that the disclosed continuing connected

transactions have not been approved by the Board;

(i) nothing has come to their attention that causes them
to believe that the transactions have not been entered
into, in all material respects, in accordance with the

relevant agreements governing such transactions; and

(iiiy  nothing has come to their attention that causes them
to believe that dividends or other distributions have
been made by our Consolidated Affiliated Entities to
the holders of its equity interests which are not
otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to our

Group.
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Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

Details of related party transactions in the normal course of
business are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements. During the Reporting Period, save as disclosed
in this annual report, there were no other connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions which are
required to be disclosed by the Company in accordance
with the provisions concerning the disclosure of connected

transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS” in this report and note 31 (Related party
disclosures) to the financial statements, no contract of significance
had been entered into between the Company or any of its
subsidiaries and the controlling shareholder (as defined in the
Listing Rules) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries and no
contract of significance for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries by the controlling shareholder

of the Company or any of its subsidiaries was entered into.

DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, there were no charitable or other

donations made by the Group.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

During the Reporting Period, the Company was not involved in
any material legal proceeding or arbitration. To the best
knowledge of the Directors, there is no material legal proceeding

or claim which is pending or threatened against the Company.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Company shall
indemnify out of the assets of the Company, any Director,
Auditor, Secretary, and other officers for the time being of the
Company acting in relation to any of the affairs of the Company
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
incurred and sustained in execution of their duty. The Company
has purchased appropriate liability insurance for Directors and

senior staff members since the Listing Date.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has discussed with the senior management
of the Company and the external auditor of the Company and
has reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group as well as the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high level of corporate
governance practices. Details of the corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company are set out in the Corporate

Governance Report on pages 79 to 100 of this annual report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and to the best knowledge of the Directors, at least
25% (being the minimum public float prescribed by the Stock
Exchange and the Listing Rules) of the Company’s entire issued
share capital were held by the public at any time since the Listing

Date and up to the date of this annual report.
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AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers is appointed as auditor of the Company
for the year 31 ended December 2022. PricewaterhouseCoopers
has audited the accompanying financial statements which were

prepared in accordance with HKFRS.

PricewaterhouseCoopers is subject to retirement and, being
eligible, offers itself for re-appointment at the AGM. A resolution
for re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditor of the

Company will be proposed at the AGM.

By order of the Board
Chen Yonghui
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 28 March 2023
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The Board is pleased to present this corporate governance report
for the purpose of inclusion in the Company’s annual report for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CG CODE

The Company is committed to maintaining and implementing
strict corporate governance. The principles of the Company’s
corporate governance are to promote effective internal control
measures, uphold a high standard of ethics, transparency,
responsibility and integrity in all aspects of its business, to ensure
compliance with applicable laws and regulations in its business
and operations, and to enhance transparency and the
accountability of the Board to all Shareholders. The Company's
corporate governance code is based on the principles and code
provisions prescribed in the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14
to the Listing Rules. The Board is of the view that for the year
ended 31 December 2022, the Company has complied with the
all of the code provisions as set out in the CG Code, with the
exception of deviations from code provision C.2.1 of the CG

Code as explained in this Corporate Governance Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is collectively responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions set out in code provision A.2.1 of Part 2 of

the CG Code, including at least the following:

— to develop and review the Company'’s policies and practices

on corporate governance;

— to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior

management;

—  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices

on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
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Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

— to formulate, review and monitor the Company's code of
conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to

employees and Directors; and

—  to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and

disclosure made in this Corporate Governance Report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the Group's code
of conduct for directors in securities transactions. After making
specific inquiries of all Directors, all Directors have confirmed that
they have strictly complied with the Model Code for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

THE BOARD

Responsibility

The Board is responsible for leading and controlling the Company
and overseeing the Group’s business, strategy making and
performance, and is collectively responsible for facilitating the

success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads
and provides direction to the management by laying down
strategies and overseeing their implementation, monitors the
Group's operational and financial performance, and ensures that
internal control is sound and risk management systems are in
place. The Board has delegated responsibilities to the Board
committees, which have been set out in their respective terms of

reference.
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Delegation of Management Functions

The major powers and function of the Board include, but not
limited to, convening general meetings, reporting its work at
general meetings, implementing resolutions adopted at general
meetings, considering and approving operating and investment
plans of the Company, formulating the Company's strategic
development plans, formulating annual financial budgets and
final accounts, formulating profit distribution plans and plans on
making up losses, and exercising other power and functions as

conferred by the Articles of Association.

The Board regularly reviews the contribution required from a
Director to perform his/her responsibilities to the Company, and
whether the Director is spending sufficient time performing them.
All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of
the Company and advice from the company secretary and the
senior management of the Company, and may, where
appropriate, request to seek independent professional advice at
the Company's expenses for discharging their duties to the

Company.

The Board is responsible for making decisions on strategic plans,
major investment decisions and other significant operational
issues of the Company, while responsibilities for implementing
decisions of the Board, day-to-day management, administration
and operation of the Company are delegated to the senior
management. The Board will review the delegated functions and
tasks regularly. The management has to obtain the Board

approval prior to entering into any significant transaction.
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Structure of the Board

As at the date of this annual report, the Board consists of eight
Directors, including four executive Directors, one non-executive
Director and three independent non-executive Directors. The list

of the Board members and their positions is set out below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Yonghui B>k #%) (Chairman)
Mr. Huang Fangjie (&1 )

Mr. Li Hairong (Z/548)

Mr. Guo Haigiu (ZB/&Ek)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Xu Xin (& k)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Du Jianging (I 83)
Ms. Wu Ruifeng (R im &)
Prof. Wu Jintao (88 7%)

Biographical details of each Director are set out on pages 37 to

42 of this annual report.

All Directors, including non-executive Directors, have brought a
wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and
professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning. All Directors have carried out duties in good faith
and in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and have
always acted in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders.

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationship) between the Board members

of the Company.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1 of Part 2 of the CG Code stipulates that the
roles of chairman of the Board and chief executive officer should
be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.
The roles of chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) and chief
executive officer of the Company are held by Mr. Chen Yonghui
("Mr. Chen"). In view of Mr. Chen'’s experience, personal profile
and his roles in the Company, the Board considers it beneficial to
the management and business development of the Group and
will provide a strong and consistent leadership to the Group that
Mr. Chen acts as the Chairman and continues to act as the chief

executive officer of the Company.

While this will constitute a deviation from code provision C.2.1 of
the CG Code, the Board believes that this structure will not impair
the balance of power and authority between the Board and the
management of the Company, given that: (i) decision to be made
by the Board requires approval by at least a majority of the
Directors; (i) Mr. Chen and the other Directors are aware of and
undertake to fulfill their fiduciary duties as Directors, which
require, among other things, that he acts for the benefit and in
the best interests of the Company and will make decisions for the
Company accordingly; and (iii) the balance of power and authority
is ensured by the operations of the Board which comprises
experienced and high caliber individuals who meet regularly to

discuss issues affecting operations of the Company.

The Chairman provides leadership to the Board by ensuring the
Board works effectively and discharges its responsibilities in time,
and all key and appropriate issues are discussed by it in a timely
manner. The Chairman himself, or a Director or a company
secretary delegated by him, is responsible for determining and
approving the agenda for each Board meeting. The Chairman
ensures that good corporate governance practices and
procedures are established. The Chairman encourages all
Directors to make a full and active contribution to the Board's
affairs and take the lead to ensure that it acts in the best interests
of the Company. The Chairman ensures that Directors receive, in
a timely manner, adequate information which must be accurate,

clear, complete and reliable. The Chairman ensures appropriate
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Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

steps are taken to provide effective communication with
Shareholders and that their views are communicated to the Board
as a whole. The Chairman promotes the effective contribution of
Directors (in particular non-executive Directors) to the Board and
ensures constructive relations between executive and non-

executive Directors.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board has been complying with the requirements of Rules
3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive Directors with at
least one independent non-executive Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. In addition, under Rule 3.10A of
the Listing Rules, independent non-executive Directors shall

represent at least one-third of the Board.

The Company has three independent non-executive Directors
during the Reporting Period, accounting for over one-third of the
Board members; therefore, the Company has complied with the

relevant regulations.

Independent non-executive Directors have confirmed their
independence during the Reporting Period to the Company in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on the
confirmation of independent non-executive Directors, the
Company considers that they are independent during the
Reporting Period.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Code provision B.2.2 of Part 2 of the CG Code states that every
director, including those appointed for a specific term, shall be

subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
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The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of Directors are contained in the Articles of Association.
Each of the Directors, Mr. Chen Yonghui, Mr. Huang Fangjie, Mr.
Li Hairong, Mr. Guo Haigiu and Mr. Xu Xin, have signed service
contracts with the Company. Each of the Directors have been
appointed for a term of three years from 11 August 2021. The

service contract may be terminated in accordance with its terms.

Each of the non-executive Directors and the independent non-
executive Directors have signed the letters of appointment with
the Company. The terms and conditions of respective letters of
appointment are similar in all material aspects. Each of the non-
executive Directors and the independent non-executive Directors
have been appointed for a term of three years from the Listing
Date. The letter of appointment may be terminated in accordance

with its terms.

According to Article 111 of the Articles of Association, the Board
shall have power from time to time and at any time to appoint
any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an
addition to the Board. Any Director so appointed shall hold office
only until the next following general meeting of the Company

and shall then be eligible for re-election at that meeting.

According to Article 108 of the Articles of Association, at every
annual general meeting of the Company, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not three or a
multiple of three, then the number nearest to, but not less than,
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
Any Director required to stand for re-election pursuant to the
Articles of Association shall be not considered in determining the
number of Directors and which Directors are to retire by rotation.
A retiring Director shall retain office until the close of the meeting
at which he retires and shall be eligible for re-election thereat. At
any annual general meeting at which any Director retires, the
Company may fill the vacated office by electing a like number of

persons to be Directors.
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BOARD MEETING AND GENERAL MEETING

The attendance record of each Director at the Board meeting
and General meeting of the Company held during the period
from the Listing Date to 31 December 2022 is set out in the table

below:
g g g g g
EExge ERZEE ¥VHMZzEe REZEE BRRAE
ERRH ERRH EEDSE ERRH RE

Attendance/ Attendance/ Attendance/

Attendance/ Number of Number of  Number of Attendance/
Number of Audit Remuneration Nomination Number of
Board Committee Committee = Committee General
EENH Name of Director Meetings  Meeting(s) Meeting(s) Meeting(s) Meeting(s)
PR oK 98 % 4 Mr. Chen Yonghui 22 N/AT@EA NATEA NATER NATER
E R E Mr. Huang Fangjie 22 N/ATEA NATER NATREAR N/ATEA
FHELEE Mr. Li Hairong 2/2  N/ATER N/A TR N/ADNEE  N/ARNES
BFIRAEE Mr. Guo Haigiu 2/2  N/ATER 1/ N/ATEA  NATEA
RIREE Mr. Xu Xin 2/2 N/ATER NATER NATESR NATNES
T8l E k& Mr. Du Jianging 2/2 171 NAT@ER NATER NATER
RipE &+ Ms. Wu Ruifeng 2/2 1/1 171 NARER NATEA
SBEBHE Prof. Wu Jintao 2/2 11 171 N/ATEA  N/ATEA
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Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director will be provided with necessary
introduction and information to ensure that he/she has a proper
understanding of the Company'’s operation and business as well
as his/her responsibilities under relevant statues, laws, rules and
regulations. The Company also arranges regular seminars to
provide Directors with updates on latest development and
changes in the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and

regulatory requirements from time to time.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The company secretary of the Company has
from time to time updated and provided written training materials

relating to the roles, functions and duties of Directors.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company provided
Directors with the training and reading materials on the Model
Code and on the Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information
under Part XIVA of the SFO.

The personal training records received by the Directors during

the year ended 31 December 2022 are summarised as follows:

HESHZ M

MEzHae/

B9 E A8 B A R

Attending or participating

in relevant seminars/

EEHnE Director Name Reading relevant materials
HITEE - Executive Directors:

PR ok 1 5 4 Mr. Chen Yonghui Yes 2
mITAE R E Mr. Huang Fangjie Yes 2
FEESLE Mr. Li Hairong Yes 52
SEFERL A Mr. Guo Haigiu Yes &
FHITEF - Non-executive Director:

RIR kA& Mr. Xu Xin Yes 52
BIIFHTEFE - Independent Non-executive Directors:

rElEEE Mr. Du Jianging Yes 2
RimE 2+ Ms. Wu Ruifeng Yes 52
S B Prof. Wu Jintao Yes &

EEEUE

Bzt ((E8L&L]) R2021F6H28H &
TR AEEEeWE - BERTEEAEEN
TERR EEEEEE REMSE-

ARREBEERIE

BOARD SECRETARY

and investor relations of the Group.

Annual Report 2022

Ms. Ge Ping ("Ms. Ge") was appointed as the Board secretary on
28 June 2021. Ms. Ge is responsible for corporate development,

overseeing business development, the investment and financing,
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BOARD COMMITTEES

As at the date of this annual report, the Board has established
three Board committees, namely, the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee, for
overseeing particular aspects of the Company'’s affairs. The Board
committees have sufficient resources to execute their requisite
duties. All the Board committees should report to the Board on

their decisions or recommendations made.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The terms of
reference of the Audit Committee are available on the websites

of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are to, among others, (i)
review and monitor the Company'’s financial statements, annual
reports and ESG reports; (ii) review the Company's financial
control systems; (iii) evaluate and determine ESG-related risks
and opportunities; and (iv) review the Group’s financial,

accounting and ESG policies and practices.

The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Ms. Wu Ruifeng (Chairman), Mr. Du
Jianging and Prof. Wu Jintao (with Ms. Wu Ruifeng possessing
the appropriate professional qualifications and accounting and
related financial management expertise). None of the members
of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the Company'’s

current external auditor.

As the Company'’s shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on 8
July 2022, the Company held only one meeting of the Audit
Committee during the year ended 31 December 2022 to review
and discuss the draft of audited consolidated financial
statements, of the interim results announcement and of the
interim report of the Group for the six months ended 30 June

2022 and, if appropriate, make recommendations to the Board.
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The Audit Committee held a meeting on 28 March 2023, at which
the Audit Committee reviewed the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, internal
control, risk management and financial reporting matters,
including the review of the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2022. The Audit Committee is of the opinion that the preparation
of the relevant financial statements has complied with the
applicable accounting standards and requirements and that

adequate disclosure has been made.

There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit

Committee regarding the re-appointment of the external auditor.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has set up a Remuneration Committee with written
terms of reference in accordance with the CG Code. The written
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The main duties of the Remuneration Committee include (i)
making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy
and structure for all Directors’ and senior management’s
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy ; (ii)
reviewing and approving the management’'s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board's corporate goals and
objectives; and (iii) making recommendations to the Board on the

remuneration packages of Directors and senior management.

The Remuneration Committee comprises three members,
including two independent non-executive Directors and one
executive Director, namely Prof. Wu Jintao (Chairman), Ms. Wu

Ruifeng and Mr. Guo Haiqiu.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee held
one meeting on 17 November 2022 to review and discuss on the
terms, form and substance of the proposed Restricted Share
Award Scheme and approved the proposed Restricted Share
Award Scheme to be recommended to the Board for adoption.
One meeting of the Remuneration Committee was held on 28
March 2023 to review the remuneration of Directors and to make

recommendations to the Board.
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Nomination Committee

The Company has set up a Nomination Committee with written
terms of reference in accordance with the CG Code. The written
terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available on

the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include (i)
reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least once a year and
making recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company's corporate strategy and for
succession planning purposes; (i) formulating and review policies
for the selection and nomination of Directors; (iii) identifying and
advising the Board on the selection and nomination of individuals
suitably qualified to become Directors; (iv) assessing the
independence of independent non-executive Directors; and (v)
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for

Directors (in particular the chairman and chief executive).

The Nomination Committee comprises three members, including
one executive Director and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Chen Yonghui (Chairman), Mr. Du Jianging
and Prof. Wu Jintao.

As the Company'’s shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on 8
July 2022, the Nomination Committee did not hold any meeting
during the year ended 31 December 2022. One meeting of the
Nomination Committee was held on 28 March 2023 to review the
composition of the Board and the independence of independent

non-executive Directors.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) in order to enhance the effectiveness of our
Board and to maintain high standard of corporate governance.
The Board Diversity Policy sets out the criteria in selecting
candidates to our Board, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The ultimate
decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected

candidates will bring to our Board.

Our Directors have a balanced mix of experiences, including
information and technology, business management, legal,
accounting and academic fields. Our Board currently consists of
one female Director and seven male Directors with a balanced
mix of knowledge and skills, including but not limited to overall
management and strategic development, finance and accounting
and risk management. The Directors are of the view that our

Board satisfies the Board Diversity Policy.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the
diversity of the Board. After Listing, the Nomination Committee
will monitor and evaluate the implementation of the Board
Diversity Policy from time to time to ensure its continued
effectiveness. At present, the Nomination Committee considered
that the Board is sufficiently diverse and the Board has not set

any measurable objective.

DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for
selection and appointment of Directors to the Nomination
Committee. The Company has the Director Nomination Policy
which sets out the selection criteria and process and the Board
succession planning considerations in relation to nomination and
appointment of Directors and aims to ensure that the Board has a
balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives to
enhance decision-making capability and the overall effectiveness
of the Board.
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The Director Nomination Policy sets out the factors for assessing
the suitability and the potential contribution to the Board of a

proposed candidate, including but not limited to the following:

e  business experience and board expertise and skills;

e  integrity and reputation;

e commitment in respect of available time and relevant

interest; and

e diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of

service.

The Director Nomination Policy also sets out the procedures for
the selection and appointment of new Directors and re-election
of Directors at general meetings of the Company. During the year
ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this report, there

was no change in the composition of the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Director Nomination
Policy, from time to time and as appropriate, to ensure its

effectiveness.

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited ZRERFEIERAR AR
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the "Dividend
Policy”) in accordance with the CG Code, which outlines the
factors that should be taken into account in determining any
dividend for distribution to the Shareholders. According to the
Dividend Policy, in considering the declaration and payment of
dividends, the Board shall take into account the following factors

of the Group:

° general financial conditions;

o liquidity, capital and debt level;

° cash flow situation;

e  future cash requirements and availability for business
operations, business strategies and future development
needs;

4 any statutory and regulatory restrictions;

o any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be

imposed by the Group's lenders;

° general market conditions; and

o any other factors that the Board considers appropriate.

The payment of dividend is also subject to compliance with
applicable laws and regulations including the laws of the Cayman
Islands and the Articles of Association. The Board will continually
review the Dividend Policy from time to time and there can be no
assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for

any given period.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2022 which give a true and fair view of the affairs of
the Company and the Group and of the Group's results and cash

flows.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation
and information as necessary to enable the Board to carry out an
informed assessment of the Company’'s financial statements,

which are put to the Board for approval.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt

upon the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the auditor regarding its reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of the
Company is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report on
pages 101 to 110 of the Report.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
LIABILITY INSURANCE

The Company has insurance coverage for all Directors and
members of senior management to minimize the risks they may
incur in the normal course of performing their duties. The Board

reviews the relevant insurance coverage annually.

ZHREREERER AR



S BB 2 B K % BB BN &

AARMINBIZBAMB R KB E A E
BRZREBASMEH NI EREME
TR BE202F12A31BILFE  BER
KIEGETREBMIRMAN T RIEFR
BEN/ BEBANERAREBE(TTREMRA
X)RINWMAT :

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERRE (K

EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND AUDITOR
REMUNERATION

An analysis of the fees for the services of the Company'’s external
auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, is set out in note 7 to the
financial statements. The total fees paid/payable for audit and
non-audit services provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers,
excluding disbursements in lieu of expenses, for the year ended
31 December 2022 are set out in the table below:

BN ENER

(AR®)

Fees paid/payable

Fri2 R 7% Services Provided (RMB)
2 BLED B & Auditors’ remuneration 2,300,000

BEBOKESAEEHAGERLERR
HEREG UBEABMESLFE REX
AN E MEAT - &5 BRI R AZ BEAD
B 98 37 1 S5 e e

PricewaterhouseCoopers shall be invited to attend the AGM to
answer questions about the audit, the preparation and content of
the auditor’'s report, accounting policies and auditor

independence.
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Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board considers that appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems are an important
safeguard for the achievement of the Company’s strategic
objectives, and confirms its responsibility for the review of the
Group's risk management and internal control systems as a going
concern and reviews their effectiveness annually. The Audit
Committee assists the Board in leading the management and
monitoring and overseeing the risk management and internal
control systems through the internal audit department, and
reporting and making recommendations to the Board where
appropriate. The Board, supported by the Audit Committee and
management, reviewed the management reports and the interna
audit reports. For the Reporting Period, the Board considered
that the risk management and internal control systems of the
Company are effective and adequate. The management shall be
responsible for implementing the Board's risk management and
internal control policies and procedures, designing, implementing
and monitoring the risk management and internal control
systems, and confirming the effectiveness of such systems to the
Board.
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Good risk management and internal control systems are designed
to manage, not eliminate, risks that may prevent the Company
from achieving its business objectives and can only provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss. To this end, appropriate policies and
procedures have been established and implemented to ensure
that key risks that could affect the Company’s performance are
properly identified and managed, that the Company’s assets are
not used or disposed of without permission, that financial and
accounting information is accurately recorded and maintained in
accordance with relevant accounting standards and regulatory
reporting requirements, and that all operations comply with

relevant rules and regulations.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Ge Ping (“Ms. Ge") is the joint company secretary of the
Company and is responsible for advising the Board on corporate
governance matters and ensuring that Board policy and
procedures, and applicable laws, rules and regulations are

followed.

In order to uphold good corporate governance and ensure
compliance with the Listing Rules and applicable Hong Kong
laws, the Company also engages Ms. Chan Hei Man (“"Ms.
Chan"), a solicitor qualified to practice in Hong Kong, to assist
Ms. Ge to discharge her duties as company secretary of the

Company. Ms. Ge is her primary contact person in the Company.

During the Reporting Period, Ms. Ge and Ms. Chan have
undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training

in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONSHIP

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding of the Group’s business, performance and
strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance of
timely and non-selective disclosure of information on the
Company for the Shareholders and investors to make informed

investment decisions.

The annual general meetings of the Company provide
opportunity for Shareholders to communicate directly with the
Directors. The chairman of the Company and the chairmen of the
Board committees will attend the annual general meetings to
answer the Shareholders’ questions. The auditor will also attend
the annual general meetings to answer questions about the
conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s

report, the accounting policies and auditor’s independence.

To promote effective communication and to build an inter-
relationship and communication channel between the Company
and the Shareholders, the Company adopts a shareholders'
communication policy and maintains a website at cloud.wxchina.
com, where the up-to-date information on the Company’s
business operations and developments, financial information,
corporate governance practices and other information are

available for public access.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard the Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution will be proposed for each issue at general meetings,

including the election of individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted on
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll results will be
posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange

in a timely manner after each general meeting.
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CONVENING AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETING AND PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Board may, whenever
it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting. General
meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition of any
two or more members deposited at the principal office of the
Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to
have such a principal office, the registered office specifying the
objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided
that such requisitionists held as of the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company. General meetings may also be convened on the
written requisition of any one member which is a recognized
clearing house (or its nominee(s)) deposited at the principal office
of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company
ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office
specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionist, provided that such requisitionist held as of the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company. If the Board does not within
21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly
to convene the meeting to be held within a further 21 days, the
requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them representing more
than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may
convene the general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as
possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the
Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held
after the expiration of three months from the date of deposit of
the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be

reimbursed to them by the Company.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the

procedures are available on the website of the Company.
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MEEERHES

ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

BREINMAmESSEEBEBALTAZE  Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about the
HAAARARA(MRNEREEMNTE Company to the Board may send their enquiries to the
KEEMNEIBFERFAER KNEIELZE) headquarters of the Company at Room 904, 9/F, Dongsheng

BHhEH-

ERNHHNER

Yunding Building, 38 Haizhou Road, Haizhu District, Guangzhou,
Guangdong.

AMENDMENTS TO CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

KA Az MBIR2022F6 A15H EHEH & The Company's Articles were adopted on 15 June 2022 and were
N ETBHEER RN AR T 490 k#t  effective on the Listing Date, which is available on the Company's
TR ER o B Fat # BN B 2022 website and the Stock Exchange’'s website. Save for the
FIR2ANBILFE ARATESERES - aforementioned changes, there was no significant change in the

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

Articles during the year ended 31 December 2022.
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To the Shareholders of Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings
Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Xuan Wu Cloud
Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on pages 111 to

224, comprise:

e  the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2022;

e  the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for

the year then ended;

e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then

ended; and

. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include significant accounting policies and other explanatory

information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Annual Report 2022 —ZF = —F %3

101



102

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

B 2B RS ()

BEREE

BMRREESTMASRMNE LT
HR((ERBAENDETEXZTHE R
P S E TAENETEEARSERZ
BENA B AR AW B RRAENEET 5
RIEE— SR -

BMBEE RAMESNETRES
BEMREMANBERRHEE -

ETE &

B

REFBGTMASNEXS MBS
SSAN(TFRD  BABYLRY EKE-
ERETAERTRMANEMBEREL

=%
—

BAREFSER
FAREAFAFTHEHERBRMANEZHE R
RUARGEEMBHRRNBTRREEN
EH - REFTHREESENEBREAY
BRELELABARETREN - BED
THZSTHEHRERNER

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated

Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in

accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.
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Key Audit Matter

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
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Key audit matter identified in our audit is related to assessment

of the expected credit losses (“ECL") of trade receivables.

BEENBEANMNEEFARETER
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

EZRUREHAMEEBRENTMG

Assessment of the ECL of trade receivables

B2 E B HRERM E31.2 BT aEd@) RHFE19 -
Refer to Note 3.1.2, Notes 4(a) and Note 19 to the

consolidated financial statements.

EXBBESRKFBEBRLEARAA
R 306,349,0007T © #9315 BEHRBBEEMNN4L5% -
R2022F12A31H - EEBEERE 5 EKE IEE’JTE
HEEEBEBELME XM N202F12A310 25

2 [ WK IR (F i B 1R B 4 A R %5 21,367,0007T

As at 31 December 2022, the gross amount of the
Group's trade receivables amounted to RMB306,349,000

which represented approximately 45% of the total assets

MN2022FE12 8318 -

of the Group. Management has estimated the ECL on
the trade receivables, and a loss allowance of
approximately RMB21,367,000 was made against the

trade receivables as at 31 December 2022.

EEENESRUFEDREEME KE RS ITE
ToM - BEfEHEA R EERBEEBETERA
M ABER BEEEREBEEETHR VKN RE
SEEANEARTEENE M2 BEEEEEEA
WE 1 & ) R A

The Group's trade receivables were grouped based on
their nature and risk characteristics. Management
estimated the ECL on trade receivables based on
estimation about risk of default and expected credit loss
rates. Management applied judgements in making the
estimation and selecting the inputs used in the ECL
calculation, based on credit ratings, financial capability
and historical default rate as well as forward looking
information, such as industrial value-added, M2,

Consumer Price Index.

EEHUARESTFRETHNEFAT
We have performed the following procedures to

address this key audit matter:

s THEEEBHEZEWHHFMEMRE - RME
ERBETTHm UTHEHCEESFERE
NETREHEEREERRBOBERERM
fhat

e  Obtained an understanding of management's
assessment process over ECL of trade receivables.
We discussed with management to understand the
ECL model, key assumptions and estimates as they

adopted for determining the ECL rates;

e TH FHLHMEZATHEBOBREEL 8
REEBYUEZRNEREHRERABERETH
M E S EBERRRERNEZ

° Understood, evaluated and validated the key
controls, on sample basis, in place over

management’s assessment on the ECL and ageing

analysis review of trade receivables;
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

B R BT TR YR R T A B R B
EERR AN ABRELEE W aRESER
SER AR ER G R RGT RS ROEA R
st - .

We considered this area as a key audit matter due to

the magnitude of the balance of trade receivables as
well as the significant judgements and estimates
involved in the estimation of the related ECL given the
complexity of the methodology and subjectivity of

significant assumptions used. ©

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited ZRERHEIERERA

RRAZRMATHEEMNEENEEERESH
MEEMAERBEEZNKY FETEFRE
WHRIBEEREEERFEEARERNONERR ;
Assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement
of ECL of trade receivables by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty and level of other
inherent risk factors, such as complexity and

subjectivity;

BREE - FERFNRPEEBRELRFE
BEHRANERBREEETLE  UFHER
B HiEFm B RIE

Evaluated the outcome of prior year assessment of
provision for ECL of trade receivables by
comparing the ECL as estimated in the prior year
against the actual collection performance of the
debtors in the current year to assess the

effectiveness of management'’s estimation process;

BARMUAEEEBRE BEFERIARK
MBEINT B URELXNRENHESLE
WE ZREFDENEEERERE RFEE
EEHRHEEERNMGE

Challenged and evaluated management’s
estimation on the ECL by considering the
appropriateness of customer grouping based on
our understanding on the Group’s business
process, credit ratings and financial capability of
the customers against the public available
information, and the historical default rate against

the historical payment records;
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EENEITTNMUEEBRREENSE
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

e Z2REMOTEANBRBHEEEMERELH
BIYERPABEROBET  FETERE
EHERREEERTRANEMMNARAREZE
KERZNAIENR:

o Evaluated the reasonableness of the current and
forward looking macroeconomic factors as
adopted by management in the ECL assessment
by reference to our industry knowledge and
relevant authoritative macroeconomic data, and

assistance from our internal experts;

e BBAWMEBREMBEEXMH AXTEEER
FE 5 e TR IR BR e 0 AT B SETE N

e  Tested, on a sample basis, the accuracy of ageing
analysis of trade receivables prepared by
management to the related supporting

documents;

e BRETEIRUNREEHEEEBRBETED
B EREN &

e  Checked the mathematical accuracy of the ECL
calculation for the loss allowance on trade

receivables; and

e HRETESRUFEEHREEHETGRED
FEAME -
*  Assessedthe adequacy of the disclosures related to

assessment of the ECL on trade receivables.

REEXRE EERREEBHEZRNENER
HA(E & B 18 10 # B N (5119 X P B e B 18 X FT A
TTHIRR Fr P ST FF o

Based on the above, we considered that the significant
judgements and estimates made by management in
relation to the assessment of the ECL of trade
receivables were supportable by the evidence obtained

and procedures performed.
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Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report

thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to

be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,

whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's

financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor's report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these

consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
B 2B S ()

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,

or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's

internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the

Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
B 2B S ()

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events

in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain

solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to

outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Annual Report 2022 —ZF = —F %3

109



110

HARBYZEMBENETEEAEA The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
=S xR o independent auditor’s report is Au Chi Ho.

I \|
T

b

BEORKEBESMERAR PricewaterhouseCoopers
#EZ AT Certified Public Accountants
B - 20233 A28H Hong Kong, 28 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

SEzEHRER

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (k& % & 5B 4] -

FrESBBANAARESITR)

BZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

2022 F 20214
2022 2021
et AR%®Tx AR®T T
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
W 2= Revenue 1,043,378 991,941
H & KR Cost of sales (817,731) (759,549)
E Gross profit 225,647 232,392
HE D HEMAX Selling and distribution expenses 7 (111,317) (91,024)
THHEX Administrative expenses 7 (76,361) (68,515)
HERX Research and development expenses 7 (82,724) (66,126)
L REERMEEIEFE Netimpairment losses on financial assets 3.1.2 (7,346) (5,370)
H U A Other income 9 13,918 12,557
H o fas — 5 5R Other gains — net 10 4,831 393
K (EE) FHE Operating (loss)/profit (33,352) 14,307
B & WA Finance income 1" 1,150 750
LR i Finance costs 1 (4,100) (2,577)
BB KA —F 58 Finance costs — net 11 (2,950) (1,827)
BRAT BB AT (B518), (Loss)/profit before income tax
F 58 (36,302) 12,480
Frisfii R Income tax credit 12 1,334 2,871
FRER) FER (Loss)/profit and total comprehensive (loss)/
2 (E5E) WFHEE income for the year (34,968) 15,351
Annual Report 2022 =% — —FF3f
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONTINUED)

mEERERE R (H)

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) & £ 2022412 A31 8 [t F &

BZ12A31BHLEE

Year ended 31 December

2022 F 20214
2022 2021
M AR®TRT ARBTRT
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
BiEER(EE) FHE (Loss)/profit and total comprehensive (loss)/
kz2mE(EA) ki income for the year is attributable to:
#E
Y N/NEIE =N — Owners of the Company (35,676) 14,513
—FEVE IR R 2 — Non-controlling interests 708 838
(34,968) 15,351
SR (E5E) BF (LLE (Losses)/earnings per share (expressed in
BRARSIR) RMB per share)
_FEREARE#E — Basic and diluted (losses)/earnings
(EB18), B H per share 13 (0.066) 0.028

N ERGEATEUWAREERBENANHN T The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income

—prBIE - should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited ZRERFEIERAR AR



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Ra AR R R

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (fx B A f5BA4N - FrA © BB UAAREH]IR)

R12A31H
As at 31 December
2022 % 20214F
2022 2021
B 5 ARET AR T T
Note RMB'000 RMB'000
BE Assets
ERBEE Non-current assets
ME - BE MKE Property, plant and equipment 14 7,771 8,374
FREEE Right-of-use assets 15 24,707 31,953
mEE Intangible assets 16 12,722 14,113
EIERT ST & E Deferred income tax assets 27 9,767 8,464
T FRIE Prepayments 19 248 336
55,215 63,240
REBEE Current assets
4 B /B #4952 Contract fulfilment costs 18 10,317 5,587
EREE Contract assets 6 345 95
BARETAEZERN Financial assets at fair value through
SREE profit or loss — 21,476
B o EWIE  FEUWE  Trade, bill and other receivables and
15 K H fh pE W R IR K prepayments
GANE/SE 19 444,213 369,312
R H IR & Restricted cash 20 3,589 1
HERREZEEY Cash and cash equivalents 21 160,972 88,256
619,436 484,727
BmEE Total assets 674,651 547,967
xS Equity
AATHEEAELER Equity attributable to owners of
the Company
fi& 7 Share capital 22 360 34
&0 E Share premium 22 439,569 269,292
Hh 7 Other reserves 23 (19,676) (19,894)
IREE & A Retained earnings 75 35,969
420,328 285,401
FEERER Non-controlling interests 2,461 1,753
48 FE 25 Total equity 422,789 287,154
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

e MBRR R (E)

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (B B B 364N - A &Y AARE S| R)

R12A31H8
As at 31 December
2022 F 2021 4
2022 2021
WeE AR®TR AR T T
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
=i Liabilities
ERBAE Non-current liabilities
HEBE Lease liabilities 26 18,165 24,236
BIEFMEH AR Deferred income tax liabilities 27 — 32
18,165 24,268
nEEE Current liabilities
= Borrowings 24 88,481 58,480
SRAE Contract liabilities 6 31,086 31,924
B ENMNZKIE  ENZE  Trade, bill and other payables
B X E b & 5T 5008 25 104,088 138,375
HERE Lease liabilities 26 9,918 7,644
BVERFR ST B 1B Current income tax liabilities 124 122
233,697 236,545
BEEAE Total liabilities 251,862 260,813
EEREBEHAE Total equity and liabilities 674,651 547,967

NERGEETBEMRRAREERBEWNAME The above consolidated statement of financial position should be

—GFBIRE -

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

FIMEEF2UENGATHBRRELES  The consolidated financial statements on pages 111 to 224 were
2023 F3 A28 HtL & WA N AL  approved by the board of directors on 28 March 2023 and were

=BT

signed on its behalf:

Mr. Chen Yonghui Mr. Huang Fangjie
PR K M8 & EHEGEE
Director Director
EF EF

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited ZRERIIZEIRAR AT



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERBER

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (k& % & 5B 4] -

FrESBBANAARESITR)

ANAEEAER
Attributable to owners of the Company
A ROEE HttEE KRERAN B FERES BRER
Non-
Share Share Other  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium reserves  earnings Total interests equity
ARETT ARETE AR®TR ARETT ARETT ARETT AR%TR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(Fs22)  (ftaE22)  (Me&k23)
(Note 22) (Note 22) (Note 23)
R2021F181H Balance at 1 January
4 2021 — — 245,769 25,085 270,854 915 271,169
2E MK Comprehensive income
ERNHE Profit for the year = = = 14,513 14,513 838 15,351
BANFAEEALN  Transactions with
X5 owners of the
Company
REVAEHE Appropriation of statutory
reserves — — 3,629 (3,629) — — —
AN AHEA ANELT  Issue of ordinary shares to
LaR the owners of the
Company 34 — — — 34 — 34
BHETK Completion of the
Reorganisation — 269,292 (269,292 — — — —
RA2021%128318 Balance at 31 December
g 2021 34 269,292 (19,894) 35,969 285,401 1,753 287,154
R2022%151H Balance at 1 January
ek 2022 34 269,292 (19,894) 35,969 285,401 1,753 287,154
2E (B8 /W E Comprehensive (loss)/
income
FER(BR)/FIE  (Lossiprofit for the year — — —  (35676)  (35,676) 708 (34,968)
BAATBEEAN  Transactions with
X5 owners of the
Company
RIVETE Appropriation of statutory
reserves — — 218 (218) — — —
HENEITHRA  Issue of shares in
R ET connection with the
capitalisation issue 303 (303) - — — — —
BANA EMAME Issue of shares in
W10 217 connection with the
Company's listing 23 183,457 — — 183,480 — 183,480
IR 2 317 B AN Share issurance costs - (12,877) - - (12,877) - (12,877)
M2022F12A31H Balance at 31 December
g3 2022 360 439,569 (19,676) 75 420,328 2,461 422,789

Y

A ERER G &S

— GBI -

FHREERBEHAMGE The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should

be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Annual Report 2022

T FFR

115



116

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
mEBREMRER

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (Bx B 54N - FT B @ BB UARED]IR)

BZ12831BLEE

Year ended 31 December

20224 2022 F
2022 2021
s AR%®Tx ARE®T T
Note RMB’'000 RMB’000
RETHrBIHEARE Cash flows from operating activities
KLEFTAR S Cash used in operations 29(a) (144,367) (18,110)
2 U F B Interest received 1,150 750
B PT 17 %R Income tax paid (24) 99)
e SEHFrABE € FE Net cash used in operating activities (143,241) (17,459)
REZHFBHREME Cash flows from investing activities
HEEYE WENMZRME Purchase of property, plant and equipment (1,842) (6,153)
EEETEE Purchase of intangible assets (462) (803)
W B IR N f Bt A8 Acquisition of financial assets at fair value
HNEmEE through profit or loss (251,437) (163,500)
HERA LB AEZ  Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at
NEmMEEMRGSHIE fair value through profit or loss 274,206 173,433
BRETEFIBEELFEERE Netcash generated from investing activities 20,465 2,977
METEFIBEELME Cash flows from financing activities
Bt 5 B Advances from related parties 29(b) — 125
82 AN 7 ;I8 Repayment to related parties 29(b) — (130)
HEMFZHAE KT B Principal elements and interest elements of
f‘|3 lease payments 29(b) (6,773) (10,775)
& A PT 1S B Proceeds from borrowings 29(b) 128,920 88,258
& ﬁ1 B Repayments of borrowings 29(b) (98,917) (69,240)
ERE T E Interest paid for borrowings 29(b) (2,722) (1,993)
VNN W i} Ffr BFRIE Proceeds from the Company’s listing 22 183,480 —
24 EmHAX Listing expenses paid (12,060) (584)
BMEFHFBREFEE Net cash generated from financing activities 191,928 5,661
HERBEESEEY Net increase/(decrease) in cash and
®mCRD) 38 cash equivalents 69,152 (8,821)
BHeMREZEEYH Exchange gains on cash and cash equivalent
SINEE U &5 3,564 —
FHRE RIESEEY Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
the year 88,256 97,077
FRIBENIEEZEEY Cash and cash equivalents at the end of
the year 160,972 88,256

U EFHGEABESREREERBENHANMNZE  The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in

—HfBIE

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BY 75 SRR M R

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (fx B A f5BA4N - FrA © BB UAAREH]IR)

—REH

ZREMEEBRAER2A(ARAA])
R2021F4 26 B RIZFR 2 8 & X DI
E22F R EEN9TFEIFIEN - &
mEaRkE ) ERSHESRTMA LR
BEHREBRAR - A alwEfMfifts
= 1 3F A 4% Floor, Harbour Place, 103
South Church Street, P.O. Box 10240,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1002, Cayman

Islands °

ARB/—HKEREEBR AR - XD A
REMBAR (GBI ASEDEER
REARKME(HE]DEERES
EEFPHBAEERE(CRM)) R - A1
) HY % 4% 122 BB R A BRI 5 A (TBR
FaED wHRELET(TEXREDRF
BREETZRED(HERKR]
BHEDAI MBI —BITB A WE - A
RAHREER AR R EERRER
BRAR ZERRARRAILEA
BRRBERAR - =K A A9 Al HRE
E mEERFEREZES B2HR
REAEBRBESEMMAL -

RRBH D P2022%7 ABBERH
BMaXxsmARAR (TBRM]) EHR
£

BREBEHBEI HE2022F12A31H
LEFEENGEEVBRRUAARE (A
REDZEY  RFEREENRER
BANTUE(ARETIT) - K&KE
BB HREREN2023F3728HEES
= 1T o

GENERAL INFORMATION

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 26
April 2021 as an exempted company with limited liability
under the Companies Act, Cap 22 (Act 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The
address of the Company's registered office is 4" Floor,
Harbour Place, 103 South Church Street, P.O. Box 10240,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1002, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are
principally engaged in the provision of intelligent customer
relationship management ("CRM") services in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"). The ultimate controlling
shareholders of the Company are Mr. Chen Yonghui (“Mr.
Chen”), Mr. Huang Fangjie (“Mr. Huang”) and Mr. Li
Hairong (“Mr. Li") (the “Controlling Shareholders”), who
entered into an agreement to acting in concert with each
other. The ultimate holding companies of the Company are
Zhenghao Global Holding Limited, Honghan Worldwide
Limited and Double Winner Worldwide Limited. The three
companies are respectively controlled by Mr. Chen, Mr.
Huang and Mr. Li and are all incorporated in the British

Virgin Islands.

The Company'’s shares were listed on the main board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 8 July 2022.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022 are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousand (RMB'000)
unless otherwise stated. This consolidated financial
statements has been approved for issue by the board of
directors on 28 March 2023.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B 75 3R 3R Bt = ()
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (B B B 364N - A &Y AARE S| R)

2

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in preparation of
the consolidated financial statements are set out as below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the

years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements has been prepared in
accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRS") issued by Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622. The
consolidated financial statements has been prepared under
the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation
of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL"),

which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
Group's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the

consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

ZHREREERER AR



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Bt 35 3R 2} By = ()

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (& 2B ERIN - AL B AA RESR)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(@) New and amended standards adopted by the
group

The Group has applied the following amendments or annual

improvements for the first time for their annual reporting

year commencing 1 January 2022:

Amendments to Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds

HKAS 16 before Intended Use

Amendments to Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
HKAS 37 Contract

Amendments to COVID-19 related rent concessions beyond
HKFRS 16 30 June 2021

Annual improvements Annual Improvements to HKFRS Standards
Project 2018-2020

Amendments to Reference to the Conceptual Framework
HKFRS 3

Accounting guideline Revised Accounting Guideline 5 Merger
5 (Revised) Accounting for Common Control

Combinations

The adoption of these new and amended standards
disclosed did not have any significant impact on the Group's

consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Bt 35 3R 2} Y = ()

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (B B B 364N - A &Y AARE S| R)

2 FESHHEME @

2.1 B E%E @)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b) New and amended standards and interpretations
not yet adopted

Up to the date of issuance of this report, the HKICPA has

issued the following new standards and amendments to

existing standards which are not yet effective and have not

been early adopted by the Group:

KT BE
ZERBNFEE
HEEX

Effective for annual
periods beginning

on or after
A GRS ERETR R & R G 22 R RAE ET ) 2023F1 A1 H
HKFRS 17 Insurance contract (new standard and amendments) 1 January 2023
BEMBREERFE 175 BRERAEEUBRELENETREBENBERE 2023F1 A1 H
ERFEIH — L BEH
HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9 1 January 2023
— Comparative Information
BAMBREERE17HR BAMBREERE17HR (EFTA) 202351 A1 H
HKFRS 17 Amendments to HKFRS 17 1 January 2023
BB EREK (BFTAX) BEHEETHESR 2023F1A1H
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates 1 January 2023
ER ST ERF125% (BETA) HERQGEENEEMABHRBNETHRE 2023F1A1H
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising 1 January 2023
from a Single Transaction
BEGHEIEIRLEBUBR SABRNKE 2023F1A1H
TEANEBREF2% (BFTAX)
Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies 1 January 2023
HKFRS Practice Statement 2
BEMBHRESEAFAR (BFTAR) EREVNBEVBEREENZIORNERFH R 2023F1A1H
Amendments to HKFRS 4 Extension of the Temporary Exemption from Applying 1 January 2023
HKFRS 9
BB ERE 15K (BFTAR) BENRBEFERSE D 20241 A1 H
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of liabilities as current or non-current 1 January 2024
BEETERE IR (BFTAX) MeEREHNERBAE 202451 A1H
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 1 January 2024
BEWBREEAE 160 (BFTA) ERERTHNEERAR 20241 A1 H
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 1 January 2024
BRMELREESR (KER]) MHBBRERROE2I —ERAEBSRERKEEGRN 20241 A1 H
THERN D H
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification 1 January 2024
(Revised) by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause
BEMBREERNEI105 K REEEHABLELRIALECEZENEENLE &FE
BB ER 285 (BT A) FHIRA
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or contribution of assets between an investorand ~ To be determined

and HKAS 28 its associate or joint venture

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited ZRERIIZEIRAR AT



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b) New and amended standards and interpretations
not yet adopted (Continued)

The Group has already commenced an assessment of the

impact of these new standards and amendments. According

to the preliminary assessment made by the Group, no

significant impact on the Group's consolidated financial

statements is expected when they become effective.

2.2 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls an
entity where the Group is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are

deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for

business combinations by the Group (refer to Note 2.3).

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies

adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income, statements of
financial position and statements of changes in equity

respectively.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Bt 35 3R 2} Y = ()

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (B B B 364N - A &Y AARE S| R)

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)

Subsidiaries controlled through Contractual
Arrangements

In order to comply with the PRC laws and regulations which
prohibit or restrict foreign control of companies involved in
provision of certain restricted businesses, in particular,
intelligent CRM services. The Group operates its restricted
businesses in the PRC through certain PRC operating
entities, whose equity interests are held by shareholders
(“Nominee Shareholders”). The Group obtained control
over certain PRC operating entities via a series of the
Contractual Arrangements signed between certain directly
or indirectly held subsidiaries of the Company in the PRC,
PRC operating entities operating the restricted businesses (the
“Controlled Structured Entities”) and their respective
Nominee Shareholders. The Contractual Arrangements,
includes exclusive business cooperation agreement,
exclusive option agreement, equity pledge agreement,
proxy agreements and powers of attorney, and spouse
undertakings which enables those directly or indirectly held

subsidiaries of the Company and the Group to:

()  Govern the financial and operating policies of the

Controlled Structured Entities;

(i)  Exercise Nominee Shareholders’ voting rights of the

Controlled Structured Entities;

(iii) Exercise effective financial and operational control

over of Controlled Structured Entities;

(iv)  Receive substantially all of the economic interests and
returns generated by the Controlled Structured
Entities in consideration for the business support,
technical and consulting services provided by
Guangzhou Xuantao Intelligent Cloud Technology Co.,

Ltd. (“Xuantao”), at Xuantao's discretion;
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)

Subsidiaries controlled through Contractual

Arrangements (Continued)

(v)

Obtain an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase
all equity interests in the Controlled Structured Entities
from its Nominee Shareholders at a nominal
consideration unless the relevant government
authorities request that another amount be used as
the purchase consideration and in which case the
purchase consideration shall be such amount. Where
the purchase consideration is required by the relevant
government authorities to be an amount other than a
nominal amount, the Nominee Shareholders of the
Controlled Structured Entities shall return the amount
of purchase consideration they have received to
Xuantao. At Xuantao's request, the Nominee
Shareholders of the Controlled Structured Entities will
promptly and unconditionally transfer their respective
equity interests in the Controlled Structured Entities to
Xuantao (or its designee within the Group) after

Xuantao exercises its purchase right; and

Obtain pledges over the entire equity interests in the
Controlled Structured Entities from its Nominee
Shareholders to secure, among others, performance of

their obligations under the Contractual Arrangements.

The Group does not have any equity interest in the
Controlled Structured Entities. However, as a result of
the Contractual Arrangements, the Group has rights to
variable returns from its involvement with the
Controlled Structured Entities and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the
Controlled Structured Entities and is considered to
control the Controlled Structured Entities.
Consequently, the Company regards the Controlled
Structured Entities as indirect subsidiaries under
HKFRSs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)

Subsidiaries controlled through Contractual

Arrangements (Continued)

(vi)  (Continued)
Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not
be as effective as direct legal ownership in providing
the Group with direct control over the Controlled
Structured Entities and their respective subsidiaries
and such uncertainties presented by the PRC legal
system could impede the Group’s beneficiary rights of
the results, assets and liabilities of the Controlled
Structured Entities and their respective subsidiaries.
The directors of the Company, based on the advice of
its legal counsel, consider that the Contractual
Arrangements are in compliance with the relevant PRC
laws and regulations and are legally binding and

enforceable.

2.3 Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for
all business combinations, regardless of whether equity
instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration

transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:

fair values of the assets transferred

o liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired

business

o equity interests issued by the Group

e fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a

contingent consideration arrangement, and

° fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the

subsidiary.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Business combinations (Continued)

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with
limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at
the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-
controlling interest in the acquired entity on an acquisition-
by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquired

entity’s net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the:

° consideration transferred,

e amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired

entity, and

®  acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity

interest in the acquired entity

Over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair
value of the net identifiable assets of the business acquired,
the difference is recognised directly in profit or loss as a

bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is
deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted
to their present value as of the date of exchange. The
discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing
rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be
obtained from an independent financier under comparable
terms and conditions. Contingent consideration is classified
either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as
a financial liability are subsequently remeasured to fair value

with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Business combinations (Continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising

from such remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.

2.4 Investment in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by
the Company on the basis of dividend received and

receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee's net assets including

goodwill.

2.5 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker
("CODM"), who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the executive directors who makes strategic

decisions.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group's entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). Consolidated financial
statements are presented in RMB, which is the Company's

functional and the Group's presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are
re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised within “Other gains — net” in the consolidated

statements of comprehensive income.

2.7 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost
less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that

is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount
of any component accounted for as a separate asset is
derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the

reporting period in which they are incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.7 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their cost to their residual values over their
estimated useful lives or, in case of leasehold improvements,

the shorter lease term, as follows:

— Office Furniture and equipment 3-5 years
— Computers and electronic equipment 3-5 years
— Leasehold improvements the shorter of
the lease term

or the useful

life

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to
its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is

greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised
within “Other gains — net” in the consolidated statements

of comprehensive income.

2.8 Intangible assets
(a) Goodwill

Goodwill is measured as described in Note 16. Goodwill on
acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets.
Goodwill is not amortised but it is tested for impairment
annually, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is
carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Gains
and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying

amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Intangible assets (Continued)

(a) Goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units (“CGUs") for
the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made
to those CGU or groups of CGU that are expected to
benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill
arose. The units or groups of units are identified at the
lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal

management purposes, being the operating segments.

(b) Software

Separately acquired computer softwares were shown at
historical cost less accumulated amortisations and
accumulated impairment losses. Cost represents
consideration paid for the rights to use the computer
software for 1-3 years or with no expiry date. For the
computer software with no expiry date, as the computer
softwares are well-developed off the shelf software used for
financial reporting and the Group can use the software as
long as it can meet the Group's financial reporting needs,
based on the current functionalities equipped by this
software and the daily operation needs, the Group considers
a useful life of 10 years is the best estimation under current
financial reporting needs. Amortisation of computer

software are calculated on the straight-line method.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Intangible assets (Continued)

(b) Software (Continued)

Costs associated with maintaining software are recognised
as expenses as incurred. Development costs that are directly
attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and
unique software controlled by the Group were recognised

as intangible assets when the following criteria are met:

e it is technically feasible to complete the software so

that it will be available for use;

e  management intends to complete the software, and

use or sell it;
e  thereis an ability to use or sell the software;

e it can be demonstrated how the software will generate

probable future economic benefits;

° adequate technical, financial and other resources to
complete the development and to use or sell the

software was available; and

e  the expenditure attributable to the software during its

development can be reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the
software include employee costs and an appropriate portion

of relevant overheads.

Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible
assets and amortised from the point at which the asset is
ready for use. There were no development costs meeting
these criteria and capitalised as intangible assets for the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Intangible assets (Continued)

(c¢) Platform

Platform acquired in a business combination is recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. platform has a finite
useful life and is carried at cost less accumulated

amortisations.

(d) Research and development expenditures

Research and development expenditures that do not meet
the criteria in (b) above are recognised as expenses as
incurred. Development costs previously recognised as
expenses were not recognised as assets in subsequent

period.

(e) Amortisation method and period

The Group amortises intangible assets with a limited useful
life using the straight-line method over the following
periods:

e  Software 1-10 years

o Platform 5 years
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful
life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually
for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other
assets are tested for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or Groups
of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other
than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each

reporting period.

2.10 Investments and other financial assets

(a) Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following

measurement categories:

e  Those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either
through other comprehensive income, or through

profit or loss), and
° Those to be measured at amortised cost.
The classification depends on the entity’s business model

for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms

of the cash flows.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

(a) Classification (Continued)

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either
be recorded in profit or loss or other comprehensive income
("OCI"). For investments in debt instruments, this will
depend on the business model in which the investment is
held. For investments in equity instruments, this will depend
on whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at
the time of initial recognition to account for the equity
investment at fair value through other comprehensive
income ("FVOCI").

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets

changes.

(b) Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the
financial assets have expired or have been transferred and
the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and

rewards of ownership.

(c) Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value

through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

(c) Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on
the Group's business model for managing the asset and the
cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group classifies its

debt instruments:

e  Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Interest income from
these financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in
profit or loss and presented in “Other gains — net”
together with foreign exchange gains and losses.
Impairment losses are presented as separate line item

in the statements of comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

(c)

Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

FVOCI:

contractual cash flows and for selling the financial

Assets that are held for collection of

assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest, are measured at
FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are taken
through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment
gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange
gains and losses which are recognised in profit or loss.
When the financial asset is derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCl is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised
in “Other gains — net”. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains
and losses are presented in “Other gains — net” and
impairment expenses are presented as separate line

item in the statements of comprehensive income.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain
or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently

measured at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss and

presented net within “Other gains — net” in the
period in which it arises.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the consolidated statements of financial
position where the Group currently has a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts, and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable
right must not be contingent on future events and must be
enforceable in the normal course of business and in the
event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company

or the counterparty.

2.12 Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected
credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at
amortised cost. The impairment methodology applied
depends on whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk. Note 3 details how the Group determines

whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

Expected credit losses are a probability-weighted estimate
of credit losses (i.e. the present value of all cash shortfalls)

over the expected life of the financial assets.

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies
the simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from
initial recognition of the assets. The provision matrix is
determined based on historical observed default rates over
the expected life of the trade receivables with similar credit
risk characteristics and is adjusted for forward-looking
estimates. At every reporting date the historical observed
default rates are updated and changes in the forward-

looking estimates are analysed.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.12 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Impairment on other receivables are measured as either
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit
losses, depending on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant
increase in credit risk of a receivable has occurred since
initial recognition, then impairment is measured as lifetime

expected credit losses.

2.13 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
products sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is
expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current

assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of
consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are recognised
at fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables with the
objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore
measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. See Note 19 for further
information about the Group’s accounting for trade
receivables and Note 3.1.2 for a description of the Group's

impairment policies.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.14 Cash and cash equivalents and restricted
cash

For the purpose of presentation in the statements of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand,
deposits held at call with financial institutions and other
short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities
of three months or less that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value. Bank deposits which are restricted
to use are included in “restricted cash” of the consolidated

statements of financial position.

2.15 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of

tax, from the proceeds.

2.16 Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services
provided to the Group prior to the end of financial year
which are unpaid. Trade and other payables are presented
as current liabilities unless payment is not due within 12
months after the reporting period. They are recognised
initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at

amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.17 Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees paid
on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this
case, the fee is deferred until the draw down occurs. To the
extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or
all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as
a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the

period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the statements of financial
position when the obligation specified in the contract is
discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between
the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been
extinguished or transferred to another party and the
consideration paid, including any non-cash assets
transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or

loss as finance cost.
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the

Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the

liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.18 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of
a qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time
that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its
intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for

their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for

capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which

they are incurred.

2.19 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expenses or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based on
the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted
by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable

to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

(@) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period in the countries where the Company
and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax
returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts

expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and
are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax
asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is

settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those

temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and where the deferred tax balances relate to the
same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities
are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to
offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to

realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive

income or directly in equity, respectively.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Employee benefits

(a) Pension obligations

The Group only operate defined contribution pension plans.
In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC, the
PRC based employees of the Group participate in various
defined contribution retirement benefit plans organised by
the relevant municipal and provincial governments in the
PRC under which the Group and the PRC based employees
are required to make monthly contributions to these plans
calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salaries. The
municipal and provincial governments undertake to assume
the retirement benefit obligations of all existing and future
retired PRC based employees’ payable under the plans
described above. Other than the monthly contributions, the
Group has no further obligation for the payment of
retirement and other post-retirement benefits of its
employees. The assets of these plans are held separately
from those of the Group in independently administrated

funds managed by the governments.

The Group's contributions to the defined contribution

retirement scheme are expensed as incurred.

(b) Housing funds, medical insurances and other
social insurances

Employees of the Group in the PRC are entitled to
participate in various government-supervised housing funds,
medical insurances and other social insurance plan. The
Group contributes on a monthly basis to these funds based
on certain percentages of the salaries of the employees,
subject to certain ceiling. The Group's liability in respect of
these funds is limited to the contributions payable in each
year. Contributions to the housing funds, medical insurances

and other social insurances are expensed as incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Employee benefits (Continued)

(c) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated by the Group before the normal retirement date,
or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in
exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises
termination benefits at the earlier of the following dates: (a)
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits; and (b) when the entity recognises costs for a
restructuring that is within the scope of HKAS 37 and
involves the payment of termination benefits. In the case of
an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the
termination benefits are measured based on the number of
employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling
due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting

period are discounted to their present value.

(d) Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary
benefits and accumulating annual leave that are expected
to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the
period in which the employees render the related service
are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the
end of the reporting period and are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
The liabilities are presented as current employee benefit
obligations in the consolidated statements of financial

position.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are

not recognised until the time of leave.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Share-based payments

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to
employees via share award scheme. The fair value of equity-
settled share-based payments for the services received from
employees was measured at the grant date of the equity
instruments. It was recognised as share-based compensation
expenses in the profit or loss and as share-based payment
reserve respectively. The total amount to be expensed is
determined by reference to the fair value of the shares
granted as at grant date, including any market performance
conditions, excluding the impacts of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions as well as including

any non-vesting conditions, when applicable.

2.22 Provisions

Provisions for legal claims, service warranties and make
good obligations are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation and the amount can be
reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future

operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an
outflow with respect to any one item included in the same

class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of
management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period. The discount rate used to determine the present
value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to

the passage of time is recognised as interest expenses.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.23 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured when or as the control of the goods or
services is transferred to a customer. Depending on the
terms of the contract and the laws that apply to the contract,
control of the goods and services may be transferred over
time or at a point in time. Control of the goods and services

is transferred over time if the Group's performance:

e  provides all of the benefits received and consumed

simultaneously by the customer;

o creates and enhances an asset that the customer

controls as the Group performs; or

o does not create an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable right to

payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods and services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains

control of the goods and services.

Contracts with customers may include multiple performance
obligations. For such arrangements, the Group allocates
revenue to each performance obligation based on its
relative standalone selling price. The Group generally
determines standalone selling prices based on the prices
charged to customers. If the standalone selling price is not
directly observable, it is estimated using expected cost plus
a margin or adjusted market assessment approach,
depending on the availability of observable information.
Assumptions and estimations have been made in estimating
the relative selling price of each distinct performance
obligation, and changes in judgements on these
assumptions and estimates may impact the revenue

recognition.
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Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.23 Revenue recognition (Continued)

When either party to a contract has performed, the Group
presents the contract in the consolidated statement of
financial position as a contract asset or a contract liability,
depending on the relationship between the Group's

performance and the customer’s payment.

The determination of whether revenue should be reported
on a gross or net basis is based on an assessment of
whether the Group is acting as the principal or an agent in
the transactions. In determining whether the Group acts as
the principal or an agent, the Group follows the accounting
guidance for principal-agent considerations in HKFRS 15 to
assess whether the Group controls the specified service
before it is transferred to the end customer, the indicators
of which including but not limited to (i) whether the entity is
primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide the
specified service; (i) whether the entity has inventory risk
before the specified service has been transferred to a
customer; and (iii) whether the entity has discretion in
establishing the prices for the specified goods or service.
Such determination involves judgment and is based on an

evaluation of the terms of each arrangement.

A contract asset is the Group's right to consideration in
exchange for goods and services that the Group has
transferred to a customer. A receivable is recorded when
the Group has an unconditional right to consideration. A
right to consideration is unconditional if only the passage of

time is required before payment of the consideration is due.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.23 Revenue recognition (Continued)

If a customer pays consideration or the Group has a right to
an amount of consideration that is unconditional, before the
Group transfers a good or service to the customer, the
Group presents the contract liability when the payment is
made or a receivable is recorded (whichever is earlier). A
contract liability is the Group's obligation to transfer goods
or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due from

the customer).

Contract fulfilment costs are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost mainly comprises direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed
overhead expenditure, the latter being allocated on the
basis of normal operating capacity. Net realisable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated

costs necessary to make the sale.

Costs to fulfil a contract comprise the implementation cost
including direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
variable and fixed overhead expenditure related to an
existing contract that will be used to satisfy performance
obligations in the future. The costs to fulfil a contract are
recorded in contract fulfilment costs if they are expected to

be recovered.

The Group generates revenues separately or in combination,
from providing CRM platform as a service (“CRM PaaS
services”) and CRM software as a service (“CRM SaaS

services”) to customers.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.23 Revenue recognition (Continued)

CRM PaasS services

The Group mainly provides communication platform as a
service (“cPaaS”") to encapsulate messaging communication
capabilities of the three major telecommunication network
operators for the customers to be integrated into the
customer’s business systems, thereby enabling the
customers to access and utilise the Group’s communication

capabilities as a service.

The Group purchases text messages from
telecommunication network operators and then combined
with its services to provide a integrated communication
service to customers via the Group’ s own platform.
Therefore, the Group controls the specified service before it
is transferred to customer and is acting as a principal in the

transaction.

CRM PaaS$ services revenues primarily consist of usage of
text message fees provided to end customers, which is
recognised at a point in time. The Group's service fees are
determined by applying the contractual unit price to the

monthly usage volume of text messages sent.

CRM SaaS services

CRM Saa$S services are cloud-based and primarily
categorised into three cloud solutions, namely marketing
cloud, sales cloud and service cloud covering customers’
entire business cycle to meet the aforesaid requests. The
cloud and the encapsulated communication capability of
the major telecommunication network operators, which
consolidate the cPaaS platform, as well as CRM functions,
altogether form the integrated and comprehensive CRM

SaaS services of the Group.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.23 Revenue recognition (Continued)

CRM SaaS services (Continued)

Marketing cloud primarily offers a range of modules to
customers, which consolidate the cPaaS platform, e.g. UMP
solution — a private cloud-based solution that allows
dissemination of marketing messages; MOS solution — a
public cloud-based solution that allows dissemination of
marketing message; and ICC solution — a solution that
allows clients to manage comprehensive communication
channels for intra- and extra-organisational purposes.
Revenue of marketing cloud primarily generates from fees
based on usage of text messages, which is recognised at a
point in time by applying the contractual unit price to the

monthly usage volume of text messages sent.

Sales cloud provides a comprehensive sales management
solutions including U-Client 100 and Smart Sales 100 to
customers by introducing a streamlined operation model
and automated workflow to customers’ sales management
cycle. Customers generally subscribe to the Group's sales
management solution at a fixed annually or monthly fee
granting them the access to one or more of the cloud
applications, which is identified as a separate performance
obligation. The Group also provides implementation
services to customers, including customised configuration
and development of specific applications, which is identified
as a separate performance obligation. Total consideration is
mainly allocated to subscription service fees and
implementation service fees based on their stand alone
selling price determined based on the observable
contractual prices charged to customers. Revenue from
subscription service is recognised over the service contract
period. Revenue from implementation service is recognised
at a point in time upon completion of the implementation
service and acceptance by customers of the promised

products and services.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B 75 3R 3R Bt = ()
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (B B B 364N - A &Y AARE S| R)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.23 Revenue recognition (Continued)

CRM SaaS services (Continued)

Service cloud provides customers with a range of post-sales
customer services-related solutions which offers in Cloud
Call Centre — a customer service solution that brings the
traditional call centre onto the cloud. Revenue from service
cloud primarily generates from fees based on usage of voice
call, which is recognised at a point in time by applying the
contractual unit price to monthly usage minutes of voice
calls placed, and subscription fees, which is recognised over

the service period.

The Group also provides product support service to
customers, which is identified as a separate performance
obligation and is provided mainly in the form of fixed-price
contracts. Revenue from product support service is

recognised ratably over the service contract period.

2.24 Interest income

Interest income from financial assets at FVPL is included in

the net fair value gains on these assets.

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost
calculated using the effective interest method is recognised
in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income as

“Other income”.

Interest income is presented as finance income where it is
earned from financial assets that are held for cash

management purpose, see Note 11 below.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.25 Leases

The Group leases certain offices. Rental contracts are
typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 5 years. Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants, but leased assets

may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset
is available for use by the Group. Each lease payment is
allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance
cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as
to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period. The right-
of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s

useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include

the net present value of the following lease payments:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed

payments), less any lease incentives receivable
e  variable lease payment that are based on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as of the

commencement date

o amounts expected to be payable by the group under

residual value guarantees

e  the exercise price of a purchase option if the group is

reasonably certain to exercise that option, and

e  payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the

lease term reflects the group exercising that option.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.25 Leases (Continued)

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease if that rate can be determined, or the
Group’s incremental borrowing rate. To determine the
incremental borrowing rate, the Group uses a build-up
approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate adjusted for

credit risk for leases held by the Group.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the

following:

e the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

* any lease payments made at or before the

commencement date less any lease incentives received

e  any initial direct costs, and

° restoration costs.

Payments associate with short-term leases terms of 12
months or less and leases of low-value assets are recognised
on a straight-line basis over the lease term as an expense in

profit or loss.

2.26 Dividend distribution

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared,
being appropriately authorised and no longer at the
discretion of the entity, on or before the end of the
reporting period but not distributed at the end of the
reporting period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.27 Earnings per share

(a) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

e the profit attributable to owners of the Company,
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than

ordinary shares, and

e by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for
bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the

year and excluding treasury shares.

(b) Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the
determination of basic earnings per share to take into

account:

o the after income tax effect of interest and other
financing costs associated with dilutive potential

ordinary shares, and

e the weighted average number of additional ordinary
shares that would have been outstanding assuming

the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

2.28 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with all attached

conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income over the period necessary to match

them with the costs that they are intended to compensate.

Annual Report 2022 —ZF = —F %3

153



154

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Bt 35 3R 2} Y = ()

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (B B B 364N - A &Y AARE S| R)

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

B 3% | b o 1R

Bt %5 L B R 3=

7 B R 356 AR 7K 5% B T B O B S L B e
% % B 0 ) %2 28 7K &= [ A R R B 7%
RB - MEBMBINANTER > AIH
ARFEEREER -

AEEMEHFEEEERSENBER
% 1 Th % 3 ﬁ(’?%&l\iﬂ B - IRE R
ERMERR) - FERRBERHE
T EE o REE R E ﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁ Eral
BEARERMIBEHNAAEAN kS
RRERERUAEENBRAENER
PR E -

311 WS ER

(@) IMERE R
AEBEIBUARBEEEL - A&
BERSEERKR -ZERERKRA
AEEERBUNGEEBAINEEEST
BMERGEFHMESE - R2022F12
A31B XE2HFARBEERNANET
HETHENRERBESEEY- A
REZBT(BT)HETIERD
MEXRFHAFEAEENECEE
Mo NEBI TR AT MR BINES
[ ¥ J+h HL T B2 A 9N EE BB o

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

This note explains the Group's exposure to financial risks
and how these risks could affect the Group's future financial
performance. Current year profit and loss information has

been included where relevant to add further context.

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash flow and
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's
overall risk management program focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group's financial

performance.

3.1.1 Market risk

(a) Foreign exchange risk

The Group’s businesses are principally conducted in RMB.
The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from financing and operating activities of
the Group's entities conducted in currencies other than the
functional currency. As at 31 December 2022, major non-
RMB assets are cash and cash equivalents which
denominated in Hong Kong dollar ("HK$") or Unite States
dollar (“US$"). Fluctuation of the exchange rate of RMB
against HK$ or US$ could affect the Group's results of
operations. The Group has not entered into any forward
exchange contract to hedge its exposure to foreign

exchange risk.
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B 7% & B B I () 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 BIEAKREZE @ 3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
3.1.1 B E (&) 3.1.1 Market risk (Continued)
(a) SN [ B (48) (@) Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

RBER REBSERERERIAD The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets which
EEEENINEEAABENAEEEEE are denominated in currencies other than the functional
EMERBELT : currencies of the respective Group's entities at the end of

the reporting period are as follows:

M12A31H8

As at 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR®FT T ARBEFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

RekBFEFED Cash and cash equivalents

— BT — HK$ 31,777 —
—XTT — US$ 23 —
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

3.1.1 Market risk (Continued)

(@) Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

rates,

The following table demonstrates the effect of sensitivity to

reasonably possible changes in US$ and HK$ exchange

with all other variables held constant, on the Group’s

M NE) profit after income tax in the next accounting period:
BZ12831HILLEE
Year ended 31 December
2022 20215
2022 2021

BRATBH BRAT1S 5
#RF 1% A
EXSEH (Bd) 8m EXEFH (RN) &N
(Decrease)/ (Decrease)/
Changein  increasein Change in increase in
exchange  profit after  exchange profit after
rate  income tax rate income tax
% AR®BTR % ARETRT
% RMB'000 % RMB000
M8 IT 7 A R 8 55 If HK$ weakens against RMB 5% (1,589) 5% =
w78 T 5 A R B og If HK$ strengthens against RMB 5% 1,589 5% —
fMETH AREES If US$ weakens against RMB 5% (1 5% —
fWFEITH AR K If US$ strengthens against RMB 5% 1 5% —

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

3.1.1 Market risk (Continued)

(b) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s income and operating cash flows were
substantially independent of changes in market interest
rates and the Group has no significant interest-bearing
assets except for cash and cash equivalents, details of which

have been disclosed in Note 21.

The Group has no significant variable interest-bearing assets
or liabilities except for the bank balances. Therefore, the
directors of the Company do not anticipate there is any
significant impact resulted from the changes in interest

rates.

3.1.2 Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its trade,
bill and other receivables, contract assets, cash and cash
equivalents and restricted cash. The carrying amounts of
trade, bill and other receivables, contract assets, cash and
cash equivalents and restricted cash represent the Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial

assets.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

3.1.2 Credit risk (Continued)

(a) Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash

The Group expects that there is no significant credit risk
associated with cash deposits at banks since they are
substantially deposited at state-owned banks and other
medium or large-sized listed banks whose credit rating are
AAA or AA+. Management does not expect that there will
be any significant losses from non-performance by these

counterparties.

(b) Trade, bill and other receivables and contract assets

For trade, bill and other receivables and contract assets, the
management of the Group has monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverability of
these receivables at the end of each reporting period to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group's credit risk is significantly

reduced.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

3.1.2 Credit risk (Continued)

(b) Trade, bill and other receivables and contract assets
(Continued)

(i)  Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for

expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which

permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for

trade receivables and contract assets.

To measure the expected credit losses of trade receivables
and contract assets, trade receivables and contract assets
were grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and ageing period. The expected credit losses also
incorporate forward-looking information, includes industrial

value-added, M2, Consumer Price Index and so on.

For trade receivables and contract assets, management
collectively assessed the expected credit losses taking into
account the historical default rate and industry credit loss

rate, in respect of those groups of customers.

Trade receivables have been grouped into two categories
by the Group’s management based on shared credit risk
characteristics. Receivables from state-owned enterprises,
collectively-owned enterprises and companies invested by
state-owned or collectively-owned enterprises are grouped
as one category (“Group 1”), and remaining receivables
from other customers are classified as another category

("Group 2"). Contract assets are classified under Group 2.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 BIREAREZE @ 3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

31.2 FE R (#) 3.1.2 Credit risk (Continued)

b) EZFEWRNRE EREERHEAM (b) Trade, bill and other receivables and contract assets
EWFERIE LR E R EE (&) (Continued)

() BSEWNNEBELALAREE &) ()  Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

MR2022612R318  EKRE=FE5H As at 31 December 2022, the loss allowance provision for

FEWRIBEBRNEREENEEREET the trade receivables and contract assets due from third

mR e parties was determined as follows.

AR #7502 st
Group 1 Group 2 Total

T®E =2 RER -Z @F
=EA ~EA E—-F mE Bk
Upto3 3to6 6months 1to2 Over2

months months to1year years years

ESRUNERGREE

2022612 4318
SEEG] g
EELEARETT)
EREBARBTI)

Trade receivables and contract

assets

At 31 December 2022

Expected loss rate 0.15% 1.51%  2.99% 38.35% 62.00% 99.31%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) 186,493 75,688 13,884 9,590 13,515 7,552 306,722
Loss allowance provision (RMB'000) 280 1,143 415 3,678 8,379 7,500 21,395

M2021512 A31 8
BHEBREX
EEAEARETT)
BEABARETT)

At 31 December 2021

Expected loss rate 0.18%  1.65%  3.28% 44.05% 67.90% 98.72%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) 182,629 68,430 9,987 7,586 2333 7,439 278,404
Loss allowance provision (RMB'000) 329 1,129 328 3,342 1,584 7,344 14,056

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited ZRERIIZEIRAR AT
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

3.1.2 Credit risk (Continued)
(b) Trade, bill and other receivables and contract assets
(Continued)

(i) Bill receivable

For bill receivable, the expected credit losses were mainly
assessed by taking into account the credit rating for issuing
financial institutions. The Group assessed that the expected
credit loss rate for bill receivable from bank was low, since
the bank is a state-owned or other medium or large-size
listed bank whose credit rating is AAA and has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligation in the
near term. The Group assessed that the expected credit
losses rate for bill receivable from the bank is immaterial
and considered them to have a low credit risk, and thus the

loss allowance is immaterial.

(iii)  Other receivables

Other receivables mainly included deposits and others.

The Group uses the expected credit loss model to

determine the expected loss provision for other receivables.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

3.1.2 Credit risk (Continued)

(b) Trade, bill and other receivables and contract assets
(Continued)

(i) Other receivables (Continued)

The Group considers the probability of default whether

there has been a significant increase in credit risk on an

ongoing basis throughout each reporting period. To assess

whether there is a significant increase in credit risk the

Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset

as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the

date of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable

and supportive forwarding-looking information. Especially

the following indicators are incorporated:

o internal credit rating
o external credit rating

o actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant change to the
borrower’s ability to meet its obligations

o actual or expected significant changes in the operating
results of the borrower

o significant changes in the expected performance and
behaviour of the borrowers, including changes in the
payment status of borrowers and changes in the
operating results of the borrowers.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

3.1.2 Credit risk (Continued)

(Continued)

Trade, bill and other receivables and contract assets

(iii)  Other receivables (Continued)

A summary of the assumptions underpinning the Group's

BRE&BEa a0 R expected credit loss model is as follows:
5l rEBHEEEINESR BRANCESERBAENESE
Basis for recognition of expected
Category Group definition of category credit loss provision
e ERPRARRE BRAeiimRe 2EANEHEE - BXNEHRFEBH
ERATRE ENR2EALAANEE  FAHEBEER
HEFEMNtE
Performing Customers have a low risk of default 12 months expected losses. Where the
and a strong capacity to meet expected lifetime of an asset is less
contractual cash flows than 12 months, expected losses are
measured at its expected lifetime
2Pz EERBRBEEEMNERNRIE: 2HEHER

Under-performing

TR

Non-performing

il A 8 K3 AR & & K8 H90

R AlHEE = B R B #2218 0

Receivables for which there is a

significant increase in credit risk; as

significant increase in credit risk is
presumed if interest and/or
principal repayments are 90 days

past due

FERHASERE 180K
Interest and/or principal repayments

are 180 days past due

Lifetime expected losses

EHEHEE

Lifetime expected losses
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

3.1.2 Credit risk (Continued)
(b) Trade, bill and other receivables and contract assets
(Continued)

(iii)  Other receivables (Continued)

The Group accounts for its credit risk by appropriately
providing for expected credit losses on a timely basis. In
calculating the expected credit loss rates, the Group
considers historical default rates for each category of
receivables and adjusts for forward-looking macroeconomic

data.

The Group has assessed that there is no significant increase
of credit risk for other receivables since initial recognition.
Thus the Group used the 12 months expected credit losses

model to assess credit loss of other receivables.

3 2p=3 R ot
Under- Non-
Performing performing performing Total
H At e W =K 18 Other receivables
202212 A 31 H At 31 December 2022
FEEmBE(ARETIIT) Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) 15,797 — — 15,797
EIEEE(ARBTT) Lossallowance provision (RMB'000) 181 — — 181
M20214%12A31H At 31 December 2021
FEmBE(ARETIT) Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) 15,957 — — 15,957
EREEE(AR¥ETIL) Lossallowance provision (RMB'000) 174 — — 174
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

3.1.2 Credit risk (Continued)

(b) Trade, bill and other receivables and contract assets
(Continued)

(iii)  Other receivables (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the loss allowance provision for

trade and other receivables and contract assets reconciles

to the opening loss allowance for that provision as follows:

5 Hits
EhME SEREEE ERIE st
Trade Contract Other
receivables assets receivables Total
ARETT ARETRT ARETIT ARBTR
RMB‘000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
R20215F1A1H At 1 January 2021 9,345 19 143 9,507
CREERERBE/ Net impairment losses/(reversal
(REBERD)FH of impairment loss) on financial
assets 5,352 (13) 31 5,370
E ] U B R ER Receivables written off during
34 B FE W SR IA the year as uncollectible (647) — — (647)
2021612 H31H At 31 December 2021 14,050 6 174 14,230
R2022%F1A1H At 1 January 2022 14,050 6 174 14,230
EREEREBETHE Net impairment losses on
financial assets 7,317 22 7 7,346
2022612 H31H At 31 December 2022 21,367 28 181 21,576
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

3.1.3 Liquidity risk

To manage the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group's

operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash

iy

&
SRS
e BB E R

BREMRKTHEES
78 2 #1485l 2

HERE
ﬁ%ﬁﬁ{:\ﬂ* MMIAHEERE °

o R PTHEE

flows.

SRS

The table below analyses the Group's financial liabilities and
lease liabilities into relevant maturity grouping based on the
remaining period at the end of each reporting period to the

contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the

table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

—FHUR —-ZEZF ZZEIF et
Between Between
Less than 1 and 2 2and 5
1 year years years Total
ARETT ARETRT ARETT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
THAE Financial liabilities
R2022F12A31H As at 31 December 2022
BIREMNFIE B Trade, bill and other payables
B RHAME N RIE (excluding accrued payroll and
(TBREEFIER other tax payables)
Hit R 68,502 — — 68,502
HEARE Lease liabilities 10,957 7,351 12,033 30,341
f& 5 Borrowings 90,477 — — 90,477
169,936 7,351 12,033 189,320
M2021612H31H As at 31 December 2021
B 5 K H < 3R Trade and other payables
(TREREETIE R (excluding accrued payroll and
Hth fE R Bi18) other tax payables) 108,961 — — 108,961
HEAR Lease liabilities 8,994 7,571 18,877 35,442
&K Borrowings 59,477 — — 59,477
177,432 7,571 18,877 203,880

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital

structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to

shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the asset-liability
ratio. This ratio is calculated as total liabilities divided by

total assets.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, asset-liability ratio of the

Group are as follows:

R12A31H
As at 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
BEAGEX Asset-liability ratio 37% 48%
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(a) BUWRIREE

AEEREEMEORLRRED
%ETMF“QFWMEWﬁ
B AREEL FRBRE
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A KR BT TR R
5 95 45 B 5K B0 A1 0B A% £ B 1E
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EEMBERERKMGFT AR - Z
ZRABZENGLFAEDHHEES
Ko B At JE WK IR E R AR AR 7 X 1)
FEHE - fEMAIERERLE
ABEBENFE  F2H LEXME
3.1.2°

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates
which, by definition, will seldom equal the actual results.
Management also needs to exercise judgement in applying

the Group's accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that may have a
financial impact on the entity and that are believed to be

reasonable under the circumstances.

(a) Allowance on doubtful receivables

The Group makes allowances on receivables based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss
rates. The Group used judgment in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the
impairment calculation, based on the Group's past
collection history, existing market conditions as well as
forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting

period.

Where the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
amount of trade and other receivables as doubtful
debt expenses in the periods in which such estimate
has been changed. For details of the key assumptions

and inputs used, see Note 3.1.2 above.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4 FEERESE R HE @

(b) Current and deferred income tax

(b) BNHARIEIEFT S

AEBAGRTEEERMAER -
EEEHERESE MBRKE
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EEEERAAREETERE
REHEEEA A AEHERRD
ERTAMBER AERREZF
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R e

DER EEFE B A
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By AR EAFERRIL DI
BR - BEEERBUSHREET
4 B o

i

HAl
okt

The Group is subject to corporate income taxes in the
PRC. Judgement is required in determining the
amount of the provision for taxation and the timing of
payment of the related taxations. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course
of business. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax
and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such

determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when
management considers to be probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised. The

outcome of their actual utilisation may be different.

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION

(a) Description of segments and principal

activities

The CODM has been identified as executive directors
of the Company. The executive directors review the
Group’s internal reporting in order to assess
performance and allocate resources. Management has
determined the operating segments based on these

reports.
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(a) Description of segments and principal

activities (Continued)

The executive directors consider the business from

product perspective. The Group has identified the

following operating segments:

(i)

(ii)

ZHERRERERA

CRM PaasS services

CRM Paa$S services mainly provides cPaaS to
encapsulate messaging communication
capabilities of the three major telecommunication
network operators for the customers to be
integrated into the customer’s business systems,
thereby enabling the customers to access and
utilise the communication capabilities as a

service.

CRM Saas services

CRM SaaS services comprises of marketing cloud,
sales cloud and service cloud, which enable the
Group to provide the customer with a one-stop
intelligent CRM services throughout their entire
business cycle, from initial marketing to after-

sales services.

The CODM assesses the performance of the
operating segments based on the gross profit of
each segment. There were no separate segment
assets and segment liabilities information
provided to the CODM, as CODM does not use
this information to allocate resources or to
evaluate the performance of the operating

segments.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, majority of

the assets were located in the PRC.
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5 7HEH@ 5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(b) 7RI (b) Segment performance
MATESRBEABEEZ20226F The segment information provided to the executive
1ZANBILEFERZ2HS HN D directors for the reportable segments for the year
HERMAT ended 31 December 2022 is as follows:

BZE2022F12A31BLLEE
Year ended 31 December 2022

CRM Paa$ CRM Saa$S

PR %% PR 7% BEr
CRM Paa$S CRM Saa$S
services services Total
ARBTRT AR®TR AR T
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
I #5 Revenue 569,177 474,201 1,043,378
$HE B A Cost of sales (524,339) (293,392) (817,731)
E Gross profit 44,838 180,809 225,647
HE R DR Selling and distribution expenses (111,317)
TR X Administrative expenses (76,361)
R Research and development
expenses (82,724)
SHEERMME  Netimpairment losses on
k= financial assets (7,346)
H fib hg A Other income 13,918
Hib 5 — %% Other gains — net 4,831
KREBR Operating loss (33,352)
B & WA Finance income 1,150
FLEZ SN Finance costs (4,100)
Bh &K AN —F %8 Finance costs — net (2,950)
MRFTSBATETHE Loss before income tax (36,302)
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5 ﬁ%ﬂﬁﬂ(%) 5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(b) 7 EBFTIR @) (b) Segment performance (Continued)
MBMITESFREE BEZE2021F The segment information provided to the executive
12ANBIEFEAZ2F D MH D directors for the reportable segments for the year
HLERTE - ended 31 December 2021 is as follows:

HE2021F12A31BIEEFE
Year ended 31 December 2021
CRM Paa$S CRM Saa$S

AR %5 AR 7% wEt
CRM Paa$S CRM Saa$S
services services Total
AR®TT AR%T ARBTT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
W a Revenue 554,643 437,298 991,941
55 & B AR Cost of sales (494,056) (265,493) (759,549)
EH Gross profit 60,587 171,805 232,392
HE R DHFAS Selling and distribution expenses (91,024)
TH R Administrative expenses (68,515)
e X Research and development
expenses (66,126)
SHEEMME  Netimpairment losses on
&8 %58 financial assets (5,370)
H bl A Other income 12,557
H g zs — F 5 Other gains — net 393
&R E Operating profit 14,307
L= ON Finance income 750
B & R 2N Finance costs (2,577)
Bh &K AN — F %8 Finance costs — net (1,827)
BT B H AT Profit before income tax 12,480
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5 oFER@

(b)

7 BRI (@)

#9 A FR 215,347,000 7T (2021 4F :
A B #164,046,0007T ) #) Y 25 5K
BE—%%F ZEFPEBHFRAK
SEHE2022F12A31BLLFE
UL S EN10% 3K DA | o 3% IR S BR
B X CRM PaaS R 2 26 ° Br itk 2
o AEBATAEERERF B
ERYEEMNZFERMASEE
F202F K2021F12A31HIEF
FEUREEHI10% 3K A L o

6 W=

W e * 6 R £ CRM PaaS iR 15 &
CRM SaaSIREFTS RIE - REEH E
2022F 202112 A31 B L FE R E
AEI DKW DTAT ¢

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(b) Segment performance (Continued)

Revenue of approximately RMB215,347,000 was from
one customer who individually contributed 10% or
more of the Group's total revenue for the year ended
31 December 2022 (2021: RMB164,046,000). This
revenue was attributed to the CRM PaaS services
segment. Other than that, the Group had a large
number of customers and none of whom contributed
10% or more of the Group's revenue for the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

6 REVENUE

Revenue mainly comprises of proceeds from providing CRM
PaaS services and CRM SaaS services. The analysis of the
Group's revenue by category for the year ended 31
December 2022 and 2021 was as follows:

BZ12831BLEE

Year ended 31 December

20224 20214

2022 2021

AR®FT T ARBFTT

RMB'000 RMB’000

CRM PaaS ik % CRM PaaS services 569,177 554,643
CRM SaaS iR 7% CRM SaaS services 474,201 437,298
1,043,378 991,941
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B 75 3R 3R Bt = ()
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (B B B 364N - A &Y AARE S| R)

6 LI& oy (#8) 6 REVENUE (continued)
REE2022F k2021 F12 A31 B IEF The analysis of revenue from contracts with customers by
B EREEAEEEREERKE the timing of revenue recognition for the year ended 31
DN December 2022 and 2021 was as follows:
BZ12A31BLEE
Year ended 31 December
2022 F 20214
2022 2021
ARBET AR® T T
RMB’'000 RMB'000
A 318 B 2 At a point in time 1,006,767 956,142
N —E B Over time 36,611 35,799
1,043,378 991,941
(a) ERAEE (a) Contract assets
ANEBFED R T EIKZEES The Group has recognised the following revenue-
ERIEE : related contract assets:
MB12H318
As at 31 December
2022 % 2021 4
2022 2021
AR®T T AR T T
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AERIEE Contract assets 373 101
B REERE Less: allowance for contract assets (28) (6)
345 95

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited ZRERHEIERERA
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6 W=

(b) EREAME
AEBERR AT RS AR

REVENUE (Continued)

(b) Contract liabilities

The Group has recognised the following revenue-

ERAE: related contract liabilities:
R12A31H
As at 31 December
2022%F 20214
2022 2021
ARET AR®EFTT
RMB'000 RMB’000
EREE Contract liabilities 31,086 31,924

() EREENEARED
AEBENERABEEER
el R 52 (A8 BE AR 75 B = P
ST R B R 51 B

(i) HHESFAEERIANKE

TRIRNE AR E HHE
N EESRAERAR
2% o

(i) Significant changes in contract liabilities
Contract liabilities of the Group mainly arise from
the advance payments made by customers while

the underlying services are yet to be provided.

(ii) Revenue recognised in relation to contract
liabilities

The following table shows how much of the

= revenue recognised in the current reporting
period relates to carried-forward contract
liabilities.
BZ12A31BLEE
Year ended 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR®TR AREFT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
FAFEVERAE Revenue recognised that was
BREME R KR included in the balance of contract
liabilities at the beginning of
the year
aRAE Contract liabilities 18,885 22,577

Annual Report 2022

—T— —FFIR

175



176

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B 75 3R 3R Bt = ()
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6 W=

(b) EREAME

(iii)

(iv)

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

RERBHERE

AEEEEATRET A
THREHRTENEMLE R
AREHNEEEY EEE
XZEBEENE RN —

35 .

HESEEMNEERELM
BRNEE
R & E2022F K 2021412
A3NBIEFE AREIRE
BERFTEALEEELAE XN
HEKA o

6 REVENUE (Continued)

(b) Contract liabilities

(iii)

(iv)

ZHREREERER AR

Unsatisfied performance obligations

The Group has elected the practical expedient
for not to disclose the remaining performance
obligations because the performance obligation
is part of contracts that do not have fixed

aggregate amount of transaction price.

Assets recognised from incremental costs to
obtain a contract

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021, there was no significant incremental costs

incurred to obtain contracts.
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(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (& 2B ERIN - AL B AA RESR)

EMHEE DX

HABERE BERHHEL -
MEEERATRE XA X D
mF :

EXPENSES BY NATURE

Expenses including in cost of sales, selling and distribution
expenses, research and development expenses and

administrative expenses are analysed as follows:

BZE12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

2022 F 2021
2022 2021
AR®TR AR®ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
&5 B IRK A Costs of telecommunications resources 780,836 728,366
& 8 &% 7 X (F15E8) Employee benefit expenses (Note 8) 206,147 170,959
=il 53 Listing expenses 22,971 15,617
= Bk N B EE B 2 Travel and entertainment expenses 17,564 16,538
k- P8 3153 Depreciation and amortisation expenses
(BfzE14 ~ 15K 16) (Notes 14, 15 and 16) 13,243 13,588
INEEFERGHS Outsourcing customer service expenses 12,450 11,691
HEL MR ER X Infrastructure and equipment expenses 8,792 8,272
S PNE Y Marketing and promotion expenses 6,049 4,072
BEERKE Professional service fees 4,518 5,670
N B i AR AR Outsourcing implementation costs 2,857 1,426
EERMAERE Conference and office expenses 2,342 2,342
2= & AT B & Auditors’ remuneration 2,300 310
MEEEMHE Taxes and other levies 1,727 2,270
REMEANEE N Lease payments on short term leases
(Pt £ 26) (Note 26) 486 115
H Al Others 5,851 3,978
1,088,133 985,214
Annual Report 2022 =% — —FF3f
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Bt 35 3R 2} Y = ()

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (B B B 364N - A &Y AARE S| R)

8 EERT/ABEX 8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

BZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

20224 20214

2022 2021

AR®FT T ARBEFTT

RMB'000 RMB’000

Ha LENIEA Salaries, wages, and bonuses 184,135 153,451
HeRBEAYX - EE®F KR Social insurance expenses, housing

E e B4 F (@) benefits and other employee benefits
(Note (a)) 22,012 17,508
206,147 170,959

(a) AEENHENBLAREEERS
HAM T MRAFEEREENT
BEFEARFTE - AERE T E
MEARREEFEETEDL
Wzt EER UABNEENER
K& A -

HtEERANTECRHEEEZRN
X B R B

(a)

Employees in the Group's PRC subsidiaries are
required to participate in a defined contribution
retirement scheme administrated and operated by the
local municipal government. The Group’s PRC
subsidiaries contribute funds which are calculated on
certain percentage of the employee salary to the
scheme to fund the retirement benefits of the

employees.

Other employee benefits mainly include team building

expenses, meal and traveling allowances.

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited ZRERIIZEIRAR AT
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8 EET/ABEXwW 8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued)

(b) EEREFHMAL (b) Five highest paid individuals

HE202F12A31BIEFE &K
SEREERTMALTEESS
QONF:1B)ESZ - HMe 2
REERHERETI RN - HE
202F12R3NBIEFE BT
HBpAZQ02F  48%) ALH

BT -

as follows:

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group included nil director for the year
ended 31 December 2022 (2021: 1) whose emolument
is reflected in the analysis shown in Note 32. The
emoluments payable to the remaining 5 individuals
during the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: 4) are

BZE12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

2022 F 2021 4
2022 2021
AR®TRT AR®T
RMB’'000 RMB’000
HARTE  EFE#EL - Basic salaries, housing allowances,

RERAE - Hfh)2AL K share options, other allowances and

EWHM & benefits in kind 4,187 3,562
MERAREEE —EHE Contribution to pension scheme —

FRET 81 R defined contribution plans 40 29
)15 TE AL Discretionary bonuses 408 363
MBKIMBEARAEEZD Inducement fee to join or upon joining

HZE® the Group — _
BRI E Compensation for loss of office — —

4,635 3,954
Annual Report 2022 —ZF = —F %3
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8 EET/ABEXwW 8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued)

() EiifeBR A TAR : (c) The emoluments fell within the following bands:

BZ12A31BLFE

Year ended 31 December

2022 20214
2022 2021
i & 28 51 (& 7T) Emolument bands in HK$
= % 1,000,000/ 7T Nil — HK$1,000,000 2 —
1,000,0017% 7T & 1,500,000 7t HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 3 4
5 4
(d) BRKERE—ETEHKE (d) Pension costs — defined contribution

K=t &l retirement plans
RELZE 20224 K 2021E 12 A31H During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
IFFEE ANEFBWEEA TEH the Group has no forfeited contributions that were
AR > H AR U L 7K © able to be utilised by the Group to reduce its

contributions.
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Bt 35 3R 2} By = ()

ZHEERIN B2 EHAARKEIITR)

9 HikA 9 OTHER INCOME
BZE12BA3MBLEE
Year ended 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR®FT T ARBEFTT
RMB'000 RMB'000
XA 78 B (B 5 (a)) Government grants (Note (a)) 2,947 480
HE R E (BT (b)) Value-added tax refund (Note (b)) 4,050 4,096
INETBRIZEEIBR Additional deduction of value-added input
(P 5E () tax (Note (c)) 6,523 7,814
H A Others 398 167
13,918 12,557

BT #0 RE =18 B B B BE P9 2
GHEEMY T2EREXRY
BEBHTE R BN A ERE
fHRE A B 5t B 5 Rk o

BH2019F4 818 #£ - BB K

RIS ARG R AE BN R(CE
BERNEERABRRNRE)(F K

BRIGEDEEAE R E2019F
F305R) HEBKEM4NER
T 3@ FA A R BB 16% 78 2 5 13% ©

1B I8 B F{ (2011110057 3@ &0 » £+
B3R A EEE 81T R BB E Gt
T EEPBRESRHAIEE
MEBHRABBAIGHID @ A
ZEXEERRE

Government grants represented various subsidies
received from relevant government authorities, mainly
including research and development subsidy on
industrial key technologies, Guangzhou intellectual
property subsidy and patent program development
subsidy.

From 1 April 2019,

“Announcement of Ministry of Finance, the General

according to the circular

Administration of Taxation and the General
Administration of Customs on deepening policies
related to VAT reformation” (Announcement of
Ministry of Finance, the General Administration of
Taxation and the General Administration of Customs
[2019] No. 39 BRI R BRAEE N E[2019F]%
395%), the application VAT rate for sales of computer

software has been adjusted from 16% to 13%.

According to the circular Cai Shui [2011] No. 100 (B4 7%%
[2011]100%%), software enterprises which engage in the
sales of self-developed software in the PRC are
entitled to VAT refund to the extent that the effective
VAT rate of the sales of the software in the PRC
exceeds 3%.
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9 HWAwm

© HB2019F471H & BRIE(H K
B EERBEBEBENRLIE
ENRNEFRREN RS (MK
HHBEEREHEEERE019
FIE399% ) - £ F B % ECRM
SaaS A1 CRM PaaS A 75 1 fE /Y &
B R &) A Z 2 10% #1228 B o st
R o

10 HEfbss — F8E

9 OTHER INCOME (Continued)

()

From 1 April 2019, according to the Circular
“Announcement of Ministry of Finance, the General
Administration of Taxation and the General
Administration of Customs on deepening policies
related to VAT reformation” (Announcement of
Ministry of Finance, the General Administration of
Taxation and the General Administration of Customs
[2019] No. 39 B AR SRR BRAEZE L E[2019F]%
39%%), the group companies engaged in the provision
of CRM SaaS and CRM PaaS$ services in the PRC are
entitled to an extra 10% VAT deduction.

10 OTHER GAINS — NET

BZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

2022 F 20214
2022 2021
ARBFTRT ARETET
RMB’'000 RMB'000
HEME BELZED Net losses from disposal of property, plant
EEFE and equipment (32) (913)
AN FEE U &5 % BB Net foreign exchange gain 3,564 —
BRERRAREFABERZH Net fair value gain on investments in
TREEMBAAENRS financial assets at fair value through
PR profit or loss 1,293 1,209
HAth Others 6 97
4,831 393
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11 MERK—FH
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Bt 75 3R 2R B = ()
P B IAARKTITR)

11 FINANCE COSTS — NET

BZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

2022 F 20214
2022 2021
AR T AR®ET T
RMB’'000 RMB’000
A& WA Finance income
RITEHAAEFE WA Interest income from bank deposits 1,150 750
b & A Finance costs
HEBBZFEMX Interest expenses of lease liabilities
(Bt 5£26) (Note 26) (1,380) (634)
B ZHBRX Interest expenses of borrowings (2,720) (1,943)
(4,100) (2,577)
AMERK—FEHE Finance costs — net (2,950) (1,827)
FiEHER 12 INCOME TAX CREDIT
(a) BHEHRENKABHETAHE (a) Cayman Islands and BVI Income Tax
Fir 15 Bt
ARal-RAEHSEMAZ The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
M—RERRBERETRA as an exempted company with limited liability and
HERCHMNRASEHESMERN - accordingly, is exempted from Cayman Islands income
ARRIERBEBRRHENER tax. The Company's direct subsidiary in the BVI was
MEBARNDIEEEBER S incorporated under the International Business
(BB EERRE)EMAI - Companies Act of the BVI and, accordingly, is
WWERPBMNLBER RS exempted from British Virgin Islands income tax.
SR
(b) EEFEBH (b) Hong Kong Profits Tax

BEBEMEBHE R165% - B E
20226 R 2021 F12 AN B IEFE -
HRAEBETVEEFBETENE
FBFE - A EBF NG
ETIREE -

Hong Kong profits tax rate is 16.5%. No provision for
Hong Kong profits tax was provided as the Group did
not have assessable profit in Hong Kong during the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B 75 3R 3R Bt = ()
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (B B B 364N - A &Y AARE S| R)

12 Fi8HE % @)

(c)

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

RE R EAEB

2 o 8 o B 9 S 2 T 0 P 13
RERRERTEG BRI
B+ 54 79 B B 3T B R0
R EHE -

ARSI EBE A25% o

AARKBAREMNTZR &
EREROARAATZRDE
M8 BT % /B 1R B &8 72012
FREATASHTEMEE(S
M E]) - WHK2021F E#H
BE ZEEKN2024F128 5|
H-ZEBRNEZXEEMBME
5% RIBEERENE - ZH &
BRI BT & = 5 BT
EHREEK -

REBERPEMETHEAR S
019FBFENEMFEE]IE
B[ NEAMACEIEEZAR
BRANSEHRESZAED
BEMEHNE - 52022F 1R
1B E2024F12A318 - & B 1§
EEERVNBANEEARK
1,000,000 7T 2 2.5% & F - M #8 B
AR ¥ 1,000,000 KRR AR
3,000,000 7T &) F& &R B U A 12 5%
ME oAl ZEMB R NE
F2022% 1231 B IEFEE2.5%
3k 5% | 18 B P 15 W = 20 # (2021
F 1 25% 3, 10%) °

12

INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)

(c)

PRC Enterprise Income Tax

Income tax provision of the Group in respect of
operations in Mainland China has been calculated at
the applicable tax rate on the estimated assessable
profits for the year, based on the existing legislation,

interpretations and practices in respect thereof.
The general corporate income tax rate in PRC is 25%.

Guangzhou Xuan Wu Wireless Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Xuan Wu"), a subsidiary of the Company, had
applied to the relevant tax bureau and was granted
the qualification as High and New Technology
Enterprise (“HNTE") in 2012 and it has renewed the
qualification of HNTE in 2021, which will expire in
December 2024. It is subject to a preferential income
tax rate of 15%. Based on management’s assessment,
it is highly probable that Xuan Wu will continue to

meet the requirements of High-tech Enterprise.

Certain subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC were
qualified as “Small Low-Profit Enterprise” since 2019.
“Small Low-Profit Enterprise” was entitled to a
preferential income tax rate that was calculated in
accordance with the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. From 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2024,
the first RMB1,000,000 of the taxable income of
qualified entities are taxed at 2.5%, and the taxable
income above RMB1,000,000 and
RMB3,000,000 are taxed at 5%. Thus the subsidiaries
were subject to a preferential income tax rate of 2.5%
or 5% for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: 2.5%
or 10%).

less than

ZREHRERERAR
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12 MEHRER@® 12 INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)

(c)

FESERESH @ (c)

BAE2007 F 12 B 6 B B MmA(h %
FSTORBRGH) Kb EAR
F]2008F 1 A1 8 2 & EE /5 F
M E NI & E 5 8RR B R &K
MI10% KB FTEH - AR P
BB AR EEER AR
AMRKIRESE EFERER
Hh B2 58 2 8 80 B W 17 E 2 HE Y
A E - BIAE A 8K &5%
TEMAEHE-

PRC Enterprise Income Tax (Continued)

Pursuant to the Detailed Implementation Regulations
for Implementation of the Corporate Income Tax Law
issued on 6 December 2007, dividends distributed
from the profits generated by the PRC companies after
1 January 2008 to their foreign investors shall be
subject to this withholding income tax of 10%, a lower 5%
withholding income tax rate may be applied when the
immediate holding companies of the subsidiaries in
Mainland China are incorporated in Hong Kong and
fulfill the requirements to the tax treaty arrangements

between Mainland China and Hong Kong.

BZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

2022 F 20214

2022 2021

ARBFTRT ARETT

RMB’'000 RMB’000

BN HA pr7 13 At Current income tax 1 97
B 15 B (P 5E27) Deferred income tax (Note 27) (1,335) (2,968)
FgHE % Income tax credit (1,334) (2,871)
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SRR BREBIN FESBEHOUARETIR)

12 TEHRER@® 12 INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)

(c) PELERESH & (c) PRC Enterprise Income Tax (Continued)

REBBRBA(ER)  FE2R
BHEEAEAREEEREANEY
METAREARE 2 BRANEE
2@

The tax on the Group's (loss)/profit before tax differs
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the
weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of the

group entities as follows:

BZ12BA31HLEE

Year ended 31 December

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

2022 2021 4F
2022 2021
ARBT T ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
BET SR AT (E8), FIE  (Loss)/profit before income tax (36,302) 12,480
VAR BLAE TR E 25% 1 & Tax calculated at the statutory PRC tax
B B 3K rate of 25% (9,076) 3,120
UTZENHESZE Tax effects of:
—EANRAREERBENE — Effects of preferential tax rates
NAMEBEMETE applicable to PRC subsidiaries of
the Group 4,757 (647)
— A HIR R S — Expenses not deductible for tax
purposes 677 703
— R IR E TS — Tax losses and deductible temporary
& E EI’\] %R THEE & differences for which no deferred
AR EREER income tax asset was recognised 11,426 243
— B A LA ARERRTIE — Utilisation of previously unrecognised
B 18 tax losses (25) (28)
—EARMKEBAFKFE — The impact of change in tax rate
BErE applicable to subsidiaries (106) 143
—HERAINBENR — Super deduction of research and
(B &EG)) development expenses (Note(i)) (8,987) (6,405)
BT 15 i 35 2, Income tax credit (1,334) (2,871)

ZHERRERERA
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12 Fi8HE % @)

(c) FEILEFFRESH @

0]

BEBECERGSREREK
&) - B20084F #8 + A FF 1b
ERFAEBEFEM ME®
MBATTEMBEENHEER
FA R 55 50%H hn & #R -
2018 F 20234 » RIE G
[2018]99 5% 3 - %t Al A] A0 &+
HBREHEERERELSE
B)75% ° 202210418 =
2022 12R8318 B #& B
i [2022]28 5% 32 + i A 7] A0
AHBRABEBEBRAEREAE
BEH100% - ALt - ZREHE
20214E1 A1 2202249 A 30
B A1 A AT 8] A0 5t #0 BR A 2
ERBEREEBERNTSY% M
2022410 A1 H £20224 12
A318 AR ANETH1BR100% ©

BRERIBFE S /NG
¥ REREZE2021F12
A318 It F E 7] #3558 Al
MEtHMRAEERAT5%
HZE202F12A31BILFE
A] FR 55 L A ANET FOBR 100% ©

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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FrESBBENAARESIT)

12 INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)

(c) PRC Enterprise Income Tax (Continued)

(i)

According to the CIT laws and Detailed
Implementation Rules, an enterprise is allowed to
claim an additional deduction of 50% of research
and development expenses incurred for the
development of new technologies, new products
and new craftsmanship from 2008 onwards. From
2018 to 2023, according to Caishui [2018] No. 99 (B4
i [2018]99%5%), an extra 75% of the actual amount
of research and development expenses can be
deducted before tax. From 1 October 2022 to 31
December 2022, according to Caishui [2022] No.
28 (B1Fi [2022]285%), an extra 100% of the actual
amount of research and development expenses
can be deducted before tax. As a result, Xuan Wu
was subject to an extra 75% deduction of the
actual amount of research and development
expenses before tax from 1 January 2021 to 30
September 2022, and 100% from 1 October 2022
to 31 December 2022.

For those companies which were granted the
qualification as “Small and Medium-sized Sci-
tech Enterprise”, they could claim additional 75%
deduction of their research and development
expenses before tax during the years ended 31
December 2021 and a super deduction ratio of
100% during the years ended 31 December 2022.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B 75 3R 3R Bt = ()
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (B B B 364N - A &Y AARE S| R)

13 BR(EE) BF

(a)

(b)

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

BREL(ER) &F

B 22022 K& 202112 A31H 1k
FEMNSRELR(BR) BT
BRARNRHEAEAEE(ER),/
i I BR DA B 1T IR SN A @ AR N
EFEHHAE RETRTHE
AR E R AR N RE T B 5
Al 2021 F 4 A 268 - 2021 F
8 A38 &2022F 6 A 158 % 17 &Y
1,000 8% f% 15 ~ 52,592,000 i% A% 15 K
473,337,000 3% % 17 (M 5 22(a)) %
RIEE2021F1A1BRE 17
BMUOARREEREFEMAKL -

13 (LOSSES)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Basic (losses)/earnings per share

The basic (losses)/earnings per share is calculated by
dividing the (loss)/profit attributable to owners of the
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021. In determining the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding, the 1,000
shares, 52,592,000 shares and 473,337,000 shares
issued on 26 April 2021, 3 August 2021 and 15 June
2022 (Note 22(a)), were deemed to be issued on 1
January 2021 as if the Company has been incorporated
by then.

BZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

2022 F 20214
2022 2021
KRAEHEAE ANEE (EE), (Loss)/profit attributable to owners of
BWAABRETF T the Company (RMB'000) (35,676) 14,513
FARIEE BT E B Weighted average number of ordinary
IR FEHE(FR) shares deemed to be in issue (in
thousands) 542,437 525,930
FRNARRABIHEAE AEMN Basic (losses)/earnings per share
FIREN(EE) BT attributable to the owners of
(AEBBRAR®EZ|R) the Company during the year
(expressed in RMB per share) (0.066) 0.028

BREBE(HE) &R

BREE (BB /B TEBRE
BATHEINE BARNIE T HE AR
ERVEMMBETCBELT AR
WERRETTET H - AR B E 2022
FR2021%F 12831 B It FE W&
BITEIINEEHE ST ER W
SREE (BB BIERER
BEAR (BB BF -

(b) Diluted (losses)/earnings per share

Diluted (losses)/earnings per share is calculated by
adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares. Diluted (losses)/earnings per
share is equal to basic (losses)/earnings per share as
there were no potential diluted ordinary shares
outstanding during the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021.

ZHREREERER AR
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14 ¥ BERRE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
5 75 8 & Bt o ()

AR AARKESIR)

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

ERR i NS HE
ETHE CEVET MERE Bt
Computer and
electronic  Office furniture Leasehold
equipment and equipment  improvements Total
ARETTT ARETT ARETT ARET T
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
H%2021%12831H  Year ended 31 December
EEE 2021
HORESE Opening net book amount 4,130 38 784 4,952
NE Additions 1,465 690 4128 6,283
& Disposals (326) 31) (556) 913)
TEER Depreciation charge (1,622) (21) (305) (1,948)
HAREmTE Closing net book amount 3,647 676 4,051 8,374
R2021%12A31H At 31 December 2021
A Cost 11,897 793 4,183 16,873
Bt E Accumulated depreciation (8,250) 117) (132) (8,499)
RHESE Net book amount 3,647 676 4,051 8,374
HZ2022%12A318  Year ended 31 December
LEE 2022
HEESE Opening net book amount 3,647 676 4,051 8,374
NE Additions 1,360 76 406 1,842
HE Disposals (29) (3) — (32)
nEER Depreciation charge (1,254) (234) (925) (2,413)
HREREFE Closing net book amount 3,724 515 3,532 7,771
W2022%12831H At 31 December 2022
B AR Cost 12,629 767 4,589 17,985
Bt E Accumulated depreciation (8,905) (252) (1,057) (10,214)
BEEFE Net book amount 3,724 515 3,532 7,771
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
5 75 8 2% Bt o ()

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (B B B 364N - A &Y AARE S| R)

14 Y% BERZE@ 14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

WERYERES2EmMARPT Depreciation expenses were charged to the following

LA TRl categories in the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income:

BZE12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

2022 % 20214

2022 2021

AR®T T AR®EFIT

RMB’'000 RMB’000

Fi=K=—07 97\ Cost of sales 269 160

iHE Ko iH X Selling and distribution expenses 292 201

THAX Administrative expenses 739 871

i 2 Research and development expenses 1,113 716

2,413 1,948

2022 202112 A31H @ i & R No property, plant and equipment is restricted or pledged
Sl BEBHERYE - - MERSEE B as security for liabilities as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

REHEIE-

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited ZRERIIZEIRAR AT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
5 75 8 & Bt o ()

AR AARKESIR)

15 FREEE 15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
WAE
Offices
AR T T
RMB'000
BZE2021F12831BLLFEE Year ended 31 December 2021
HY) R E F1E Opening net book amount 7,435
NE Additions 34,361
HEEZH Depreciation charge (9,843)
HIRAREFE Closing net book amount 31,953
R2021%F12H31H At 31 December 2021
DN Cost 37,693
25t E Accumulated depreciation (5,740)
BREFEE Net book amount 31,953
BZE2022F12831BLLFE Year ended 31 December 2022
BV BRmE F1E Opening net book amount 31,953
NE Additions 1,596
WEEH Depreciation charge (8,842)
HIRARE S E Closing net book amount 24,707
R2022F12H31H At 31 December 2022
DN Cost 35,534
i Accumulated depreciation (10,827)
R FE Net book amount 24,707
Annual Report 2022 =% — —FF3f
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B 75 3R 3R Bt = ()
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (B B B 364N - A &Y AARE S| R)

15 FRAEEE @ 15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)
WERSERGEEAEEARERTP I X Depreciation expenses were charged to the following
LA TR categories in the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income:

BZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

2022 F 20214

2022 2021

AR T AR®ET T

RMB’000 RMB’000

85 6 AR Cost of sales 715 616

$HE &5 iHR Selling and distribution expenses 3,459 3,688

THAX Administrative expenses 2,929 3,434

25 & Research and development expenses 1,739 2,105

8,842 9,843

R20224 N2021F12A31H - #E &R No right-of-use assets was restricted or pledged as security
Slek B R REZE - B KM for liabilities as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

BfE-
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
5 75 8 & Bt o ()
FIESBRHUAREIIT)

16 BREE 16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
HE
4 ¥a (Kf £ (a)) st
Goodwill

Software Platform (Note(a)) Total
AREBTT AREFTT ARBFTRT ARETT
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

#HZ2021%E12A31H Year ended 31 December

ItEE 2021
HOE®FE Opening net book amount 3,329 1,288 10,490 15,107
NE Additions 803 — = 803
HiE A Amortisation charge (1,153) (644) — (1,797)
HRERE F & Closing net book amount 2,979 644 10,490 14,113
R2021F12H318 At 31 December 2021

BN Cost 5,044 2,844 10,490 18,378
RE Accumulated amortisation (2,065) (2,200) - (4,265)
R FE Net book amount 2979 644 10,490 14,113

B Z2022%12A31H Year ended 31 December

IEFE 2022
YR E FE Opening net book amount 2,979 644 10,490 14,113
NE Additions 597 — — 597
HIHEH Amortisation charge (1,344) (644) — (1,988)
HIRAREHE Closing net book amount 2,232 — 10,490 12,722
M2022%512H318 At 31 December 2022

% 7N Cost 5,641 2,844 10,490 18,975
RETEH Accumulated amortisation (3,409) (2,844) — (6,253)
RHEFEE Net book amount 2,232 — 10,490 12,722

Annual Report 2022

—EC_FFR 193



194

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Bt 35 3R 2} Y = ()

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (B B B 364N - A &Y AARE S| R)

16 BXLEE @ 16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

BHAXERFEAEERERTIIX
R TR

Amortisation expenses were charged to the following

categories in the consolidated statements of comprehensive

income:
BZE12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December
2022 F 20214
2022 2021
AR T AR®ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
Fi=K=—07 97\ Cost of sales 683 676
$HE &5 iHR Selling and distribution expenses 245 121
THAX Administrative expenses 471 522
i 2 Research and development expenses 589 478
1,988 1,797

20224 %2021 E12 A31 8 » #5 & R 41
NEHEMERLEE  AAKBEE-

(a) BEBRERNR

A B #10,490,0007C H) 75 & 2 45
FTEZNKERENENEBAE
BREERAR(EAD IS
Rz ERBMEEAZNE
EFERKEBRBHNA R ENSI
Do EREREAEAMEENGES
BERREBEENEBRSE
GEMEREREE - D REME
AR EEEMTHEE N
EITRE R °

No intangible assets was restricted or pledged as security
for liabilities as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

(@) Impairment test for goodwill

The goodwill of RMB10,490,000 represents the excess
of the acquisition consideration transferred and
amount of non-controlling interests in Guangzhou
Dejiu Information Technology Co., Ltd. (“Dejiu”) over
the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired as
at the acquisition date. Goodwill is monitored by the
management at the level of voice and video
communication capabilities business CGU related to
Dejiu. Goodwill has been assessed based on the

related CGU for impairment testing.

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited ZRERIIZEIRAR AT
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BILEE @
(a) FEEBREERN &

TRIREREREIT202F K&
202112 A31 AW 2R E A &
ﬁﬁ%ﬁl\\/ﬁ\ﬁéﬁfﬁimﬁ’g E‘JE’]RIE
AR EE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Bt 35 3R 2} By = ()

ZHEERIN B2 EHAARKEIITR)

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(a)

Impairment test for goodwill (Continued)

The following table sets forth each key assumption on
which management has based its 5 years cash flow
projections to undertake impairment testing of
goodwill as at 31 December 2022 and 2021:

MW12A31H
As at 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
TEORI HR A FF IR R K Annual growth rate of revenue during
the projection period 15% 5%—15%

T8 B 50 E ) (16 i 2

Gross margin during the projection

ERa) period (% of revenue) 51%-54% 50%-51%
REIER X Long term growth rate 3% 3%
& %4 Al B IR K Pre-tax discount rate 20% 20%
MR2022F12H318 AR EE As at 31 December 2022, the recoverable amount of

HEMRANESEMGEER
ReELBEMNREHBENOARE
41,732,0007T (2021 12 A 31 8 :
AR #32221,00070) - BB & E 4
BMAKEeBELREEAE
Bt EREMBERE - Xt HEHE
EXRAEERAEHBERE 2 E
EBNEENRRBESRENE
ERIRE - U ERE-

R2022%12 8318 © & 2 R/ &
B PRSB®ER DD B A&43%
(2021412 A 318 : 35%)

IBE2BUESEBREELE
fIfEmERBRE AT REEENE
12 Al gE &

RE2 BRI 20225 K 2021 612 A 31
AFFEMATRESE  AARE
ERA/NATI A BET o B
R 1 4 4

\\

the CGU in Dejiu is estimated to exceed the carrying
amount of the CGU by approximately RMB41,732,000 (31
December 2021: RMB32,221,000).
amount of the CGU is determined based on VIU

calculations. The calculation requires the Group to

Such recoverable

estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from
CGU and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate

the present value.

As at 31 December 2022, the percentage of headroom
in the goodwill impairment test is 43% (31 December
2021: 35%).

There is no reasonably possible change in key
parameters that would cause the carrying amount of

the CGU to exceed its recoverable amount.

By reference to the recoverable amount assessed as at
31 December 2022 and 2021, the directors of the
Company determined that no impairment provision on
goodwill was required as at 31 December 2022 and
2021.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B 75 3R 3R Bt = ()
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (B B B 364N - A &Y AARE S| R)

17 ZEHESINEMTHE 17 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
MK12A31H8
As at 31 December
2022 F 20214
2022 2021
ARMEF T AR®ET T
RMB’'000 RMB'000
BRBEREHERWEBMEE Financial assets at amortised cost
B S EUGRIE - EIWEIE & Trade, bill and other receivables (excluding
E b i W sk T8 (1) FE prepayments to suppliers, prepaid taxes
YEH MR FXIE ~ FB and deferred listing expenses) (Note 19)
BIE FORIE T R < R AN
(MtEE19) 300,826 280,036
< PR #1138 & (B 55 20) Restricted cash (Note 20) 3,589 1
HWENIBEEEY (MsE21)  Cash and cash equivalents (Note 21) 160,972 88,256
465,387 368,293
BEAARBEFABZENESH Financial assets at fair value through
BE profit or loss — 21,476
465,387 389,769
BB ATERNWERMEME Financial liabilities at amortised cost
&R (M 5E24) Borrowings (Note 24) 88,481 58,480
BSENMNFKIE  EMNZEENK  Trade, bill and other payables (excluding
HibpEatam (EHE R accrued payroll and other taxes payables)
H A FE A B TR R A1) (Note 25)
(Bt 5E25) 68,502 108,961
HE B & (KM 5E26) Lease liabilities (Note 26) 28,083 31,880
185,066 199,321
18 SREBH R 18 CONTRACT FULFILMENT COSTS
M®12H31H
As at 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
ARMTF T AR®ET T
RMB’'000 RMB’000
A Al & 4 B A Contract fulfilment costs 10,317 5,587
ARBYAKATERIFHIBEARE Contract fulfilment costs mainly comprise the implementation
BEHENEHRKA - BREBERERK cost directly related to an existing contract that will be used
BHEAE - to satisfy performance obligations in the future.

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited ZRERFEIERAR AR



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
BF 75 3R 3R Bt =E ()
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (fx BB 1EBH4N - FiA & BHAA REF|R)

19 ESEWEE - EWEEK 19 TRADE, BILL AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

H ft fE W R R R T A IR AND PREPAYMENTS
M®12H31H
As at 31 December
2022 & 2021 4
2022 2021
AR® T AR®T T
RMB’'000 RMB'000
2 5 W KIE Trade receivables
—F =7 (FaEd) — Third parties (Note (d)) 306,349 278,303
B ESEWFIERERE  Less: allowance for impairment of
trade receivables (21,367) (14,050)
284,982 264,253
e U = 4% Bill receivable
—F£=7 — Third parties 228 —
H b & W 518 Other receivables
—F =7 (MsE b)) — Third parties (Note (b)) 15,797 15,957
B E At UK IE R B RS  Less: allowance for impairment of other
receivables (181) (174)
15,616 15,783
) i P 71 T < BRIB Prepayments to suppliers
—F£=7 (M) — Third parties (Note (c)) 140,859 86,666
e R A Prepaid taxes 2,776 1,990
IRIE WX Deferred listing expenses — 956
48 =t Total 444,461 369,648
B TR RIESE R BB Less: non-current portion of prepayments (248) (336)
B HREWTE - EWZEIE K Current portion of trade, bill and
H At fE WK IE I TR AN 3R IE other receivables and prepayments
m B A D 444,213 369,312
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B 75 3R 3R Bt = ()
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (B B B 364N - A &Y AARE S| R)

19 EZRKFE BEREER
H {th FE W 78 K& T8 AT 7OE )

(a)

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

MN2022F /20215128318 » &
SEWRE  EREE&EARE
W sk 18 & FE A FRIE Th LA A R B
sHE -

ERRFE=THEMBEKFAETE

ERECARERES °

FAHERENRBATIERRANE
ERXREMBMARAX -

REB—REAEZELRLNF30
REORKEEH - H20225F &
2021 12A31 AWM E 5 W RIE
ERBRBHAERSTAOT :

19 TRADE, BILL AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

(a)

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the trade, bill and
other receivables and prepayment were denominated
in RMB.

Other receivables due from third parties mainly

represent deposits and tender deposits.

Prepayments to suppliers mainly represents prepaid
telecommunication expenses and other prepaid

expenses.

The Group normally allows credit terms to its
customers ranging from 30 to 90 days. Ageing analysis
of the trade receivables as at 31 December 2022 and

2021, based on recognition date were as follows:

M12H31H
As at 31 December
2022 F 2021 4F
2022 2021
AR¥T T ARE&ET T
RMB'000 RMB’000
IR Ageing
THB=1A Up to 3 months 201,722 218,343
=Z/N@A 3 to 6 months 39,801 34,833
NEARE—F 6 months to 1 year 42,370 14,303
—EWE 1 to 2 years 14,313 2,901
N A Over 2 years 8,143 7,923
306,349 278,303

REBRABLEFERBEAVE
REERBFEIRHAENEBEHEER
BB e B - 72022512 A 31
H pESEKRFELABELD
B B A R ¥ 21,367,000 7T (2021
F12A318 : A R #14,050,000
7t) (B 5E3.1.2) °

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9. As
at 31 December 2022, a provision of RMB21,367,000 (31
December 2021: RMB14,050,000) was made against

the gross amounts of trade receivables (Note 3.1.2).
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20 ZRHBEE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
5 75 8 & Bt o ()

20 RESTRICTED CASH

FrESBBENAARESIT)

M12H31H
As at 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
ARET T ARBEFTT
RMB'000 RMB’000
DAR¥IE Denominated in RMB
R #3R & Restricted cash 3,589 1

F2022F12 318 - XR &R

BRENZENRES -

21 RERBEEEY

As at 31 December 2022, the restricted cash mainly

comprised of guarantee deposits for bill payable.

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

MW12H31H
As at 31 December
2022%F 20214
2022 2021
ARBT AR®EFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
RITER Cash at bank 160,972 88,256
JIEE W . Denominated in:
AR — RMB 129,172 88,256
— BT — HK$ 31,777 —
— Xt — US$ 23 —
160,972 88,256
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B %5 3R 3% BY & ()

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (k& 2 & 583 4| -

22 RARKRMGEE

FBESRAAARESIR)

22 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

(a) BZA (a) Share capital
ZEREAR fi% 2%
Number of
ordinary shares  Share capital
S
US$'000
EE Authorised
2021 F4 A 26 R As at 26 April 2021 (date of

(NRABFEMAZBH)  incorporation of the Company)

2021512 A31H and 31 December 2021 500,000,000 50
M2022F1H1H As at 1 January 2022 500,000,000 50
1 18 (f 52 37)) Addition (Note (i) 500,000,000 50
2022512 H31H As at 31 December 2022 1,000,000,000 100

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Bt 75 3R 2R B = ()
P B IAARKTITR)

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

(a) Share capital (Continued)

22 AR s E @) 22
(Continued)
(a) B )
() MRIERER202266H15H (i)

BBHRER EFERK
i 1B 1 5% 500,000,000 A% A% 17
# 1 = 100,000 7T ° 9 B
1,000,000,000 A% A% 17 -
MERMEME H @R
BEERTRHNEBERSE
Hb A7 I BB A AR o

Ar A
Z% 5

Pursuant to the resolutions of the shareholders
passed on 15 June 2022, authorised share capital
increased to US$100,000, divided into
1,000,000,000 shares by the creation of additional
500,000,000 shares, all of which shall rank equally
in all respects with the existing shares in issue

with immediate effect.

EBERHE RE FERX
Number of Equivalent
ordinary Share share
shares capital capital
FET ARETTT
US$'000 RMB’000
28T Issued
202154 A 26 R As at 26 April 2021
(R R EEM Az (date of incorporation of
HE) the Company) 1,000 = —
MmN A AR 21T Issue of ordinary shares to the
LA shareholders of the company 52,592,000 5 34
A2021%E12831H As at 31 December 2021 52,593,000 5 34
M2022F181H As at 1 January 2022 52,593,000 5 34

BhE AL B TE4T  Issue of shares in connection with

&% 17 (B 7 (i) the capitalisation issue (Note (i) 473,337,000 47 303
FLARAT EHETT  Issue of shares in connection with

B 5 (BT 5 Gii)) the Company’s listing (Note (i) 34,390,500 3 23
A 2022F12H31H As at 31 December 2022 560,320,500 55 360
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B 75 3R 3R Bt = ()
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (B B B 364N - A &Y AARE S| R)

22 BRAR G EE @

(a) B (@)

(ii)

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

202256 A158 » A R A
BBRBERNRDF KD EER
AaEE((2REE]) %
1S AR 1% 1% € %847,000E 7T
(#49 A R #303,0007T) & X
ftmmEBREBZ ABIT
473,337,000 1% & i@ Ik (& AR
A {80.0001 % JT) °

202247 H8H K A &
A a2XBEEMEER
b2UBETHEBERETA H
34,390,500 )8 ™ {& 0.0001
ExmERR BERER
214,597,000 7T (49 A KR #&
183,480,000 7T ) (K 1 B A% 1n
BITHRAR) - BBERARAE
ERTERREEEMGD
A R #12,877,0007T # i 15
BT AKEE R B KRG &
BB -

RERNEETREREE
TR - ARRBIHE EIT
17 48 8138 = 560,320,500 % ©

22 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

(Continued)

(a) Share capital (Continued)

(ii)

ZREHRERERAR

On 15 June 2022, the Company issued
473,337,000 ordinary shares (US$0.0001 each) to
ordinary owners by way of capitalisation of
US$47,000 (approximately RMB303,000)
conditional on the share premium amount of the
Company being credited as a result of the global
offering (the “Global Offering”).

On 8 July 2022, the Company issued a total of
34,390,500 ordinary shares at par value of
US$0.0001 and at a price of HK$6.24 per share for
a total consideration of HK$214,597,000
(approximately RMB183,480,000) in aggregate
(without deducting share issuance costs) as a
result of the completion of the Global Offering.
Share issuance costs of RMB12,877,000 that were
directly attributable to the issuance of ordinary
shares in connection with the initial public
offering were treated as a deduction from share

premium.

Number of total issued shares of the Company
was increased to 560,320,500 shares upon
completion of the capitalisation issue and the
Global Offering.



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
BF 75 3R 3R Bt =E ()
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (fx BB 1EBH4N - FiA & BHAA REF|R)

22 RARKGEE @ 22 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM
(Continued)
(b) Rip=E (b) Share premium
P& 17 35 &
Share
premium
AR T T
RMB'000
MA2021F4H26H (KA A At 26 April 2021 (date of incorporation of
=8 BL 2 B H) the Company) —
SERE 4 Completion of the Reorganization 269,292
72021512831 H At 31 December 2021 269,292
M2022F1H1H8 As at 1 January 2022 269,292
& AR EBEITEITR G Issue of shares in connection with
(B 3% (a)(i)) the capitalisation issue (Note (a)(ii)) (303)
AR F ETEITRR G, Issue of shares in connection with
(B 5 (a)Gi)) the Company'’s listing (Note (a)(ii)) 183,457
A% 1 2% 77 A 2N (BT 3 (b)G)) Share issurance costs (Note (b)(i)) (12,877)
R2022512H31H As at 31 December 2022 439,569
i) MWHBEITIRAEZEBERK (i)  Share issuance cost mainly included share
mBEEEe  EENER - H underwriting commissions, lawyers’ fees,
HRetMEALRE FTA reporting accountant's fee and other related
AR H b AR RE AR AN o BT costs associated with the listing. Incremental
A1) B E ES R = K costs that were directly attributable to the issue
N A K #12,877,000 7T 1 15 of the new shares amounting RMB12,877,000 was
BEBTEERMDEERN treated as a deduction against the share premium
IR ° arising from the issuance.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B %5 3R 3% BY & ()

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (k& 2 & 583 4| -

FBESRAAARESIR)

23 HihfEE 23 OTHER RESERVES
EHERX EXfRE OHERE LERE BiEE
Combined Capital Merger  Statutory Total
capital reserves reserves reserves reserves
ARBTT ARBTT AR®TT AR®TI ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
M2021F181H As at 1 January 2021 52,593 189,979 — 3,197 245,769
B A TE A Appropriation of statutory
reserves — — — 3,629 3,629
SERX E Completion of the
Reorganisation (52,593) (189,979 (26,720) — (269,292)
R2021%F12A31H As at 31 December 2021 — — (26,720) 6,826 (19,894)
R2022%1818 As at 1 January 2022 — — (26,720) 6,826 (19,894)
B A E A Appropriation of statutory
reserves — — — 218 218
12022 12H31H As at 31 December 2022 — — (26,720) 7,044 (19,676)
24 B 24 BORROWINGS
M12H31H
As at 31 December
2022 % 20214
2022 2021
AR®ETF T AR® T T
RMB’'000 RMB’000
BN HA Current
WITERX Bank borrowings 88,481 58,480

(@) M2022F12A31H ' FTHRITE
HEBEARRBER -

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited ZRERIIZEIRAR AT

(a)

As at 31 December 2022, all bank borrowings were

guaranteed by the Company.



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
BF 75 3R 3R Bt =E ()
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (& 2B ERIN - AL B AA RESR)

24 ﬁélt 7?5’\(%) 24 BORROWINGS (Continued)
(b) M20224%F K2021F 128318 » fE (b) As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the borrowings
BERIT were repayable as follows:
M®12831H8
As at 31 December
20224 20214F
2022 2021
ARMF T AR®T T
RMB’000 RMB'000
—F K Within 1 year 88,481 58,480
(€ fEFREYINKEFIHERENXEF (c) The weighted average effective interest rates per
(N annum of borrowings were as follows:
M®12H31H8
As at 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
RITE Bank borrowings 2.43% 3.29%

(d) M202F12A318 - REBABTRE (d) The amounts of unused banking facilities As at 31
E 4% B AR 120,000,000 7T (2021 December 2022 are RMB120,000,000 (31 December
F12A31H : AR%65,000,0007T) ° 2021: RMB65,000,000).

(e) 20229 K2021512A318 © Fr (e) As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, all borrowings were
HEZIHUARESE - < 5|2 denominated in RMB. Due to the short-term maturities,
BSREmy HEEESEAmEE their carrying amount is considered to be the same as
NAREHEE - their fair value.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Bt 35 3R 2} Y = ()

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (B B B 364N - A &Y AARE S| R)

25 BE5 RERHEMENRE 25 TRADE, BILL AND OTHER PAYABLES
Mm12H831H
As at 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
ARET ARETTT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
2 5 BN RIE Trade payables
—E =7 (Mt5E@) — Third parties (Note (a)) 48,327 94,133
H b & 1~ 5RI8 Other payables
—F=7 — Third parties 18,417 14,828
& R & Bill payable
—EH=7 — Third parties 1,758 —
BT & Accrued payroll 30,808 25,621
H b & A< 7 18 Other tax payables 4,778 3,793
35,586 29,414
104,088 138,375
@ ENE=FTHEZENRETE (@) Trade payable due to third parties mainly represents

ERNEEHRS REMRSEHE

A& -

M2022F K 2021412 A31H » &
S e RIEE AR B E Y R iR

rental fees payables.

telecommunication expenses payables and server

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the ageing analysis
of the trade payables based on recognition date are as

DT : follows:
M®12H8318
As at 31 December
2022 5 20214
2022 2021
AR®T T AREF T
RMB'000 RMB'000
IR iR Ageing
THEE=1EA Up to 3 months 19,911 86,604
=EXEA 3 to 6 months 1,281 899
~E B A B Over 6 months 27,135 6,630
48,327 94,133

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

ZHREREERER AR
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26 HE

(a) RGEEUMBRRRERMN

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
5 75 8 & Bt o ()

26 LEASES

AR AARKESIR)

(a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated

k] statements of financial position
M®12H31H
As at 31 December
2022 % 2021 4F
2022 2021
AR T AR®ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ERAEEE Right-of-use assets
1% (K3E15) Properties (Note 15) 24,707 31,953
HEEE Lease liabilities
& Current 9,918 7,644
IE T B Non-current 18,165 24,236
28,083 31,880

b) REEE2EHKERBEIMN

(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated

-] statements of comprehensive income
BZ12A31BLEE
Year ended 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR®T T AR®ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
TEER Depreciation charge
Y% (K3E15) Properties (Note 15) 8,842 9,843
FEFZ (GF AR ERKZA) Interest expenses (included in finance
(PEzE11) costs) (Note 11) 1,380 634
HEBRHEERENRX Expenses relating to short-term leases
GtAEE R DA (included in selling and distribution
RATBEX) (EE7) expense and administrative expenses)
(Note 7) 486 115
HENRELRS AL Cash outflows for lease payments 7,259 10,890
Annual Report 2022 =% — —FF3f
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
5o 7% 3 2 Bt o (4D

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (k& 2 & 583 4| -

26 HE @)

(c)

(d)

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

AEEZHERFHUARNM
ARBEBEER

AEEHEETHAZT - PARE
MEAEENBEER —EAF-
HEGFRRENEERZ B2
REZENGRA LGN -FHEE
ENA AIEERERY -

FEFA R 48 LR IE

AEBENHEOFHRESRILE
MIEHETE - WEREBNER
HREBEAKELEMREE
mME AIRAREMEREER
& e

FBESRAAARESIR)

26 LEASES (Continued)

(c)

(d)

The Group's leasing activities and how these
are accounted for

The Group leases certain offices. Rental contracts for
offices are typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 5
years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual
basis and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. Leased assets may not be used as security

for borrowing purposes.

Extension and termination options

No termination and extension options are included in
the leases across the Group. These are used to
maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing

the assets used in the Group's operations.

ZHREREERER AR
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27 EEFFBH

i A V& 2 £ AT R AT RO BE A 5 B ER PR 15
MEESENBAAEHAERE  BE
EEFTSHER —HBEKEER - A
ARREEMSHEERAFEEE -

A MBIRRRIREBED T

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
5 75 8 & Bt o ()

27 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

AR AARKESIR)

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current income
tax assets against current income tax liabilities and when the

deferred income taxes relate to the same tax authority.

The amounts are shown on the consolidated statements of

financial position as follows:

M12A31H8
As at 31 December
20224 20214F
2022 2021
AR® T T ARBEFTT
RMB'000 RMB'000
EELEFFEBHEE Deferred income tax assets:
—#RE 1218 A 2 & U El — to be recovered after more than
12 months 6,416 6,445
— 1218 A R Y@ — to be recovered within 12 months 3,464 2,180
— IR IE K S5 15 SO SRR T — Set-off of deferred income tax
EHRARE liabilities pursuant to set-off
provisions (113) (161)
9,767 8,464
EEFEHAE : Deferred income tax liabilities:
— & RE 1218 A 2 & U E — to be recovered after more than
12 months — —
— B 121E A AU E — to be recovered within 12 months (113) (193)
— IR IE I $H 5 S K 3 — Set-off of deferred income tax
liabilities pursuant to set-off
provisions 113 161
— (32)
9,767 8,432
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Bt 35 3R 2} Y = ()

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (B B B 364N - A &Y AARE S| R)

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

27 EERBH @ 27

B E202F R2021E12A831B IEEE -
BEEFMSHEENZSHNT (Kt &
A — R A5 Bl R B9 4 R4 8H ) -

DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

The movement in deferred income tax assets during the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, without taking
into consideration the offsetting of balances within the same

tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

RIREE REEBE HE et
Allowance
on doubtful

debts Tax losses Lease Total

ARBETT AREBETIT ARBTIT AR®TT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

M2021F1H1H As at 1 January 2021 1,390 4,247 — 5,637
STAE&S Credited to profit or loss 789 2,199 = 2,988
72021512 A31H As at 31 December
2021 2,179 6,446 — 8,625
MA2022F1H1H  Asat 1 January 2022 2,179 6,446 — 8,625
A8 8) Credited/(charged) to
B profit or loss 1,014 (30) 271 1,255
72022512 A 31 H As at 31 December
2022 3,193 6,416 271 9,880

2022812 A31 8 - B & B 5£2.19(b)
FIEgstE ~NEEHEMRAH
A E 18 A R #101,718,0007T (2021 6 12
A318 : AR%19,232,0007T) ## R i
EHRERE TRABHEAEER
REBRRTAAGEEENESAERE
TUAEEA BT E - B R e R
T SR T8 5 48 7% 72 2023 FF = 2032 4F |
H - mMASHE EBEXHEERA
BHARERTIEEER ERPEE -

As at 31 December 2022, in accordance with the accounting
policy set out in Note 2.19(b), the Group has not recognised
deferred tax assets in respect of cumulative tax losses of
RMB101,718,000 (31 December 2021: RMB19,232,000), as it
is not probable that future taxable profits against which the
losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax
jurisdiction and entity. Unrecognized tax losses in mainland
China will expire from 2023 to 2032 and unrecognized tax
losses in Cayman Islands, British Virgin Islands and Hong

Kong can be carried forward indefinitely.

ZHREREERER AR
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(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (& 2B ERIN - AL B AA RESR)

\E 7 FT 18 B ) 27 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

H E20224F K2021E 128318 1IF &
B rEEMGHREENEHU T (R
SR — B E AR AR )

The movement in deferred income tax liabilities during the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, without taking
into consideration the offsetting of balances within the same

tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

BARMERA
BRNEH
EREEER EERER EBAH
HESFEEE AABENSEFRE ELEMRER At
Net fair value
gain on
investments  Revaluation
Net of right- in financial surplus
of use assets assets at fair  arising from
and lease  value through business
liabilities profit or loss combinations Total
ARE T ARBTT ARETRT ARETZT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
20211818 As at 1 January 2021 (16) (30) (127) (173)
(K% B), FtAE#  (Charged)/credited to
profit or loss (43) 41) 64 (20)
R2021%12H831H  Asat 31 December 2021 (59) (71) (63) (193)
M2022F€181H As at 1 January 2022 (59) (71) (63) (193)
(MBrBE) FtABZE (Charged)/credited to
profit or loss (54) 71 63 80
M2022%F12H318 Asat 31 December 2022 (113) — — (113)

202212 A31H - L EFL BB 1#E
RIEE AT 1S W & & A K #3,988,000
T W E RN R R T IR R B E 20224
ANBIEFENNBHPENE R
AIAREHANMAE WERKUEER
WEDREBRASEZES BESEE
BREARMNEABREORRTISE
RER NS BE - BI T2 BRELEMG
MBRE-

As at 31 December 2022, deferred income tax liabilities of
RMB3,988,000 have not been recognised for the withholding
tax that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of
subsidiaries in the PRC based on the profits for the year
ended 31 December 2022. Deferred income tax liability is
not recognised where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary difference is controlled by the Group and the
directors have confirmed that such earnings will not be
distributed out of the PRC in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B 75 3R 3R Bt = ()
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (B B B 364N - A &Y AARE S| R)

28 B 28 DIVIDEND

EECUWERZREHZE2022F12 A
3MTHIEFERRRE (20214 : ££) -

No dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022 has
been proposed by the board of directors (2021: nil).

29 HERhER 29 CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(a) BEFMARSE

(a) Cash used in operations

BZE12831BLFE

Year ended 31 December

2022 F 2021 4
2022 2021
ARBFTRT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB'000
BEr AR AT (BE) FE  (Loss)/profit before income tax (36,302) 12,480
HATEEELFAE : Adjustments for:
— ¥ BELZEITE — Depreciation of property, plant and
(Mf3E14) equipment (Note 14) 2,413 1,948
—ERAEEERE — Depreciation of right-of-use assets
(FFaE15) (Note 15) 8,842 9,843
—EEE#H (H5E16) — Amortisation of intangible assets
(Note 16) 1,988 1,797
—SREERBEBE — Net impairment losses on financial
FEE (M 5E3.1.2) assets (Note 3.1.2) 7,346 5,370
—HEWE BER — Losses on disposal of property,
HEREE (HFE10) plant and equipment (Note 10) 32 913
— & B Yz F 8 (H3E10)  — Net foreign exchange gain
(Note 10) (3,564) —
—RARBEFABRRD — Net fair value gains on investment
TRMEEREANE in financial assets at fair value
Wz % 28 (Fi 3% 10) through profit or loss (Note 10) (1,293) (1,209)
— &R AN FEEE (M5E11) — Finance costs — net (Note 11) 2,950 1,827
(17,588) 32,969
LEES#EE: Changes in working capital:
— & A B 4 R AN — Contract fulfilment cost (4,730) 2,037
—&aREE — Contract assets (272) 279
— B S RRFIE - B — Trade, bill and other receivables
TR I B pE Y R IE and prepayments
SERNE O (83,203) (74,272)
—AawaE — Contract liabilities (838) (2,097)
— 25 FERKEM — Trade, bill and other payables
JE < 5k 18 (34,148) 22,937
—XRHIRE — Restricted Cash (3,588) 37
EEMARSE Cash used in operations (144,367) (18,110)

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

ZHREREERER AR
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(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (fx BB 1EBH4N - FiA & BHAA REF|R)

29 BERER @)
b) BMETHELECEBYHIER

29 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities generated from
financing activities

H 1t fE
NHE—
R HEGE B st
Other
payables
Leases  — related
Borrowings liabilities parties Total
AREFTT ARETT ARETRT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
202151818 As at 1 January 2021 39,512 7,660 5 47,177
Ben Cash flows
—REEIRA — Inflow from financing
activities 88,258 — 125 88,383
—mEEPRE — Outflow from financing
activities (71,233) (10,775) (130) (82,138)
FRe# Non-cash changes
—lE—HE — Acquisition — leases — 34,361 — 34,361
—ERRBERL — Finance expense
recognised — 634 — 634
— EETFI B — Accrued interest 1,943 — — 1,943
R2021%12831H As at 31 December 2021 58,480 31,880 — 90,360
R2022F181H As at 1 January 2022 58,480 31,880 — 90,360
Han Cash flows
—RERPRA — Inflow from financing
activities 128,920 — — 128,920
—RERPR L — Outflow from financing
activities (101,639) (6,773) — (108,412)
kRe2H Non-cash changes —
—hE—HE — Acquisition — leases — 1,596 — 1,596
—CHERARERX — Finance expense
recognised — 1,380 — 1,380
— B A — Accrued interest 2,720 — — 2,720
M2022F12831H As at 31 December 2022 88,481 28,083 — 116,564
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B 75 3R 3R Bt = ()
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (B B B 364N - A &Y AARE S| R)

30 &g

31

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

(a) M2022%F K2021%E12 8318 » K
EEMETHEKRNE RNEERLK
BHEFAYE-

(b) XEEHE

R 20224F K 202112 A31H » &
SEMETMNERSIABAE-

L X5

M—FREmEEKREEEN S T
HER—FEHRM B REERKE I
MERTE  BHESEET - &
77 Z AR RS - B IR AR A B
AEETEEEEXREREORRE
X B 7R 15 4R 7 R Bt

(a) EARETT A RBAR

30 COMMITMENTS

31

(a) The Group did not have any material capital
commitments or operating leases commitments as at
31 December 2022 and 2021.

(b) Contingencies

The Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the
ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or
exercise significant influence over the other party in making
financial and operational decisions. Parties are also
considered to be related if they are subjected to common
control. Members of key management and their close family
members of the Group are also considered as related

parties.

(@) Name and relationship with related parties

" A EAEENER
Name Relationship with the Group
PR oK ¥ 5 A RARERRR

Mr. Chen Yonghui

=B EE
Mr. Huang Fangjie

FREKE
Mr. Li Hairong

RINFRFE
Mr. Song Xiaohu

WEEEFELE
Mr. Xie Lejun

Controlling shareholder of the Company

RNRABIERRAR R
Controlling shareholder of the Company

NREHE R AR R
Controlling shareholder of the Company

AR EBIR
Shareholder of the Company

EANNETE &
Shareholder of the Company

ZHREREERER AR



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BF 75 3R 3R Bt =E ()
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (fx BB 1EBH4N - FiA & BHAA REF|R)

31 AR @ 31 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
b) FEEBEAEME (b) Key management compensation
BRET A BE 2 EETME N Compensations for key management other than those
TEEEAENMEIHTIEOT - for directors and as disclosed in Note 32 is set out
below.

BZ12831BLEE

Year ended 31 December

2022 F 2021 4F
2022 2021
AR®TRT ARBTET
RMB’000 RMB'000
FekEMmEHES®RHA  Salaries and other short-term employee
benefits 3,080 3,358
(c) BREEHRZHBEER (c) Financial guarantees provided from
shareholders
M®12A31H
As at 31 December
2022 F 20214
2022 2021
AR®B T ARET T
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ER Guarantees
—PREAE - R AE — Mr. Chen, Mr. Song, Mr. Huang,
BhEAE -TEER Mr. Li and Mr. Xie
it — 58,480
R2022F 128318 » EF R E IR As at 31 December 2022, such guarantees provided by
HEZEERBADFRER R certain shareholders were released and replaced by
B the Company.
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B 75 3R 3R Bt = ()
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (B B B 364N - A &Y AARE S| R)

32 EEREAKER 32 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(a) EEM£ (a) Directors’ emoluments
REZE2022F12A31BEFE - The directors received emoluments from the Group
EFRAEEKRERME (BERK (including emoluments for services as employee/
EERREARAIEEZNAEES directors of the group entities prior to becoming the
BEENRERE E=FmMWENR directors of the Company) for the year ended 31
BME) T : December 2022 as follows:
FEMER
BIRER
e FEREA ot 8l K Aot
Housing

allowance and
contributions
Salaries and to a retirement

14 Name Fees bonus benefit scheme Total
AR¥TT AR%TxR AR¥T AR®TxR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
HITES Executive Directors
—BREE — Mr. Chen - 584 33 617
—B%E — Mr. Huang — 632 14 646
—FE4E — Mr. Li — 654 14 668
— ke — Mr. Guo — 839 34 873
FHITESE Non-executive Director
— RIS A (H5EG))  — Mr. Xuxin (Note (i) — — — —
BYFBITES Independent Non-
executive Directors
—HRELEE — Mr. Du Jianging
(B £ Gi)) (Note (i) 42 — _ 42
—RinE Lt — Ms. Wu Ruifeng
(W 3EG) (Note (i) 42 - - 42
— B & BEHR — Prof. Wu Jintao
(P 2% (i) (Note (ii)) 42 — — 42
126 2,709 95 2,930

The directors received emoluments from the Group

REE2021F12A31BILFE -

Y Y et T (including emoluments for services as employee/
EERAAATEENEEEE directors of the group entities prior to becoming the
EEENES % E RN E directors of the Company) for the year ended 31
BES) T : December 2021 as follows:

216 Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited ZRERIIZEIRAR AT
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32 EET/ARERS @

(a) EEM <@

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Bt 75 3R 2R B = ()
FrESBBENAARESIT)

32 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

EEmA R
RRAE T
we FekiEd FHEIMER mE
Housing
allowance and
contributions to
Salaries and a retirement
e Name Fees bonus benefit scheme Total
AREBFTT ARETT ARETT ARETTT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
HITES Executive Directors
—BREE — Mr. Chen — 618 30 648
—EEAE — Mr. Huang — 599 13 612
—F54E — Mr. Li - 613 13 626
—BEE — Mr. Guo — 919 31 950
— 2,749 87 2,836
() B 220224 K& 2021412 A 31 (i)  For the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,

(iii)

BLEFE fMREERR L
BEERE -—HBRERE
EceBEeX(ARAR)
TEBEE] ARAIRR)
RENRBEMBE LBEERE
WERH € - 3% % #r B R0
REAREE REASEEE
ARV EAED A EE -

MRlIFE4E RIEE KL
K S8 & BEBE R2022F6 A
SREZFEARBILIEBIT
EE

B £ 20224F % 2021412 A 31
BIEFE  ASEHERE
MLEESZAME  EAR
S = N S N N
B B BB BE B (E o

B 20224 [ 2021 512 A 31
RIEFE ARREEHE
BELFAZHREEME -

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Mr. Xu Xin received emoluments from Shanghai
Fosun Weishi Fund (“Shanghai Fosun”), a
shareholder of the Company, in relation to his
service rendered for Shanghai Fosun. The
emoluments were not allocated to the Group as
the management considers there is no
reasonable basis of allocation.

Mr. Du Jianging, Ms. Wu Ruifeng and Prof. Wu
Jintao, the independent non-executive directors
were appointed on 15 June 2022.

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021, no emoluments were paid by the Group to
any of the directors as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office.

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021, none of the directors of the Company
waived their emoluments nor has agreed to waive

their emoluments.
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32 EET/ARERS @

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

EERAREINREBER

P # E20224F & 2021412 31 H
LEFE BRIBEPEABAHANR
5 51 1m) 3R K 48 A 5 &I 4E R
N EEBLE R BB R T
ok H At 3R PR A8 B o

AENMEEREMRAE=ZH
THHRE

KRB E 20225 ;2021412 H31H
LEFE AEERERTARE=
DR EANERESRT

FRULES ZEBNZE
TERBEERERX®AZ
EX - EERREMXZ 2
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32 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Directors’ retirement benefits and termination
benefits

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
there were no termination benefit nor no additional
retirement benefit received by the directors except for
the attributions to a retirement benefit scheme in

accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC.

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
the Group did not pay consideration to any third

parties for making available directors’ services.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings in favor of director, controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such director

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
there were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
entered into by the Company or subsidiaries
undertaking of the Company, where applicable, in

favor of director.

Directors’ material interest in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group's business to which
the Company was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted as at 31 December 2022 and 2021
or at any time during the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BF 75 3R 3R Bt =E ()
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (fx BB 1EBH4N - FiA & BHAA REF|R)

33 AQATFMBRREREZRETH 33 THE COMPANY'S STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION AND EQUITY

MOVEMENT
(@) AARFBARREKAT : (@) The Company's statement of financial position is as
follows:
M12A31H8
As at 31 December
2022 F 2021 5
2022 2021
AR¥T T AR T
RMB'000 RMB'000
BE Assets
ERBEE Non-current assets
R—FKHBAAHIEE Investment in a subsidiary 269,292 269,292
REBEE Current assets
H A & I 5K I8 Other receivables 151,294 956
B RBEEEEY Cash and cash equivalents 13,630 38
164,924 994
BEE Total assets 434,216 270,286
= Equity
LN Share capital 360 34
& 10 % B Share premium 439,569 269,292
25T E1E Accumulated losses (42,128) (16,478)
B R Total equity 397,801 252,848
aE Liabilities
REBEE Current liabilities
H fih & 1~ 278 Other payables 36,415 17,438
EEHEE Total liabilities 36,415 17,438
ExhaEHE Total equity and liabilities 434,216 270,286
ANAlBEBBRRLEE2 RN The balance sheet of the Company was approved by
20233 A28 WA T the Board of Directors on 28 March 2023 and was
ATHREZEZo signed on its behalf.
Mr. Chen Yonghui Mr. Huang Fangjie
BR 7K & 5 4 BERHELE
Director Director
EZE EFE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B 75 3R 3R Bt = ()
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (B B B 364N - A &Y AARE S| R)

33 AQATFMBRREREZRETH 33 THE COMPANY'S STATEMENT OF

(%)

FINANCIAL POSITION AND EQUITY
MOVEMENT (Continued)

(b) Movement of the Company'’s equity is as follows:

&S IR 10 5 B R EE
Share Share Accumulated
capital premium losses

ARBTT ARBTET ARETRT

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

M202154826H At 26 April 2021 (date of

(FEM AL B H8) incorporation) — — _
FRNEE Loss for the year — _ (16,478)
BRIEHE Deemed contribution 34 — _
BHTK Completion of the Reorganization — 269,292 —
7A2021%F12H318 Balance at 31 December 2021

BY 45 R 34 269,292 (16,478)
A2022F1H81HHK Balance at January 1 2022

=323 34 269,292 (16,478)
FREE Loss for the year — — (25,650)
ThE AN EEITEETT Issue of shares in connection with

i) the capitalisation issue 303 (303) —
AR F] T EET Issue of shares in connection with

A An the Company’s listing 23 183,457 —
R% 15 3% 17 A 2N Share issurance costs — (12,877) —
720224128318 Balance at 31 December 2022

B 45 B 360 439,569 (42,128)

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited ZRERIIZEIRAR AT
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Company name

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

34 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

EMRL/
RIBER/
HE R A H

7
ERTER

Country/place
and date of
incorporation/ Registered/

establishment issued capital

FEEEERE
Attributable equity
interest of the Group
R12A31H
As at 31 December

2022F 20214
2022 2021

Bt 35 3R 2} By = ()

AR AARKESIR)

The Group had direct or indirect interests in the following
subsidiaries as at 31 December 2022 and 2021:

TEFDREXLY

Principal activities
and place of operation

Directly owned:

EEER:
ZRERBRRERAA
Xuan Wu Cloud (BVI) Limited
Indirectly owned:

BERES
ZREEBERAT

Xuan Wu Cloud HK Limited

78

Xuantao

BMZH

Guangzhou Xuan Wu

BMDAERENKERAA

Guangzhou Jixin Communication
Technology Co., Ltd.

AERARES 50,0003 7T
2021465H28R

BVI, 28 May 2021 US$50,000

N 10,0007 7T
202156R17R

Hong Kong, HKD10,000
17 June 2021

A 11,000,0003 7©
202158A6H

The PRC, US$11,000,000
6 August 2021

hE AR
201011 A28 52,593,000 7T

The PRC, RMB52,593,000
2 November 2010

hE - AR
2017465H5H 10,000,0007T

The PRC, RMB10,000,000
5 May 2017

100% 100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Annual Report 2022

REBHBREBLE
RERR
Investment holding in BVI

100% REENEREZER

Investment holding in
Hong Kong

100% REMPEEREER

Investment holding in
Guangzhou

100% R EMITHE ZCRMIRT

Intelligent CRM services in
Guangzhou

100% 1 M ACHE B 5 B R &

MELHRBREER
Undertaking code numbers
and procurement of
channel resources from
operators in Guangzhou
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B 75 3R 3R Bt = ()
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (B B B 364N - A &Y AARE S| R)

34 EME 2@ 34 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
B30T A
RIBR/ i/
RAEW WERAH ERTELX ZEEEGRE IZEFDREXHE
Attributable equity
interest of the Group
Country/place R12A318
alatetet As at 31 December
incorporation/ Registered/  2022% 20214 Principal activities
Company name establishment issued capital 2022 2021 and place of operation
EMNTZAEERMERLDA hE - ARE 100% 100% M BEMAFER SR ERR
2014F58208 10,000,000 7T MELARBREER
Guangzhou Xuanxun Information The PRC, RMB10,000,000 Undertaking code numbers
Technology Co., Ltd. 20 May 2014 and procurement of

channel resources from
operators in Guangzhou

ENTHEEEHMEERAR HE - AR 100% 100% WEMEAEBRERR
20134627 18H 10,000,000 7 MELHRBRERR
Guangzhou Xuxin Information The PRC, RMB 10,000,000 Undertaking code numbers
Technology Co., Ltd. 18 February 2013 and procurement of

channel resources from

operators in Guangzhou

EMNTLEREMZERAF HE AR®E  100% 100% REMREBRLRR
20131 A 28R 10,000,0007C MELHRBREEER
Guangzhou Zhengjun Information The PRC, RMB 10,000,000 Undertaking code numbers
Technology Co., Ltd. 28 January 2013 and procurement of

channel resources from
operators in Guangzhou

ENRBEAESHMBARRA  HE- ARK 100% 100% 1M AHE RS 5 &R &
2012%9A26H 10,000,000 AEEARBREAR
Guangzhou Zhongmai Guangwei The PRC, RMB10,000,000 Undertaking code numbers
Information Technology Co., Ltd. 26 September 2012 and procurement of

channel resources from
operators in Guangzhou

ENTEREEHMEERAR HE - AR 100% 100% WEMEAEBRERR
0114104218 10,000,000 7 MELHRBRERR
Guangzhou Guanghan Information The PRC, RMB 10,000,000 Undertaking code numbers
Technology Co., Ltd. 21 October 2011 and procurement of

channel resources from

operators in Guangzhou

222 Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited ZRERFEIERAR AR
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NEER

Company name

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Bt 75 3R 2R B = ()
FrESBBENAARESIT)

34 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

ERmAL/
BIBER/
WERR A S

Country/place
and date of

incorporation/
establishment

it/
ERTEAR

Registered/
issued capital

rEBELRE
Attributable equity
interest of the Group

As at 31 December

IREHREXLY

Principal activities
and place of operation

BMNTRASEGHN AR AR

Guangzhou Shangyu Wireless
Technology Co., Ltd.

ERFRXERRERAA

Beijing Xiuwu Wenyu Technology
Co., Ltd.

AE LT BERNARAT

Henan Shangfang Communication
Technology Co., Ltd.

B
=

Dejiu

RETREBMRERAA

Tianjin Xingjian Xintong Technology
Co., Ltd.

HE
2007F6A4H
The PRC,
4 June 2007

PE-
2008558 9H

The PRC,
9 May 2008

HE
201156H14R
The PRC,
14 June 2011

hE

2017461 H4H
The PRC,

4 January 2017

hE-
201745898
The PRC,
9 May 2017

ARE
10,000,0007C
RMB 10,000,000

ARE
10,000,0007C

RMB10,000,000

ARHE
10,010,0007
RMB10,010,000

AR®
10,000,007
RMB10,000,000

AR®
10,000,007
RMB10,000,000

Annual Report 2022

REMEEBRERK
MELHRBREER
Undertaking code numbers

and procurement of
channel resources from
operators in Guangzhou

REREEEMHEFE
BRERRMEEHKE

Undertaking the product
sales business, code
numbers and procurement
of channel resources from

operators in Beijing

RAEAERRERR
MELHRBREELR
Undertaking code numbers

and procurement of
channel resources from

operators in Henan
REMREES KRR

Provision of voice and video
communication capabilities

in Guangzhou
RRRREBRER

Undertaking code numbers

in Tianjin

—T— —FFIR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Bt 35 3R 2} Y = ()

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) ([& 32 A& 5 BE 4] -

34 T EMEQE @

NEER

Company name

FBESRAAARESIR)

34 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

ERmAL/
BIBER/
WERR A S

Country/place
and date of

incorporation/
establishment

7
ERTEAR

Registered/
issued capital

rEBELRE
Attributable equity
interest of the Group
R12A318
As at 31 December
2022% 20214 Principal activities
2022 2021 and place of operation

IREHREXLY

BMTREBMBEARAT

Guangzhou Xingjian Xintong
Technology Co., Ltd.

BMMZEMEAERA A

Guangzhou Xuanke Technology
Co., Ltd.

35 EERERAMRENR

HE
20206373108
The PRC,
10 March 2020

hE
2022468H19R
The PRC,
19 August 2022

35

R2023F 1868 K&EE H R B B
i% 17 52 B 5t & [ /& & &% 1 4,985,000 A%

Bt -

B £t & 4 -

ARAIAREREBE

202343 A28 H #f & 4 IR (L {7/ &2 K 5§

®ER-

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

ARH
1,000,007
RMB1,000,000

ARE
10,000,0007T
RMB 10,000,000

70% 70% REMAEERER

Undertaking code numbers
in Guangzhou

100%  NER REMAEBRERR
MELBRERELAR
Not Undertaking code numbers
applicable  and procurement of
channel resources from

operators in Guangzhou

EVENT AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

On 6 January 2023, the Group resolved to grant 4,985,000

shares to employees via share award scheme.

Other than that, there are no material subsequent events

undertaken by the Company or by the Group up to 28

March 2023.

ZHREREERER AR
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BARA®RE

1.1

1.2

F=

AN QAR 2R AN & B A92022
FRE HgkBamE(XA®R
ED AREEREEN - 21k
R—HHEHRE 2EEET X
SEEMRAERAERE HERE
BBRE HERERDEEA

EEED  BEEERLAK -

s R

=

AEETIRE EHRAM R —+
tHREMNRRE e kERME
EEI(TRE HERERESD
RE-ABENARR HER
BRI M BT R R
3 8N E A SR B ST YRR (R
NERHFARA -

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND

GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - #gRkEB/HRS

1. ABOUT THE REPORT

1.1

1.2

Preliminary

The Company hereby presents the 2022 Environmental,
Social and Governance Report (“Report”) of the
Group. On the basis of the principles of materiality,
quantitative and consistency, the Report provides
comprehensive disclosures on the Group's philosophy,
material progress and effectiveness on addressing the
relevant environmental, social and governance (“ESG")

issues.

Reporting Standard

The Report is prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide (the "ESG Guide"”) set out in Appendix 27 of
the Listing Rules. The Report is in compliance with the
“comply or explain” provisions set out in the ESG
Guide, with detailed explanation provided in respect

of inapplicable or non-complied disclosure provisions.
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1. BRARE @

1.2

1.3

1.4

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

R EE % m)

RIRE R fHRE ST AT EH
A :

° ig'rﬂ{

o Materiality:

o Eib:

° Quantitative:

o —Hf:

o Consistency

BEEE

Bk 5 B wi B SN o AR & PTEK B
R-BHRANBREAREN
ERXGEE-AHSHER
202291 A1 HZE2022412 4318
M- AMEMEKAEBRA
R -

BB RR K 7 52 1 2 O
IR E B AP A BUE R B Y
BMREANEEE 7L Hat R
SEREEAREN EFEYHA
BENTNEEMN  ERMENT
BMHRE-

1. ABOUT THE REPORT (Continued)

1.2 Reporting Standard (Continued)

The Report is presented according to the following

reporting principles:

AARBBNEEETBEBREZWTM EHFIHESGE
EFRE THEARERIELFTOWE -

The Company has identified material ESG issues through
engagement with relevant stakeholders and assessment on
materiality, both of which are fully disclosed in the Report.
ARBDEEEERE HEMEARKRLBREMER
((BARERERDER W EE@FHAA -

The Company has quantitatively disclosed its ESG policies and
key performance indicators (“KPlIs”) information, together with
written explanations.

AABCEAEBR —BWREE  KENEHEREET D K&
AEARRRETNRK PR -

The Company has adopted consistent methodology of
disclosures so as to allow relevant stakeholders to analyse and

assess the Company'’s performance during different period.

1.3 Scope of Report

Unless otherwise stated, the policies, statements and
information in the Report covers the actual business
operation of the Group. The Report covers the period
from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022. The
currency used in the Report is RMB.

1.4 Source of Data and Reliability Statement

All data and information used in the Report comes
from the official records, statistical reports and relevant
published information of the Group. The Board takes
responsibility for the truthfulness, accuracy and

completeness of the Report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

AR AR E @

1.5 BEARH#E

ARFAERECHERBAREN
B RAHE2023F3[28H IE
AEESEHE-

all
il

AT

P

21 DEIEN

REEAPBEMEGZEE S ZECRMAR
B ER  BBEMN R IEMR
o REBR2010FEK - B Al
EMNRMBRABI RS X HERE
004 1B B - ¥ 71578 & 3418 W
M BEEVZEEHEAERER
B PR TS 2R 4 o

EEHEBBIOERELMNEE
CRMIRBEITENEZE  KA&EH
2 F #aPaaSF & » cPaaS - AKX
DIgE /1 o A & B &) CRM SaaS iR 7%
BEEHEHE HEERERE=
ARERD - H &S CRMI B B
ECRBABRRHENBEE NN
RAINDIEENER  RIFZ KRR
BN ERTETPRERS
PlanRBE M. £/ WA R
TMTITR REFRERE2EWE
e — X EECRMERT -

RE #HEREAHRS ()

ABOUT THE REPORT (Continued)

1.5 Confirmation and Approval

The management of the Company confirmed the
content of the Report and the Report is duly approved
by the Board on 28 March 2023.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

2.1 Company Profile

The Group is a comprehensive intelligent CRM services
provider in the PRC through Guangzhou Xuan Wu.
Founded in 2010, the Group currently has close to 200
employees across 41 subsidiaries and branch offices
covering business operation in 34 cities, which built a
nation-wide marketing network and comprehensive

service structure.

As a leader in the intelligent CRM services industry
with more than 10 years of history, the Group has
developed aPaaS platform, cPaaS, Al and DI
capabilities. The Group’s CRM Saa$ services comprise
three cloud services, namely Marketing Cloud, Sales
Cloud and Service Cloud, which integrate the
traditional CRM functions with cloud, upgraded and
encapsulated communication capabilities as well as Al
and DI capabilities, which offer clients across many
large scale and high-growth industries, such as FMCG,
financial, Government-related and TMT industries, with
one-stop intelligent CRM services throughout their

entire business cycle.
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2. DNEEEwm

2. CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued)

22 TEMUREBRE 2.2 Industry Status and Honors

BELZEMTERN  FEEE
BREENEBKBRITERXE
MH BEAEBEBRSITER
BEEPH BRERITENS -
20225 BMH R EBER M

TP HEERDERNMRE
REUEKBABEBBESHBE
B ERMHRRKILAKR &
BITEME @ R202F » M
AEBEETHRTHHFEREES
HA4RK FVAOR X EEE FBH A A
FH36KR LTMTITE M S » B
2022F - HZMHRIBET BHA
EEUHESBEADEFNURR

With years of cultivation in the industry, the Group
accumulated valuable practical experience and
industry expertise, and the Group accumulated high-
quality customer base amongst various industries. For
the FMCG industry, the Group has covered 34 and 32
of the top 100 players in the food and beverage
segments, and 22 and 14 of the top 100 players in the
commodity and Chinese liquor segments, respectively,
in 2022. For the financial industry, the Group has
covered 44 of top 100 players in the banking segment
and 36 of the 140 regulated securities companies,
respectively, in 2022. For the TMT industry, the Group
has covered 24 and 16 of the top 100 players in the

internet and software segments, respectively, in 2022.

16K °
16X 34%
B oBAEEEE ‘ RmDabERMEE
16 Top 100 players in the ) 34 Top 100 players in the food segment
software segment ' \
4 ° .
248 AR O\ e . 32%
EREHBERCE . ('7 SR DB EREE
24 Top 100 players in the K BEESTR , ) 32 Top 100 players in the
internet segment s EBEEEE beverage segment
: covering
high-quality ]
clients group ;
\,  fromvarious /
. . industries £
% A
36K AN €U e 22F%
FEERSLT AARABEREE
36 Regulated securities \ [ ] [ ) 22 Top 100 players in the
companies commodity segment

44% 14%
BANBERLE ? BENHAERGE

44 Top 100 players in the 14 Top 100 players in the
banking segment - - Chinese liquor segment

228 Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited ZRERFEIERAR AR
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONT!

RE HEREA®RS (B

O ——
@
2. REER @ 2. CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued)
2.2 TEHNUREBEE@m 2.2 Industry Status and Honors (Continued)
T % TEUR AEBEEE With decade-long cultivation in the industry, the Group

REZBERERRAE ZHEAREE
ﬂ/_\ﬁjlg_z&u/un ANERER
BERMRE  SERGRBRIER

has been rewarded with numerous honor and
qualifications with multiple services passing the

Ministry of Public Security Level 3 certifications and

FV207R 78 K RO B B = AR 7% adaption certifications by domestic technology such as

BRIERHZVIOREZZR Ry

Kunpeng Technology Certification of Huawei Cloud,

AL REE © Certification of Uniontech Server Operation System
V20 and Certification of KylinOS Advanced Server
Operation System V10.

MR2022FEEBNEERRAT :

CGCA2021 Bl JH & m 1T % 2022 £ JE B K RITEFLRIH
COFE —FEHEMITE &t & 282022 % & £2 78 2 48 —
B2 MR 82 MEBERRTRELREMRD

Intelligent Services of the Year in 2022 Huaying Award in Integrated

the Consumer Goods Industry Communication Solutions awarded
awarded by CGCA 2021 Chinese by 2022 the Seventh Asia-Pacific
Consumer Goods Industry Chief Bank Digital Innovation Summit

Information Officer Conference

Honors and Recognitions in 2022:

R IE & 1% 8] —
FEREKEANIPO

Jin Ge Award in Highest Growth
Potential IPO of the Year awarded
by Gelonghui

Annual Report 2022 ~ —F — —FFHR
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2. AEIEEm

2.2 ITEMHURBE @
HR2022FBEBHNEER

2. CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued)

2.2 Industry Status and Honors (Continued)

Honors and Recognitions in 2022: (Continued)

EAORRC ¥

KRR BFE36E A1 E RIS 4R AAREEBYETE
19, F JE B B p ST A [WISE2022 [HZETMT R A
FREZTIFELE]

The Company was named as the
"WISE2022 King of the New
Economy” in the annual list in the

The Company was named as the “Best
TMT Company” by Zhitongcaijing

field of corporate services
released by 36Kr

a2 k1

reAfiaiasdangns

EARTHRFHARNEREESTES
RRILR, BF

20224 kAL H

WREE, URED,

EEIMIBTTIR D AR A A
[2022 F 18 75 5 8 44t JiE 7 |

FT BN mE L AN X
MEBHEERAFET
02 KEEHERER
The 12% Philanthropy Festival 2022

Tech Company Social

2022 Outstanding Outsourcing
Service Provider awarded by Luzhou
Responsibility Award awarded by Bank Co., Ltd.
Beijing Niuliwen Culture

Media Co., Ltd.

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited ZRERFEIERAR AR

RINE AR IT B0 5% 2022 6 /& fF 1 —
022FERNEREBFHFL
R RS
2022 Outstanding Digjital
Transformation Service Provider in
the Greater Bay Area awarded by
the 2022 Annual Gala of Shenzhen
Cloud Service IT Tribe

RO R
BIGITAL DEVELOPMERT SUMMIT

EZREHEERERAE

PR £ AR5 v

BIEB202H FLHERIEE—
0228 E e ER mA B R R
18 35 By B 75 7
2022 Outstanding Service Provider
in Digital and Intelligence
Transformation and Innovative
Practice awarded by CYZone 2022
Digital Development Summit



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

2. RAEIEEmW

2.2 TEHNUREE @

R2022FBEBHRER

RA ()

MarTech- B RN XA GER L=

RRAREMEBRRERMEFA
F Y| AMarTechfT %
&5 me B

The Company was named as
the Outstanding Enterprises

in the MarTech Industry Chart,
released by the well-known
technology industry research

platform First New Voice

IR PR RS RRSAN

AABABYIGZRAEERHH
2022 FF H B > E 4 SaaSTT %
T 95 5] 45 A Y B AU IR g

The Company was named as a
typical services provider in the
2022 China Enterprise-level
SaaS Industry Research Report,
released by iResearch Consulting
Group

RE #HEREAHRS ()

2. CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued)

2.2 Industry Status and Honors (Continued)

Honors and Recognitions in 2022: (Continued)

2022% = [@ R M RB M@ 1T
BlFEe —FEEHEE
CRM R 7% 72 2%
Outstanding Intelligent CRM
Services Provider of the Year
awarded by 2022 the Third Asia
FMCG Industrial Innovation Summit

i

RRARRENERREMNDZA
EERMAERAR (EMNZA])
ERBERFIAXERQAEME
[F B IREF 52058
The Company and one of its
subsidiaries, Guangzhou Xuanxun
Information Technology Co., Ltd.
("Guangzhou Xuanxun") were
ranked top 20 in the “Niukesong”
competition, organised by China
Mengniu Dairy Company Limited

RATAETHICRMEE
BEEmE

The Company was named as
an Outstanding CRM Service
Provider of the Year by T Research

ZHET Zifl
A BESIMIE]
HEH SR SRIER

vl

RAEIREW PROBBF L2 i
BIZBAEREABECE
WERFERESRD

ZN
[

The Company’s case of “intelligent
digital marketing empowerment of
Reignwood Group"” was elected as
an Outstanding Case of Retail
Digital Intelligence Transformation
and Innovation by CYZone
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2. DNEEEwm

22 TEHURBE @
R2022FEBHERER

A (8

FERT D F SHE A ORI
EREERAQA
R X 55 7 B R H7 A
The most popular IPO newly listed company
among securities companies by
Sullivan Tele-Trend (Shenzhen) Cloud
Technology Co., Ltd.

e Iredess
rfmEREREEROTML

Prshert Fochiom et bm Kriw WS o Bemrrs WYL 14 ool 4 Frrmrioes o (I S
[y VIS— W S——— Sy T !

CMMI-DEV v1.3

Maturity Level - 3 [Defined]

: ]
i L8 g

s g 0434 ot

T B cminey 3

CMMI 13 & 78 3 1) B 1 B2 7

Certification of Level 3 Maturity
Level issued by CMMI Institute

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

2. CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued)

2.2 Industry Status and Honors (Continued)

Honors and Recognitions in 2022: (Continued)

Certifications:

ITS§ ——————
P’- P ELES TN S 1
4 1 GE ‘

ERILREeEBRANENRAERAEERE 2iF *
UM ERERBERGHR L AFSER
WRMES. 1
EHwE, By wawE, =a |
WA, (DREERS SAEP WEE: ANRE) (7w -xi |

(HREARS RHAFRARIARIAN) (1D N8 ‘

& EANAR: 2o Fw AnAE & . ml

Pl LW
FREFIEZELCEMBE
BENEERINRG BT 4HE

=RESE

e T ——

AR 1583002018081 T

Certification of Level 3 Operational

Maintenance Standard Conformity

in Information Technology Service
issued by China Electronics

Standardization Association

ZHREREERER AR

ST M S HE A ORI
EREERAQA
RXEBREFT LK
The most popular newly listed company
among ordinary investors by
Sullivan Tele-Trend (Shenzhen) Cloud
Technology Co., Ltd.

BB
HERKELIRRP (R BARPRAL) IR
HEiER I'i._;%;iﬂ&ﬂ“!iﬂﬂﬁ L
sgw AW 0 o 8
ERERE 1010300001 TUER.
FEARRUNARERY

REARAMERQ

2 BF 78 3
RERERRLRE2ERRE=R
(UMP 2 #%) i 5= & A1
Level 3 Filing Certification of
Information System Security
Protection in UMP System issued
by the Ministry of Public Security
of the PRC
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2. CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued)

2.2 Industry Status and Honors (Continued)

BE (/) Certifications: (Continued)
B 3 S U —— S_— _ -
b RS SERY QgL e F AR HERRELGRRY
R iR ET = R
# Jo (mamay 2 & WU E ’Q ey 4
) Ll U :
HEWY Ll EEE: 010631020000 b BEY L] i
- ¥
:i R AR RN EEEY T;];§ DEARKRELRERY g ARSI SR ‘
to- = - . : 3 " A
FEARH fﬂl"ﬁjﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬁ PEARHK *D’\*j[ﬂﬁﬁ?éﬁ’] FEARH fﬂl ZE B E R

EREARTZEFRRE=H
(ICCR#)BEFH
Level 3 Filing Certification of
Information System Security
Protection in ICC System issued
by the Ministry of Public Security
of the PRC

TS FAMEIES

za

CEPREI

FANERAERNRRAARER

BMNBERZEPLORBEERA
BERISO27001E L2 E ﬁ
ERARE E’i%
ISO27001 Certification of
Information Security Management
System issued by Guangzhou
Ceprei Certification Center

Services Limited

ERERRE2ERRE=R
(HZ2CRMAL) BEREH
Level 3 Filing Certification of
Information System Security
Protection in Intelligent CRM System
issued by the Ministry of Public
Security of the PRC

CCRC
(80 % 08 95 4 R A GEAE 5

T T R A L

o R
CRCAVO01 01 SRR

Eilku

8o ax()

Q’Iﬁﬂﬁﬁ"ﬁﬂﬁmﬁﬂlﬁ

o B 48 %?%%E&ﬁ]éﬁiﬁ?ﬁ
DEENEELEMBEELRE
“R(EHRERE)ES
Level 3 Certification of Information
Security Service Qualification in
Software Security Development
Service issued by China
Cybersecurity Review Technology

and Certification Center

EREMLZE2FRRE=R
(MOS % #t) 5 2 78 ¥
Level 3 Filing Certification of
Information System Security
Protection in MOS System issued
by the Ministry of Public Security
of the PRC

NSRS T 109 9 2
R A MR

om kR
150/160 20000-1 12018 MR

H sunm, m=mwon
H L AN

DA R AR HEEH

R E
1SO20000-1 ﬁ S BE ?T‘LTHW%

ISO20000-1 Certlflcatlon of
Information Technology Service
Management System issued by
Xingyuan Certification Center

Co., Ltd.
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CERTIFICATE

RS REES

Ay mmne
[

fl b s £ BT T S

o ana
T 20401500 013

maman
FARMANEAEL, SOMELEELENELNL
ans

?ﬁ%ﬁ%@% #1S09001
EETER
ISO9001 Certification of Quality
Management System issued
by China Quality Mark
Certification Group

77 8l

% A DAJ. FL\L E

I AN 0 3
LU L L LT TR E e

TREER A
BT 450013020 / 150 45001 : 2018 R

RN RART

AN, XTEIH
WRRE TR, mﬁlﬂlﬂr

BERABFRLARD Tﬁé%’*m
ISO45001 B R R 2B 1R 2
27) K S

RO RZ RE &J

ISO45001 Certification of
Occupational Health And Safety
Management System issued by

Xingyuan Certification Center
Co., Ltd.
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2. CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued)

2.2 Industry Status and Honors (Continued)

Certifications: (Continued)
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FEETR A RIEES

B BT BR &R A UEGE 5
CEA L R ]
1 il S P fL 2t )
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GR/T20490-2013
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T ERERRERGAMLE
CEMSMRAE. e U 4 N 400 % 230
L TR, ¥101015409T1 2408
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qﬂ%ﬂ(it,?\)ﬁx??ﬁﬁﬁﬁ“ﬂﬁﬂéﬂ@
MBMERETER

Certification of Intellectual Property

ERABFRLERRAGBEERN
ISOT4001 R IBERBRAREEE
1ISO14001 Certification of

Environmental Management System

/% 270 FIAJ. I:IA.L E

Management System issued by
issued by Xingyuan Certification
Center Co., Ltd.

Zhongzhi (Beijing) Certification
Co., Ltd.

LW ERSERIES
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l"‘ Mw*nm&iﬁﬁ!&ﬁ

2 _

u-mnmu*m N

ﬁmen-. Jlmml.n n
' e Q‘ % % OE B a

% EPRUTE Y ROWE

mumam WEEEH. .

| e A,

. \ k:- ------ ﬂ»lhl..l] “‘ﬂ

&L- mn”' m..“:.n- _|'£| :: % - : . a <
it?%%ft%ﬁf%%ﬁﬁ%%% '43 BEFERITEBARREN
BRARBENTCEEAER EERERMBERNRBENEFER

AAAG & E CS2h e &

Certification of CS2 Grade in Ability

of Establishment and Service of

AAA Grade Enterprise Credibility
Grading Certificate issued by Beijing
Puhua Zhengxin International Credit  Information System issued by China
Evaluation Co., Ltd. Federation of Electronics and

Information Industry
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3.1 ESGERRE
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B o#HERELARS ()

IMPLEMENTATION OF ESG GOVERNANCE

3.1

ESG Governance Structure

The Group has taken ESG risks and opportunities into
consideration when formulating its business strategies
as it is fully aware of the importance in enhancing
environmental and social benefit in order to achieve
The Group has
established a four-tier ESG governance structure to

sustainable business operations.

carry out ESG management during its daily operation.

Board of
Directors

DAREERE

Senior

Management

ESGT ¥/ M
The ESG
working group
& E BRI AHEREB B 75 &0 FGTE mE ¥ EREEE BE RS H L G YiE
Investor Human Finance FGT Products Ecological Customer Industry
Relations Resources Department Business Cooperation Service Center research
Department Department Department Department institute
B E 5 TEAER NEHEEM 7 W2 113 455 2P A A EH L mﬁiﬂ]fu bS8
ESi: 0 bra=is ES: Brand & Business Process and
Government and | | Administrative Consumer Marketing Cooperation Information
Securities Affairs | [ and Legal Affairs | |Products Business Department Center Department
Department Department Department
NZNMERER - EFeIEHE Amongst the four-tier structure, the Board assesses

B B ESG [ B I il 7F 48 FE HYESG
AR LM AERESGE
BERENEREEGR - AR
BEEeNEHHKEAEREHER
AR HEERNEERERY
BHEBESGEE EITEE M
FEAE - W25 B R i F EESG R
4o 4N ESGIE/NE R % @
P - A EHREEESGE
BITE-ESGIIENHEETFY
ESGTEMERBRETES -
YRESEEREERREIR KU
FESS K THESGRR KT
EER  WRERAFHEEI XA
BEEPHE MABESGHEEK &
FES HRESGHELEBES
HRARAEENXBKEE

and identifies ESG risks and formulates ESG-related
strategies and directions accordingly so as to ensure
ESG management policies are implemented in
compliance with laws and regulations. Meanwhile, the
Board and president office members are responsible
for identifying important ESG issues that might bring
significant impacts to relevant stakeholders,
conducting materiality assessment as well as reviewing
and approving annual ESG reports. Besides, the ESG
working group comprises of various departments and
is responsible for carrying out specific ESG
management tasks. The ESG working group also
reviews the implementation of ESG tasks annually and
reports the results and findings to the Board so as to
allow the Board to be aware of ESG risks and work
progress in a timely manner and ultimately, formulate
and adjust ESG policies and strategies during
corporate planning and daily operation to ensure the
ESG policies and strategies are suitable and applicable
to the Group's business operation.

Annual Report 2022 —Z = —F %

235



3. BEESGERumwm) 3. IMPLEMENTATION OF ESG GOVERNANCE

(Continued)

32 BAlFHELEZ BB 3.2 Identification of and Communication With
Stakeholders
AEBEDBBSEB B HEHI The Group has established close relationship with
RREE#E REELKE - government and regulatory authorities, investors and
BE TP HHEBMAEEREH shareholders, employees, clients, suppliers and
UERHENEZEBELZY) business partners and community and charitable
R BREEREDENEEE R organisations through various communication
BK e mechanisms to respond actively to the expectations

and requests from stakeholders.

FE HERER BERT

Stakeholders Expectation and Requirements Communication Mechanisms

BT #B P & B2 B 8 e HENMBEAM AEBZTERPNEBENBBEL
. }i‘ﬁ*%‘&/—\%ﬁafi TEAR 2 I 5N 3B 48 4B 4 0 15 B R
o {(EERR 2 BESME g WETRYE

EERBBMAO TR - NEETT
EHEHERS ABRS EF
SERLEMBERARSHE AR
ERERKF - WIN AEERE
IIMEXEMAERREHREXE
RoONEERAEEEEERE

e
Governmental departments and e Operation and taxation The Group focuses on
regulatory authorities compliance communication with intermediaries
. Anti-corruption and compliance and actively engages in training
management sessions, talks or seminars organised
e  Corporate governance by external institutions so as to have
standards clear understanding on regulatory

requirements from time to time. The
Group has also established
connected transactions, insider
dealings, Board managements and
other policies in order to enhance
the its internal corporate governance
standard. Further, the Group
engages external professional
advisers to provide professional
advice on compliance so as to
ensure the Group operates in a legal
and compliant manner.

236 Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited ZREFHIZERBRA
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Stakeholders

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

RE #HEREAHRS ()

3. IMPLEMENTATION OF ESG GOVERNANCE

(Continued)

3.2 Identification of and Communication With

Stakeholders (Continued)

HMERER

Expectation and Requirements

BEES

Communication Mechanisms

BEEMER

Investors and shareholders

il
0

Employees

. HBEE
. ERES

. BEEBE

. BEERBREFIRE

° Financial results

o Information disclosures

° Investor relations

° Protection of investors and

shareholders rights

s [EEEANRE

s REBBLEE
e EBImJIkER
s BEREEEkLE

o Protection of employee rights
° Communication and caring of
employees

e Staff training and team
development
e Occupational health and safety

AEBBZBERTNEMBRSE R
MEEEEmE RERGREER
EZHARBEEREE MRRET
BEAERTEERE -

The Group communicates with
investors and shareholders to ensure
market capitalisation management
through multiple channels such as
issuing financial reports and
organising result announcement
meetings, shareholders meeting and
road shows regularly.

REEGIFE Y E AT ERE
EBERMNENZ  RHEPAENHEE
BETRE HEESTERZEH
TR -

The Group formulates practical
mechanisms to safeguard
employees’ benefits and interests,
provide clear career advancement,
ensure equal opportunities and safe
working environment.

Annual Report 2022 —Z = —F %
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3.2 BRFHEBELEZEE @

3. IMPLEMENTATION OF ESG GOVERNANCE

(Continued)

3.2 Identification of and Communication With

Stakeholders (Continued)

BOE HERER BB
Stakeholders Expectation and Requirements Communication Mechanisms
zP o RIBEIFTARIMFR KER REBRVAERERITEHRR
e BRBEENRE Bt RERMEIH - ZETER L
s ZBEHZZ2REBERENL B R Bl o NEB A RS
s HEPBBLREFMEE AN EP RS ESI &
HE AEAKEEZEFER 5T
ERLLZ2ERERIESERBRE
Be-
Clients e  Service innovation and The Group established an Al

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

research and development

e Quality of services and services

e Information security and data
privacy

o Communication with and
satisfaction of clients

ZHREREERER AR

laboratory and an industry research
institution to promote technological
innovation and grasp the cutting-
edge information and technologies
of the industry. All of the Group's
services are accompanied with
comprehensive and detailed
customer services guideline and
system so as to allow timely
response to clients’ requests,
improvement on privacy security
management and overall quality of
services.
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) 3. IMPLEMENTATION OF ESG GOVERNANCE

(Continued)

(4

3.2 BAFEHELEZBE @ 3.2 Identification of and Communication With
Stakeholders (Continued)

Bt E HERER BEES

Stakeholders Expectation and Requirements Communication Mechanisms

HEmEEERH s TTXER REBEE BRI RE A BELE
o BTG ARBEMTTREEABRETR
b N RF - AIEERE NEDRZ M EREE - KRBT

afER  RNEENURF - 2FH A
EM 7 AEITEE RAGE - REKE
BER AEERE —RINEABEH
ERENEEREE#S - W FEia
HEBETEBLEHERET
BE UERHEHEE-

Suppliers and business partners o Industry communication Through establishing FMCG
o Fulfilment of promises billionaires club, the Group created
o Equal, open and fair a social ecological circle for

procurement managerial personnel from FMCG
industry for close communication
within the industry. In daily
collaboration, the Group fulfils its
contractual promises in an equal,
open and fair manner. During the
course of procurement, the Group
has a series of review and
supervision mechanisms in relation
to its suppliers in place and would
communicate with suppliers and
conduct review on its suppliers
regularly to ensure their quality.

HEREEAS s HEZ2H AEEBEGE2EL ST EH
s RERED MBREEEE -
Community and charitable o Community involvement The Group actively engages in social
organisations o Charitable events events and organises charitable
events regularly.
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3.3 EEMFM
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EENBRERBRERSD K&
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—EEXETSHE:

Bl EESGH & ¢
BREBER TERHLERR

KON REEBETNREEFMHERE
W 2 EESGHE 5| LA #% 5120224
ESGaE »

BTEESGEEMERIE

AEBREANKENE T ZEMN
LBEEEEREESRHNHEN
BRATEARFNDENRE K
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- ABEE B AESGHE @ B
KB o

(O] & B8 i

BEEEHFEER  AEE
LB EABREHNETERRESE
K 6 AR & B R RESG T 1E
BEREIE -

3.

IMPLEMENTATION OF ESG GOVERNANCE

(Continued)

3.3 Materiality Assessment

To further understand stakeholders’ concern on the
Group's ESG issues, evaluate on the Group's material
ESG issues as well as to improve ESG management
and relevant information disclosures mechanisms of
the Group, the Group has taken out with the following

three major steps in its materiality assessment:

Identification of annual ESG issues:

Apart from business development, industry
characteristics and national policy, the Group also
considered expectations from its stakeholders and
referenced to ESG guide for the identification of 2022
ESG issues.

Determination of the materiality of the ESG issues:

Based on the Group's daily business operation and
communications with stakeholders such as
management and employees, the Group understands
the expectations of different stakeholders. In addition
to interviewing and surveying relevant departments,
the Group also conducted peer benchmarking and
trend analysis to determine the ranking and matrix of

material ESG issues.

Responses and communication:

Based on the results of the materiality assessment, the
Group discussed and determined the major disclosures
in the Report and formulated the Group’s priority on
ESG tasks in the future.

ZHREREERER AR
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3. BEEESGEAum 3. IMPLEMENTATION OF ESG GOVERNANCE
(Continued)
3.3 EEMFM4 @ 3.3 Materiality Assessment (Continued)

R2022% » REEMESGH B E
2P RERAT

The Group's materiality ranking and matrix of the ESG

issues in 2022 are as follows:

ZHEESGEEEEMEME

Xuan Wu Cloud materiality matrix of the ESG issues

e @

High
0

® © @
¢ 1213
14

=

5 (9) (8]

0 10)

5 4
#H o
B G
LE
RN
IS _g
S
@=
E PEEZEERE =EE2 S
E Moderately important issues Highly important issues

[oR

£ 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

HEERERNEEN -
Importance to the corporate development = High

BESEUSE PEEEMEE EEEEMHE

Low important issues

Moderately important issues

Highly important issues

1T OREREHREEE 6. BIFERZTI 12. BTRBEBE
Greenhouse gas emission and Employee equality and diversity Employee communication and caring
management 7. BERREAZS 13. ETIMEEBE AL
2. FBEEYER Occupational health and safety Recruitment of employees and retainer
Waste management 8. EBIEJEEEKERE of talents
3. ENRERRRE Staff training and team development ~ 14. 8 Tz (R &
Energy-saving 9. KERHEWmER Protection of interests of employees
4. [IEEA Procurement and supplier 15. MBEEER
Climate change management Intellectual property management
5 ARHBEEREREETFA 10. HERmREEE B 16. EmERBERE
Consumption and management of Community and charity services and Quality of services and services
sustainable resources contribution 17. BEFEBRREE
1. HETEEN Client communication and satisfaction
Promote industry growth 18. 58 HEEALIRE
Data and privacy protection
19. EmEAI#TantE
Service innovation and research and
development
20. REBERARER
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4. RHKEEZ

4.1 SRR - BARE

HE

AEEER —KixE S EBECRM
RGHER LRTIEHRE - A
TRERBER REMEIFA
BE® ANEEBXEKNITAE
BRE EREHAME-—HAEEEEE
i #AIRE 1 #) B ZCRMAR 5 #
FER - AIERER - B IS0
ZREEH EARMNEEER
At ERIZELRELINETAR
Ko REBEEABINZERMEF
M0ZHRHEEE B RFAE
BRERMREEMAEIRES
BHRERBASHEERER -

4. SERVICES ADVANTAGES

4.1 Deepen Technological Innovation and

Improve Matrix of Services

As a comprehensive intelligent CRM services provider,
the Group places particular emphasis on research and
development. In order to enhance sustainability of
service development and technological innovation, the
Group pioneered in its establishment of a Al laboratory
and is currently the only intelligent CRM services
provider with full stack self-developed Al capabilities.
The Al laboratory comprises of a professional team of
close to 50 employees, including Al computing
scientist with doctoral researcher and master
qualification from Tencent, Huawei and Alibaba. The
Group possessed more than 30 technical patents and
more than 20 software copyright relating to computing
visionary technologies and consumer goods big data
areas, which processed an average of more than 4.5

million photos daily.

ZHREREERER AR
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& ERTARAERENEP XK
SEEMT202FKY T — KT
EHEb ZEETERNSNH
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4. SERVICES ADVANTAGES (Continued)

4.1 Deepen Technological Innovation and

Improve Matrix of Services (Continued)

Besides, the percentage of employees with research
and development function accounted for 35.8% of the
total number of employees of the Group. The Group
started the initiative in developing the aPaa$S platform
back in 2014, which accommodate clients from
different backgrounds. The Group has also established
an industry research institution in 2022 to grasp the
cutting-edge industry knowledge and develop leading
solutions. The Group had obtained more than 90
patents and more than 160 software copyrights in
relation to Al, DI and other intelligent CRM services. In

the future, the Group will make continuous effort in

NHIBEM 218 - leading the industry to breakthrough technical barriers
and provide stronger technological support to its

clients and clients’ businesses.

mgﬁmz
AIERE

Self-establish
Al laboratory
in 2016

BB E R KRR A
Bt 't ARBHASAR
It is composed of research fellows that
possess doctorate, master and bachelor degrees
and are led by Xu Jiebin, the chief scientist ~ 2018-2022% 5B fF
N EEXE

Obtained government

MEAS
35.8%

research and

development
personnel
accounts for

35.8%

20-22WFRE A % |7§| ‘%E 5'[-, scientific research
memE=24.9% # subsidies in
- . 2018 to 2022

Launch the

Compound growth rate
of research and
development expenses

increased by 24.9%
from 2020 to 2022

industry-
leading

aPaaS¥ & (2015)
AIFE & (2017)

BAHEFRBREF25214F
aPaas platform (2015) 252 patents and software
Al platform (2017) copyrights

REBEHNEZSCRMRBENPaaSHI R 2 EZHH) —H% % & - BlaPaaS M cPaaS¥ & -
Al R DIgE I R 2 55 -
The Group's intelligent CRM services are built on one or more than one of the four elements of

PaaS, i.e. aPaa$S and cPaaS platforms and powered by Al and DI capabilities.
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4.1

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

R RIS - BARE
FER=E )

(1) aPaaS¥ &

4. SERVICES ADVANTAGES (Continued)

4.1 Deepen Technological Innovation and
Improve Matrix of Services (Continued)

(M

aPaaSF A 2 —fHm A&+
MEHRETE vigH
T—EASBESBHITRL
AERERERBRER
% o {& BhaPaaSF & A&
M & B B @ BXOTE GRS B4
MBRPENRSEET
fE- Bt REBHFEE
B AT LA 0k B A B ¥ 7S
EREREK AESRTE
B RmMERBRAED
16 ST 48 R B B B R A B
KeZFRBANRBEEET
fE RS SRy AR b ML - AN )
TEEFPNEEEIED
L([SFAD - DB R R
#(IDMS)) - X H R HE 12
([TPM]) - REHEM mE R
(lPMM)) - T EERRH
(TRMS]) °

ZHREREERER AR

aPaa$ platform

The aPaaS platform is an efficient and highly
integrated software development platform, which
provided an easy-to-use of visionary development
environment and low code setting development.
The aPaaS$ platform enables the Group's research
and development team to reduce repeated work
in the course of their development of software.
As such, the Group's research and development
team can focus on individual business needs and
demands while improve its software in an efficient
way, thereby reducing research and development
time and cost without compromising efficiency.
This platform is suitable for local establishment of
application modules under Sales Cloud, e.g. SFA,
DMS, TPM, PMM, RMS for enterprise clients.



4.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

PR 7% & 2 (@)

4.1

RAC B MR - AR

HE @

(1) aPaaSF & (#)

e

ERTHENZAS
P 2R & [FlyCode
1E /5 B 13 4B 55 80 I
REET RHBEF
BEMAFPAE: B
B 79 B 5 T

7R & [ BE 5 7E K RS
N #ERITRRS
P e T B e &
PRERERMER-
HAPI /S R 3B 1004 1R H
MITEERNELRFR
RERT BAEBA
50018 17 3 #8 1 15 1%
54

AEEDRF0%IE
ENEE AEST
ZHERLETRER
S H e

RE #HEREAHRS ()

4. SERVICES ADVANTAGES (Continued)

4.1 Deepen Technological Innovation and

Improve Matrix of Services (Continued)

(M

aPaaS platform (Continued)

Strengths:

The full automation of multi-tenant
metadata architecture, "“Flycode”, is a
domestic leading customised development
language offering cross-platform user
interfaces that adapt to key technologies in
the PRC;

The Group is able to develop and to make
updates to its services within a short period
of time which can cater the evolving clients’
needs and technological innovation. It
served more than 100 industry leading
clients in FMCG industry with more than 500

industry component models; and

The Group obtained more than 40 patents
authorisation with number of provincial and

city funding supports.
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4. SERVICES ADVANTAGES (Continued)

4.1 Deepen Technological Innovation and
Improve Matrix of Services (Continued)

(2)

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

cPaaS¥ &
cPaaST AR —AERAE
ENEERBETFE  BAR
BBRHEBE a2
WEERBREERTFRA
ERE-EUIRHBARE
Az 0 (TAPL) S &
F# T AB([SDK]) K=
RHERE  S5GIER - RHEE
B HEmEEL GEMGESE
B HEGEEREFHMHF
BERERS - TP MG E -
SRR EEFEWHERER
BENE UnEHBER
ko B P Al LA i 1B cPaaS
ARBEDREESIER
Rigth  MBFILEBE KK
REIhHEBRBER
HERR b - HE T &P A B
KB o

(2)

ZHREREERER AR

cPaa$ platform

The cPaaS platform is a telecommunication
services platform based on public cloud, which
focuses on enriching customer communication
channel through the provision of stable, efficient
and secured telecommunication services. [t
provides telecommunication services such as
short message, 5G message, video message,
voice message, WeCom message, Douyin
messages and e-mails in the form of easily-
deployed APIs or SDKs. It allows clients to access
and utilise communication capabilities in an easy,
efficient and flexible way which suits their
communications needs. Through cPaa$ platform,
clients can integrate the communication
capabilities into their business systems without
incurring enormous costs in establishing and
maintaining their own communication
infrastructure therefore reducing clients’

development time and costs.
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4. SERVICES ADVANTAGES (Continued)

4.1 Deepen Technological Innovation and

Improve Matrix of Services (Continued)

(2) cPaaS platform (Continued)

Strengths:

It enables clients to reach end users with
multi-touch communication capability
covering various types of messaging
channel. It supports 12 telecommunication
channels currently including 5G message,

WeCom message and Douyin messages;

With cloud-built and plug-in structure, it can
utilise auto scaling to minimise the resource

costs;

Clients can easily integrate the
telecommunication capability through APls
or SDKs without the need to incur extra

development time and costs; and

The platform can support stable, efficient

and secured telecommunication monthly.
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4. SERVICES ADVANTAGES (Continued)

4.1 Deepen Technological Innovation and
Improve Matrix of Services (Continued)

(3) and (4) Al and DI capabilities
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Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

&

ZHREREERER AR

Leveraging the Group’s comprehensive multi-
touch communication capabilities which are
essential for real-time data transmission, the
Group has also developed its Al and DI
capabilities with self-learning and analysis abilities
for intelligent CRM services. The Al and DI
modules can be easily integrated into the

intelligent CRM services.

The Group’s Al modules focus on visionary
computing applicable to application level, PaaS
level and SaaS level, which equip clients with
image recognition function (such as monitoring
the goods display) and the Group uses loT
technology to connect all devices linked to
clients’ systems, the image information of the
goods will be transferred real-time back to
clients’ CRM SaaS systems for further analysis
once the Al module begins its scanning and

recognition process.
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4. SERVICES ADVANTAGES (Continued)

4.1 Deepen Technological Innovation and

Improve Matrix of Services (Continued)

(3) and (4) Al and DI capabilities (Continued)

The Al modules also consist of two self-

developed computer visual recognition engines

called “RetailVision” and “ManuVision” (the “Vision

Engines”), covering retail and production

scenario applicable to enterprises of various

industries and they allow clients to utilise these

Vision Engines together with other DI related

modules to improve their sales management as

well as retail store management. The analysed

data could also help clients to assess the

effectiveness of their sales and marketing

strategy.

The Group is also capable of data integration,

development, visualisation and analysis to

improve clients’ operational efficiency. The

Group's DI capabilities can be accessed through

private cloud, public cloud or hybrid cloud and

integrated into the Group's solutions as part of

its intelligent CRM services, which allows the

users to complete full data analysis tasks on a

unified platform.

By granting access to clients with the Group's

encapsulated Al and DI capabilities, computing

and modelling abilities, as well as other core

capabilities, which enable them to develop CRM

solutions in a timely and efficient manner

according to their own needs.
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4. SERVICES ADVANTAGES (Continued)

4.1 Deepen Technological Innovation and
Improve Matrix of Services (Continued)

(3) and (4) Al and DI capabilities (Continued)
Strengths:

ZHREREERER AR

The Group's Al capabilities can achieve an
average of 350 SKU modeling per day and a

modeling accuracy rate of 95 to 97%.

Al has covered 16 application scenarios and
can achieve an image recognition rate of

92% under complex circumstances.

The Group’s DI capability has made a
technological breakthrough, enabling
offline and online big data processing and
effectively improving data processing

capability and efficiency.

A retail outlet fusion model based on
natural language processing technology
and geographic location calculation has
been built.

A professional labeling system for FMCG
industry has been established, with the

terminal presence rate of over 85%.
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4. SERVICES ADVANTAGES (Continued)

4.1 Deepen Technological Innovation and

Improve Matrix of Services (Continued)

(5)

Marketing Cloud

The Marketing Cloud provides exceptional
experience to the Group's clients by carrying out
marketing activities through innovative one-stop

solutions.

Services:

UMP module, is a private cloud-based solution
which is a new generation messaging module
that can simultaneously process millions of
messages. It can connect with clients’ Office
Automation (“OA”"), CRM, ERP and database
systems without locally installing any additional

software or APP.

DMP, is a module integrated with long-
established messaging and value-added
functions, which provided all-channel and one-
stop marketing cloud services to clients from all
industries, which helps clients to achieve
precision marketing with multi-channel applicable

solutions.

5G message cloud platform, is a module
focused on client experience, which aims to help
its users to use 5G message accurately and
quickly through providing barriers-free means for
users to send 5G messages, so as to allow them
to develop new application scenario, and to
provide comprehensive 5G message ability to

clients since their transition to 5G era.
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4. SERVICES ADVANTAGES (Continued)

4.1 Deepen Technological Innovation and
Improve Matrix of Services (Continued)
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Marketing Cloud (Continued)

Services: (Continued)

MOS module, is a public cloud-based instant
messaging platform that linked clients’ APP, OA,
CRM systems and websites on the one hand, and
internet and channels of telecommunication
providers on the other hand without locally
installing any additional software or APP. With
the application of MOS, it allows messages to be
disseminated through various channels including
SMS, multi-media message service ("MMS”) as
well as rich media video message service through
the telecommunication network, covering a wide
scope of purposes for instance, identity
verification, payment authentication, customer

notification and marketing campaign.

Strengths:

o Cloud structure: The solutions can be
adapted to public cloud, private cloud and
hybrid cloud which give higher flexibility to

clients;
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4. SERVICES ADVANTAGES (Continued)

4.1 Deepen Technological Innovation and

Improve Matrix of Services (Continued)

(5)

Marketing Cloud (Continued)
Strengths: (Continued)

High stability and security: The Group
deploys relevant infrastructures in different
locations to support business contingency
plans with its self-developed AMS platform,
which ensures ongoing monitoring of the
system load and performance status. The
Group also provides its clients with a
secured data transmitting platform with
confidentiality protocol, two-factor
authentication, anti-leakage and regular

data cleaning mechanisms; and

Broad outreach: The messages delivered
via Marketing Cloud solutions would be
categorised by their natures or purposes,
and sent with different priorities to ensure a
high success rate in delivering the key
messages. In addition, the Group has close
and long-established relationship with the
major telecommunication network operators
for an average of eight years. By the
Group's ongoing cooperation, its clients are
provided with broad telecommunication
coverage which can further enhance the

success rate in message delivery.
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4. SERVICES ADVANTAGES (Continued)

4.1 Deepen Technological Innovation and
Improve Matrix of Services (Continued)

(6) Sales Cloud

The Sales Cloud provides exceptional experience
to the Group's clients by carrying out their sales

campaigns through innovative one-stop

solutions.

Services:

Smart Sales 100, is built on the Group's previous
Fast Sales 100 module, for clients in industries
that are highly involved in distribution model,
especially FMCG industry. It can enhance clients’
service quality and ability through the application
of Al and SFA, TPM, PMM, DMS, and RMS

functions. Meanwhile,

built up multi-channel marketing and sales
system from different aspects. Below is the

detailed introduction of our different product

portfolios:

SFA, is mainly used to manage fundamental data
and performance, planning the visiting schedules,

executing on-site client visits, and analysing sales

data and statistics;

TPM, serves to help clients build up a cost

control platform, thus a closed-loop management

in handing marketing costs;

it enables our clients to

FERSHBRBIER

DHEFIEMEREE

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

ZHREREERER AR

DMS, serves to help clients in FMCG industry in
executing closed-loop management of placing

and allocating orders with their distributors;
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4. SERVICES ADVANTAGES (Continued)

4.1 Deepen Technological Innovation and

Improve Matrix of Services (Continued)

(6) Sales Cloud (Continued)

Services: (Continued)

PMM, serves to help clients with managing and
supervising their promoters effectively. Its major
functions include management of work

attendance, work shift, with the support from the

Group's Al capabilities;

RMS,

management of retail stores of brand owner

is a function mainly designed for the

clients, and its major values are to help retail

store managers reach and monitor their end

customers;

U-Client 100, is a module deployed to empowers

clients to adapt to ever-changing market trends,

founded on the LTC sales management model

with DI capabilities.

AloT intelligent fridge, is a service based on

sales of products in offline fridge terminals, which

deeply integrated with Al and loT technologies,

to identify display and sales of product in real

time, combined with message notification and

intelligent data analysis abilities to improve the

sales of products in fridge terminals for clients in

an effective way.
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4. SERVICES ADVANTAGES (Continued)

4.1 Deepen Technological Innovation and
Improve Matrix of Services (Continued)

(6) Sales Cloud (Continued)
Strengths:

ZHREREERER AR

All-channel marketing management: The
Group's Sales Cloud solutions provide all-
channel marketing management to clients,
through which clients are able to manage
clients’ sales cycle via online (i.e. WeChat
store) and offline channels (i.e. terminal

stores);

Al and DI capabilities: Through the
integration of Al and DI capabilities, the
Group's clients are empowered with image
recognition, and data collection and analytic
capabilities. By shortening the time and
effort required for data collection and data
analysis, it would help clients to reduce their
sales expenses, thereby increasing their

operational efficiency; and

Continuous development in business
scenario based on evolving clients’ needs:
The Group has been cultivating in FMCG
industry for more than 10 years. Leveraging
on its extensive industry experience and
expertise, the Group is able to develop and
expand business scenario coverage
continuously, and thereby enabling clients

to improve their competitiveness.
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4. SERVICES ADVANTAGES (Continued)

4.1 Deepen Technological Innovation and

Improve Matrix of Services (Continued)

(7)

Service Cloud
The Service Cloud solutions are dedicated to
enhancing the Group's clients’ abilities on cloud-

voice related services.

Services:

Al Robot, is a function of Service Cloud solution
that carries out intelligent phone calls or voice
messages via various channels every day at
specific time points, which is able to reach out to
a considerable amount of customers without

incurring much labor costs.

Cloud Call Centre, is built upon the Group's
communication capability that supports voice
and multi-media content, and is based on cloud
computing. By integration of the prevalent
communication channels, such as phone call,
SMS, voice message, e-mail, internet-based call
and client’s customer service staffs can provide
responses and obtain feedbacks from their end
customers through the most convenient
communication channels designated by the end

customers.

Annual Report 2022 —Z = —F %

257



258

4. REEZ @
4.1 FAFEMAIFH  BARE

FERAC )
(7) BFRE @
B
o HRE - BHRAEHE
HNEPTFTEHES

FEmRT R BA
SEASHEEHRZINE
EMERENEPRP
R

s HERED AEEH
EPAIMEBERE
TED EERER
P38 38 % {E 2R 8 [l /&
IREEPHRE:
K

e HEE AKEEWMEFR

AEREERESTH

Bl EESN R EIE

ol TIOR8

B MBS AE(T

ERBEERERSESZ

MR o

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

4. SERVICES ADVANTAGES (Continued)

4.1 Deepen Technological Innovation and
Improve Matrix of Services (Continued)

(7) Service Cloud (Continued)
Strengths:

ZHREREERER AR

Cloud-based: The Group offers its clients
with cloud-based customer service, which is
easy to deploy, as its clients would not be
required to maintain or develop the

solution;

Communication capability: The Group's
clients can be benefited from its
communication capability, which enables
them to respond or obtain feedbacks from

their customers via various channels; and

Intelligent: The Group’s client can access to
its inspection function which is based on
voice recognition, semantic analysis and
data processing technologies, enabling
them to optimise their work processes and

improve their operational efficiency.
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4. SERVICES ADVANTAGES (Continued)

4.2 Keeping Control of Service Quality and

Strengthening Relationship With Clients

Development of high-quality service is of utmost
importance to the Group. It has a comprehensive set
of procedures for quality assurance and control, from
initial service planning to delivery of service. The
Group has also formulated Quality Assurance
Protocols and Quality Assurance and After-Sales
Service Commitments, which lay down the stringent
control mechanism of procedures in relation to process
of inspection, problem finding, troubleshooting,
problem solving and optimisation, metric analysis,
qualification and certification audit, emergency
management, quality assurance period and content to
support the achievement of quality goals and provide
clients with high-quality service experience, and create

value for clients continuously.

The Group has developed a troubleshooting solution
for clients who encountered difficulties to solve
problems arises during their use of system, which can
provide prompt solutions in accordance with the
criticality of problem upon receipt of clients’ customer
service request. It can effectively improve the service
quality and response time, which has a crucial impact
on enhancing users’ satisfaction. In addition, during
the quality assurance period, the Group also provides
on-call telephone service, QQ group service, on-site
technical maintenance and other services to carry out
corresponding support solution to address the
problems identified in order to achieve timely

response.
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4. SERVICES ADVANTAGES (Continued)

4.2 Keeping Control of Service Quality and
Strengthening Relationship With Clients
(Continued)
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Criticality of problem  Priority Description Response time
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Level 1 Urgent 1. Asserious error occurs in a very frequently Telephone response and
used function or page, and Service remote technical response
Cloud failed to proceed to next step, within 5 minutes.

which leads to clients’ failure in engaging

the system, and it cannot be solved by Time limit for solving: 12
clients themselves, resulting in the hours

system not being able to continue to be

used, and there is no other way to solve.

2. External service of the system has been
suspended for more than 30 minutes,
which directly impact to the clients’

usage.
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4. SERVICES ADVANTAGES (Continued)

4.2 Keeping Control of Service Quality and
Strengthening Relationship With Clients

(Continued)

Description

B fE B

Response time
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Level 2 Major

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited
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A serious error occurs in a frequently
used module or page, which seriously
affect the normal usage of the system,
but the system can be restored after the
fix, or there are other ways to mitigate
the impact.

External service of system has been
interrupted for more than 15 minutes or
frequent internal system failure (i.e.
several times a day), causing great
operational risk to the system or affecting
the normal business operations of
clients.

ZHREREERER AR

107 88 M {F H 5 [ g
Ko 3B A2 # Al [ FE -

B fR VRIS R - 24/ NFF

Telephone response and
remote technical response
within 10 minutes.

Time limit for solving: 24
hours
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4. BBES @ 4. SERVICES ADVANTAGES (Continued)
42 HEEZEFHRBEE  MRHE 4.2 Keeping Control of Service Quality and
EFEWBEE @ Strengthening Relationship With Clients
(Continued)
BERERE BER 1 3t [E] FE B
Criticality of problem  Priority Description Response time
=% —R 1. TEREEBODENEEXIAFAE 159BAELEFEDE

MNERU R EMER  BEIEE RERRMOE-
REIEREEM -
)R8 AR OR I IR« 48/ B
2. RBINEIRBESREHESDE - BX

SEERBLRE ) EE  SERE S
B AR50 $E AR OR o

Level 3 Moderate 1. Functions that are not used very often or  Telephone response and
minor error in pages or user interface remote technical response

and other errors, which do not affect the  within 15 minutes.
normal usage of system usually.
Time limit for solving: 48

2. External service of system has been hours

interrupted for more than 5 minutes, and

it is clear that there is a minor failure of

the system module that causes service

interruption which can be solved within

15 minutes.

Annual Report 2022 —Z — —4FF3f 263



264

4. BRBFEEZ @

42 BEZHRKEE > R
ol 0k RERE )

REBFRATR ORI E IR
T BBEVYERMENEHRS
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TYARBESRBERL  BEER
BEPRERHEE - AIRRIA TR
2B IR P &R RIEA0Z
REBNGABE [EP R
B R ZAXPREIMT
[ B & P i B R &4 100% ©

ERAER

Customer Service Staff

B 7% 4% 12

Service Manager

Clients raise issues

1.4 7 A R AR AL

the issues on-line

Ao

5.3 %€ M 15 R

Determine —> Determine —
the types of the situation
the issues Technical of issues
issues
| |
A iR R A iR R
Solvable Solvable
v v
3. EMRME 6. BR  BRFER
BEEME [5] 7 = AR
Respond to Solve the issues

and reply to the
customer service

staff upon
verification
4. BER
End [5] 78 % A B8 75 [ 75

Feedback and assign the
customer service staff
to verify and respond

TR AR R

-

Unsolvable

4. SERVICES ADVANTAGES (Continued)

4.2 Keeping Control of Service Quality and

Strengthening Relationship With Clients
(Continued)

The Group adheres to the concept of "Achieving
clients’ success with complete devotion”. By
establishing a nationwide marketing service network,
the Group is able to provide rapid localised response
as well as comprehensive service. The Group also
established an internal customer service center, which
is responsible for the tracking issues reported by
clients and handling clients’ complaints in accordance
with the below flow chart. According to the statistics
from 400 Hotlines, customer satisfaction in areas of
“Client complaint and recommendation” and “Xuanxun

clients’ call” is nearly 100%.

N R] R

AJ R

Solvable

v
-4_—I

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

EFE®RFRERER

The flow chart of processing clients’ complaints
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R %% 18 2 (@)
42 FEEZHRKEEE > miaE

EFMEB%um

REFEER

Complaints and recommendations
5.88%

H FERE
Very satisfied
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4. SERVICES ADVANTAGES (Continued)

4.2 Keeping Control of Service Quality and

94.12%

.

Satisfied

Strengthening Relationship With Clients
(Continued)

ZREFRE

Xuanxun clients’ calls

0.21%

99.79%

H FERE mE
Very satisfied Satisfied

In addition, in order to maintain stable revenue from
existing clients, the designated client service teams are
responsible for conducting surveys with existing clients
regarding their level of satisfaction to the Group's
services, so as to improve clients’ satisfaction rate as
well as retention rate and the annual price per clients (i.e.
the average revenue generated per client for a given
year). In 2022, the Group has also formulated the
“Customer Satisfaction Operational Guidelines” to
promote “Customer Satisfaction 100 Project” (the
"Project”), which was jointly led by the customer
service center, the customer success department, the
consumer marketing center and the Project
Management Office. During the first phase of the
Project, formal interviews were conducted with 51
enterprise clients, and the interviews were divided into
seven dimensions including business value, functional
experience, delivery cycle, system stability and
maintenance, response to issue, response to new
demand, and client leadership. The status would be
divided into 3 categories according to the scoring
system which would reference to the interview results.
The scoring mechanism is defined in the table below.
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4. REEZ @
42 FEEHREESR > mEE

4. SERVICES ADVANTAGES (Continued)

4.2 Keeping Control of Service Quality and
Strengthening Relationship With Clients
(Continued)

B=

Definition

EFHNEE@®
Status Scoring band
NG 7033 AT
Red-light 70 or lower
=& 7073 28077
Yellow-light 70 to 80
Sy 804 A I
Green-light 80 or above

AEBRBEEFRERRTEHD
AR EREFPAELEM
BEAEG—R ZBEEFEAEEGF
FEE— R ABAE K E &R
RESHENE - RE& KAEH
TEBHER P mEERERMKE
BE NERBEBHENHRE
B REKRRABENEL- R
B HIZRE90% N %P RR 4%

RN

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

EPUHRBERGLRRE T mAERF  FTESHEAMBEFEFNER
FR BORZIREHEBRBRIGN -

Clients who are dissatisfied with or complaining frequently about the existing
systems and services, which lead to higher risk in securing contract renewal
and promoting second-time marketing as clients are looking for better
options from other competitors.

EFHBREERERBE TR BMFTEMBZN/ MREXABEF KD R
WESIRBRT R BRBRFHTFAAETFPEE -

Clients who are dissatisfied with the existing systems and services, there is a
need to enhance the delivery/service or to provide guidance and solution for
clients’ success, otherwise there is possibility for competitors to engage with
the clients.

EFHBBRGRBRBRINE  BAKERTEEXBSENHEER
A FESRFHTFREPEENRR

Clients who are satisfied with the existing systems and services, there are
mutual agreements between clients and the Group to continue their business

cooperation and no risk of competitors engaging with the clients.

Regular interviews would be conducted based on
status of customers, which the red-light and yellow-
light customers are required to be reviewed at least
once every two months while green-light customers
are required to be reviewed once every six months, to
achieve the transformation of red-light and yellow-light
status into green-light status. Lastly, the Group also
formulates customer satisfaction stage reports on a
regular basis, so as to complete the closed-loop
management of the Project’s issues, and to promote
the conversion of leads to business opportunities. The
goal of the Project is to have 90% or above of clients

with green-light status.
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4. BRBEEZ @) 4. SERVICES ADVANTAGES (Continued)

43 MRAEHREEREBIRE 4.3 Strengthening Compliance Management and

Privacy Protection

ABNGEEREEZZRAKBRER

4.3.1 Risk management on information and data

RRBAEEEXEBORER
EFEERR AEEE R
URBEETENEELR
ERRKERBEERS
(PREBREER)  BRA
SEMFSHEBEFRBEEREE
B BEATRBRR(EEA
RAFEFEY  (FEAR
RN B A 45 2 208D (P E
AR HFIEYREH) - (A A
EELEME)  (AppiE %
EHWEFLFEAGELET
BREFEIR(PEAR
HAETEA A BAREZLD ©
REEBRIEISO270011E B
Z 2 BB RE K&ISO27701
BRLEEEEREHNE(Z
BRREELRLEHERRK
FE) (R B & HED)
(ZREIBEEBELZ SR
E) AZRFEIEEELEE
BHE)EBE -

security

To ensure a healthy and sustainable development
of the Group’s business, it has built and
maintained well-functioning information security
management and operational risk management
systems, including policies and procedures, to
ensure the Group’s compliance with the relevant
PRC laws and regulations, including but not
limited to the Criminal Law of the PRC,
Cybersecurity Law of the PRC, the Civil Code of
the PRC, the Personal Information Security
Specification, Measures for Determining the
lllegal Collection and Use of Personal Information
by Apps, the Personal Information Protection
Law of the PRC. The Group had formulated
policies with reference to 1ISO27001 information
security management certification and 1SO27701
privacy information management certification,
such as Xuan Wu Technology Information
Security Management Strategy Policy, Risk
Management Policy, Xuan Wu Technology Data
Security Management Policy and Xuan Wu
Technology Information Security Management

Policy.
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PR 7% & 2 (@)

43 MEEHREERER
RE @)
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I 5 58 5N B 00 2 AN R = AR
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XUANWU CLOUD

A B

Orientation training

ZHREREERER AR

NANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

4. SERVICES ADVANTAGES (Continued)

4.3 Strengthening Compliance Management and
Privacy Protection (Continued)

4.3.1 Risk management on information and data

security (Continued)

To enhance data protection, the Group deployed
different encryption methods at the software or
application and infrastructure level. The data
collected in the course of business is stored in
the Group's database protected by firewalls and
secured by additional encryption and decryption
procedures. The Group adopted secure hash
algorithm (“SHA") SHA-256 and mb5d+salt
encryption to encrypt and decrypt the data to
avoid data leakage and ensure security on
communication and data transmission. Also, to
reduce the risk of data misuse, the Group
provided regular training to employees on data
security and protection. In accordance with
internal policy, the Group's employees are
subject to penalties for violating data security
policy. The Group also had contingency plans in
place and conducted regular data backup and
recovery tests to improve the flexibility, reliability

and stability of systems.

Staff training
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4. BRBEEZ @) 4. SERVICES ADVANTAGES (Continued)

43 MEEHREERER 4.3 Strengthening Compliance Management and

15 3% @) Privacy Protection (Continued)
WBNMEEREEZEZRE B 4.3.1 Risk management on information and data

EE (#)
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security (Continued)

The Group had established a data security team
comprising of 18 members, which was
responsible for data security and data
compliance. Among the 18 members, several of
them had obtained ITIL (Information Technology
Infrastructure Library) IT Service Management
Foundation Certificate and core members had at
least three years of experience in the IT industry.
The Group's systems were awarded with the
ISO27001 (Information Security Management
Certification), which was an internationally
recognised standard for information security
management systems. In 2022, the Group did not
experience any significant data breaches or data
loss, and was not subject to any administrative
investigations or penalties related to
cybersecurity, data protection or other similar

incidents.
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43 MEEHEERER
RE @)

432HBERER

BT B E B ST AR R R BDA
BRER(BHEEARNRR(F
FARKFEFZEZE)  (F
FEARHKME ZFZ) - (F
FARKFEZ(EREZ)
(FEARKFBE R TIEE
BFEX)) AEEEHE
(BHEEHNE) (BIEE
BHE) (EZFEEEED
JED ~ (40 380 2 4% 25T 1) JB )
RAOBEEEST )5
— RN EBBR - 5L M A
BEEEEREBIRME
3l BRIFH AR L EF
BELABFN AKETC G
E RO A E R RO
R a8k 7 R LB -

M B —EAEPIMH
ERERENE NIE
B.EE EERER
BMEMBERT®E
BB ®IE:

2 #HEBFMERMEEXH

Z R TT A G G
fift R &5

B KEFfM BEFMHA

AEAEBEABERED
PrEfE:

ZHREREERER AR

4. SERVICES ADVANTAGES (Continued)

4.3 Strengthening Compliance Management and
Privacy Protection (Continued)

4.3.2 Intellectual property management

To abide strictly by the relevant PRC laws and
regulations, including but not limited to the
Trademark Law of the PRC, the Patent Law of the
PRC, the Copyright Law of the PRC and the Anti-
Unfair Competition Law of the PRC, the Group
had formulated a series of internal policies such
as the Patent Management Policy, the Trademark
Management Policy, the Copyright Management
Policy, the Intellectual Property Reward and
Penalty Policy and the Intellectual Property
Emergency Plan to provide employees with
guidance on matters related to intellectual
property. In addition to trademark filing and
patent registration applications, the Group had
also developed the following practices to

manage intellectual property risks:

(1) establishment of a dedicated intellectual
property legal team to guide, manage,
oversee and monitor daily work in the area

of intellectual property;

(2) to make intellectual property registration
applications prior to the start of the related

business;

(3) to register, file and make intellectual
property application in a timely manner on
intellectual property rights owned by the
Group;
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4. SERVICES ADVANTAGES (Continued)

4.3 Strengthening Compliance Management and
Privacy Protection (Continued)

4.3.2 Intellectual property management (Continued)

@

to take the initiative to track the registration
and licensing status of intellectual property
rights, and if any potential conflicts related
to the Group's intellectual property rights

are identified, to take action promptly;

separation of the technology development
area and the protected trade secrets area in
office, which can only be accessed with

authorisation under strict access rules; and

state clearly the rights and obligations of
ownership and protection of intellectual
property rights in all employment contracts
and commercial contracts entered into by

the Group and other parties.
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4. SERVICES ADVANTAGES (Continued)

4.3 Strengthening Compliance Management and
Privacy Protection (Continued)

4.3.3 Business ethics

The Group is in strict compliance with relevant
PRC laws and regulations, including but not
limited to the Company Law of the PRC and the
Anti-Money Laundering Law of PRC. To ensure
ongoing compliance, the Group formulated
internal policies to prevent commercial bribery
and promote fair competition. The internal policy
strives to guide employees and relevant
stakeholders to act in accordance with the
relevant law, to act in an honest and trustworthy
manner, and to consciously resist corruptive
practices such as deception and fraud. At the
same time, the Group also stressed in several
internal policies such as the Employee Handbook
and the Anti-Corruption and Anti-Bribery
Management Measures that employees should
refrain from demanding kickbacks and accepting
gifts from clients or other parties by any means.
The Group also provide anti-corruption training
for all employees every year to further enhance

their anti-corruption awareness.

In addition, the Group encouraged the reporting
of illegal and irregular behavior with the
establishment of a smooth reporting channel
which keeps the identity and information of the
whistleblower strictly confidential. The employees
can report any suspected illegal and irregular
behavior through email or direct communication
to the management, if the reported behavior is
found to be true, the whistleblower who provided
relevant and meaningful clues and evidence
materials would be rewarded according to

specific circumstances.

In 2022, none of the Group nor its employees

were engaged in any corruption-related lawsuits.
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43 MEEHREERER 4.3 Strengthening Compliance Management and

15 3% @) Privacy Protection (Continued)
ABAGEEFTFEEBERER 4.3.4 Data privacy protection for clients
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In the course of business, the Group would
handle and process clients’ data, of which was
stored on a public cloud platform. Except for
sending text messages through the phone
number provided by client, the Group would not
collect or utilise the data, and would only provide
reports or analysis per requests from respective
clients. The Group had never been subject to any
penalties or claims for violating the relevant data
security or cybersecurity laws in the PRC. The
Group has deployed strict encryption algorithms
to encrypt data and implemented strict data
access and transmission policies to ensure the
confidentiality of data received from clients. The
Group has also established strict internal control
policies and data access mechanisms, as well as
specific approval processes and operational
procedures for the handling of clients’ data.
Under these mechanisms and processes, any
violation of information security regulations
would be subject to internal disciplinary actions.
In general, the user information accessible by the
Group’'s employees is anonymous and non-
sensitive. The employees are expected to
participate in data protection training organised

by the Group on a regular basis.

The Group also has a comprehensive data back-
up system in place, through which data was
encrypted and stored on servers in different
locations to reduce the risk of data loss. In
addition, the Group would also perform regular
data recovery tests to check the status of the

back-up system.
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4. SERVICES ADVANTAGES (Continued)

4.3 Strengthening Compliance Management and

Privacy Protection (Continued)

4.3.4 Data privacy protection for clients (Continued)
Furthermore, the data security team is
responsible for monitoring any suspicious data
extraction and transmission activities, as well as
enhancing the data protection systems in
accordance with changes in relevant laws and
regulations in the PRC and technological
developments from time to time. The team is
also responsible for reviewing, discussing and
improving information security management
technologies and internal control systems to
ensure that the data of clients is adequately and
effectively protected.

4.4 Control of Service Quality and Frequent

Industry Communication

The Group strictly abides by and requires its suppliers
to comply with relevant laws and regulations in the
PRC, including but not limited to the Bidding Law of
the PRC, the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the PRC
and the Interim Provisions on Prohibition of
Commercial Bribery. The Group's major suppliers are
divided into three main categories, i.e.
telecommunication network operators, software and
hardware services providers, and logistics services
providers. The Group’'s core suppliers are
telecommunication network operators, which provide
telecommunication resources such as general short
messages, special short messages, multi-media
messages, video messages and international
messages. The Group continues to strengthen its
cooperation with other platforms, and to build its own
ecological chain of service providers and partners at
the same time, to provide better services to clients.
During the course of cooperation, the Group is also
concerned about the environmental and social risks
associated with its supplier, as such it has formulated
the Resource Management Measures for Harnessing
the Cloud Department (the "Measures”) to
standardise supplier management so as to ensure
adequate and timely supply as well as efficient
communication.
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4. SERVICES ADVANTAGES (Continued)

4.4 Control of Service Quality and Frequent

Industry Communication (Continued)

The Measures has clearly stated the required
qualifications of suppliers, such as (1) valid business
license together with copy of the its legal
representative’s ID card and account opening permit; (2)
registered capital of not less than RMB10 million; and (3)
valid value-added telecommunication business license
(information service under the category Il of value-
added telecommunication business) for relevant

suppliers.

The Group will conduct scoring assessment quarterly
on existing and newly deployed resources. In the
assessment, 1 represents poor resource, 2 represents
average resource, and 3 represents excellent resource.
Suppliers are then divided into three bands, suppliers
with total score between 11 to 14 are ranked S,
suppliers with total score between 8 to 10 are ranked A
and suppliers with total score lower than 8 are ranked B.
The assessment results are linked to the volume of

supplies.
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4. BRBEEZ @) 4. SERVICES ADVANTAGES (Continued)

4.4 RBEEEHRB\ENITHE 4.4 Control of Service Quality and Frequent
AC ) Industry Communication (Continued)

BB E 5 K HER BB (20225F)
Number of suppliers by geographical locations (2022)

kil A=+ HEBHE
Number of

Type Location suppliers

BERGIRMHRE 1 8

Logistics services providers the PRC

FE M ARG REE 1 5

Software and hardware services providers the PRC

EEREELR & 325

Telecommunication network operators the PRC

et 338

Total

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited ZRERFEIERAR AR
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4. SERVICES ADVANTAGES (Continued)

4.4 Control of Service Quality and Frequent

Industry Communication (Continued)

The Group is fully aware of the fact that challenges
come together with opportunities in industry
development and the key to success is to create a
mutually beneficial ecological chain for the industry. In
2022, the Group continues to cooperation with various
organisation, and has acquired membership and
directorship of Guangdong Provincial Food
Distribution Association, Fujiansheng Shipin Gongye
Xiehui, Hunan Provincial Food Industry Association,
and formed strategic cooperation with various
renounced enterprises. The Group also actively hosted
and participated in industry campaigns and discussed
the new developments in the industry in more than ten
live broadcasting, which reflected its importance and

influence in the industry.
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The 2022 Digital Empowerment for Real Economy in
Shandong and the annual meeting of Shandong CIO
Think Tank were successfully held in Yantai, Shandong
from 7 July 2022 to 10 July 2022. The event was guided
by the Department of Industry and Information
Technology of Shandong, hosted by Shandong Digital
Economy Association, and co-organised by Yantai
Huangbohai New Area Management Committee,
Yantai Economic and Technological Development
Zone Industrial Internet Industry Alliance and Dell

Technologies.

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

NANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

4. SERVICES ADVANTAGES (Continued)

4.4 Control of Service Quality and Frequent

Industry Communication (Continued)

Participation in industry campaigns:
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ENOMERE  URELEBFLEREmMNM
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The event “"Walk into Guolian”, jointly organised by
Guangzhou Xuanxun FMCG Billion Club and Zhanjiang
Guolian Aquatic Products Co., Ltd. (“Guolian”), was
successfully concluded in Changsha, Hunan from July

15, 2022 to July 16, 2022. As a leading enterprise in the
pre-made food industry, Guolian shared its analysis and
prospect in the pre-made food industry and its planning

in the digital management of the enterprise. The event
was held in Changsha, Hunan, with attendance by peers
from FMCG industry to discuss the experience of digital

planning of traditional FMCG enterprises.
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4. BEES @ 4. SERVICES ADVANTAGES (Continued)
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4.4 Control of Service Quality and Frequent
Industry Communication (Continued)

Participation in industry campaigns: (Continued)

SMITEES (@)

2022F8 AAH E2022F8 A5H - B FIE (R4 EHESUMEHTEE AR EN2022F10H15
B - ClOValue  CGCACIOE Z AMZ MBI AT BE{T BESREHFT(ERN - BEZHRE  BFEA
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Fl- EAMMEBCIORBE2EZHEE 2 KAK BEHERALRMRABSMRASORM  BA
EBMITRBFLER-

ROARBFT AEARINEERFLERMES -
CGCA 2022 China Consumer Goods Industry Chief A dinner with leaders in digitalisation of financial
Information Officer Conference, jointly organised by industry from Eastern China region was held on 15
Digital Elite Club, CIOValue, CGCA CIO and other October 2022, which focused on the digital
well-known organisations, held in Hangzhou, Zhejiang. transformation of finance industry. During the dinner,
from 4 August 2022 to 5 August 2022. The conference the leaders shared their experiences in carrying out
gathered hundreds of well-known CIOs from all over digital transformation and the latest and most cutting-
edge technologies of technology enterprises from the

China to explore the digital transformation and
revolution of enterprises on the topic of “Foreseeing perspectives of the financial industry and advanced
technologies, which contributed to the digital

the future with digital insight”.
development of the financial industry.
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4. SERVICES ADVANTAGES (Continued)

4.4 Control of Service Quality and Frequent

Industry Communication (Continued)

Participation in industry campaigns: (Continued)

AE B 2022F 11 A5 BE2022F 11 A6 B FERD
% CIORIZR&MEB S ENDEEMRITEZEN
SEBYME IR BE - RHERTELRET
Rel  BRKECK2EREEBERE  BHEm
TEEMBEPZOMETAHARES -

The Group, together with HuiBuLuo and CIO
Chuangxiang, jointly held a seminar on consumer
goods industry and crab tasting in Suzhou from 5

November 2022 to 6 November 2022. Enterprises in
the consumer goods industry were invited to discuss

how to upgrade and transform the consumer goods

industry in the new era when experience economy has

fully penetrated the consumer segment.

2022F 11 A248 - AIRITEEFHINET AEE K
CERN TEERMERATELXREZMALHE
KB o

On 24 November 2022, the information technology
leaders of Zhejiang Bank and technology enterprises
discussed the development and promotion experience

of ITAl industrial system.
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On 4 August 2022, Guangzhou Xuanxun invited senior
industry consultant Mr. Xu Jiacheng, who has extensive
experience in projects of leading food enterprises such
as Chongging Fuling Zhacai Group Co., Ltd,
Zhengzhou Sanquan Food Co., Ltd., Labixiaoxin Snacks
Group Limited and Fujian Sunner Food Co., Ltd,, to
discuss the transformation of digital channels in the

food industry.

RE #HEREAHRS ()

SERVICES ADVANTAGES (Continued)

4.4 Control of Service Quality and Frequent

Industry Communication (Continued)

Live broadcasting:
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>
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On 23 September 2022, Guangzhou Xuanxun jointly
held a seminar titled “Smart FMCG, Resilient Growth”
with FMCG enterprises and industry experts to discuss
the technological transformation of FMCG industry to
achieve steady business growth under the new norms

of crisis.
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R 7 & 2 () 4. SERVICES ADVANTAGES (Continued)

44 RBEEEEHRBEZWITE
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4.4 Control of Service Quality and Frequent
Industry Communication (Continued)

Live broadcasting: (Continued)

202210138 » HER AW HFEFETEEEL  2022F11 A28 EMNZ @35 AR D T AT E 2B 4
ERBRALER BB R ZABRBARRZEER

BRBEERIMATEBBRFEEMEZSFFXE HER
BEA o Rt R R TERNBRRARS NERHE -
On 13 October 2022, brokerage firms and technology On 2 November 2022, Guangzhou Xuanxun invited Mr.
Chen Yicheng, the Director of AloT Product Research

enterprises jointly discuss how to accelerate the
Department of the Company, and Ms. Zhou Mingxin,

transformation of marketing and services in the
the Senior Consultant of Insightcode Consulting

securities industry by means of digital intelligence in

the normalised post-epidemic era. Company , to discuss the means on improving and

managing sales volume during the difficult time in the

beverage industry.

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited ZRERIZERER AT
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On 30 November 2022, the 2nd Annual Summit on
Fintech Applications in Financial Digitalisation Strategy
Development discussed the mandatory development
in digital transformation of non-bank finance

enterprises.

RE #HEREAHRS ()

SERVICES ADVANTAGES (Continued)

4.4 Control of Service Quality and Frequent

Industry Communication (Continued)

Live broadcasting: (Continued)

HiXWGE L% fris

2022412 A7H - TE BB R #1TE] 12022
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EEERBMRHBAEARETITERRLLFES
8L EEABE REERITHKEIM AN
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b B R H 3 A8 = A0 BE A
On 7 December 2022, the 2022 Rural Financial
Technology Innovation and Shared Development
Conference was held with the theme of “Technological
Empowerment for Change of Minds and Actions”, which
was attended online by heads of technology
departments of 32 agricultural credit institutions and
some IT experts to share the latest achievements of
technological innovation of provincial associations and
agricultural commercial banks, and to explore new
models and paths for digital transformation of small and

medium rural banks with the aim to revitalise rural areas.
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5. CARING OF EMPLOYEES

5.1 Talent Management

To strictly comply with the relevant laws and
regulations in the PRC, including but not limited to the
Labour Law of the PRC, the Labour Contract Law of
the PRC and the Provisions on the Prohibition of Using
Child Labour, with particular reference to the actual
circumstances of the business, the Group formulated
internal policies including Employee Handbook, Xuan
Wu Technology Compensation and Management
Handbook, Administrative Management Handbook,
Xuan Wu Technology Qualification Management
Policy, Review Mechanisms of Human Resource
Department, Administration Department, IT
Management Department and the Business
Collaboration Centre. The establishment and
implementation of the above policies effectively
protect the welfare and basic rights of all employees,
prohibit the recruitment of child labor and forced
labor, safeguard the occupational health and safety of
employees, and ensure that all employees and job
seekers enjoy equal opportunities. The Group believes
that recruitment of talents is an integral part to its
success and therefore it has invested significant
resources in career development and training for
employees of all levels through provision of a number
of online and offline training sessions to enhance hard
and soft skills of its employees, as well as to help with

broadening their career path in a sustainable manner.
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5. EEBEZEw 5. CARING OF EMPLOYEES (Continued)

51 AAEE @)
SIS REBEAL  EEH

5.1 Talent Management (Continued)

5.1.1 Recruitment of talent through multiple

B2 IE

20224 + NEHFE BBoss B
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T RAKEMAAEEER
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BB ] ©

channel and implementation of strict work
allocation amongst employees

In 2022, the Group recruited talents through
various channels such as Boss, 51job, Liepin and
campus recruitment programs, which
supplemented the Group with employees of
essential qualities to support steady growth of its
business. In order to cultivate employees’ value
in line with Group's core value, the Group has
been actively seeking suitable employees in
campus in recent years, and the Group increased
its competitiveness in the job market by
continuing its efforts in boosting its branding to
attract and retain talents through offering
competitive remuneration package and training

programs.
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5. CARING OF EMPLOYEES (Continued)

5.1 Talent Management (Continued)

5.1.1 Recruitment of talent through multiple
channel and implementation of strict work
allocation amongst employees (Continued)
Case study:

2023 Campus recruitment program

B202F9A R NEER
BN Rz - RAPRARSE
% {9 T OHE R 1T A R
RGFELR BREEHRETES
ERRERE RS KR
¥4

Since September 2022, the Group announced its
recruitment plan of management trainees in
multiple cities including Guangzhou, Wuhan,
Changsha and Xi'an in four areas, i.e.
technological research and development, service
demands, service implementation and etc, which

attracted dozens of graduates.

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited ZRERFEIERAR AR
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5. EEBEZEw 5. CARING OF EMPLOYEES (Continued)

51 AAEE @)
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5.1 Talent Management (Continued)

5.1.1 Recruitment of talent through multiple
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channel and implementation of strict work
allocation amongst employees (Continued)
Case study: (Continued)

2023 Campus recruitment program (Continued)
The Group has been tightening the recruitment
process in order to maximise its ability in
searching for talents in line with its visions and
values during each step of recruitment process (e.g.
resume screening, written test, interview and
application review). Once hired, the Group would
provide detailed recruitment information to all
level of employees including interns, which
specified the qualification for each position. The
Group strictly abide by the relevant laws and
regulations in the PRC relating to recruitment, e.g.
it would conduct strict background information
review to ensure applicants’ age and qualification
are able to satisfy the Group's requirements. If
the Group identified any inaccurate information
provided, such as age concealment or existence
of forced labour, the Group would carry out
investigation accordingly, and if the result of
investigation reaffirmed the abovementioned
situation, the Group would then terminate the
employment contract and conduct internal review
and rectification. In 2022, there was no breach of
law relating to engagement of child labour or

forced labour by the Group.
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5. CARING OF EMPLOYEES (Continued)

5.1 Talent Management (Continued)

5.1.2 Practice of anti-discrimination and equal

opportunities

The Group strictly follows the principle of anti-
discrimination by providing equal opportunities
to employees and job applicants, which the
Group would not take their ethnicity, race, marital
status, gender, region or religious beliefs into
consideration when offering employment,
promotion and remuneration packages so as to
build a diversified and inclusive structure of
talents. The Group promotes the value of mutual
assistance and common growth internally by
disregarding employees’ ranking and years of
experience when it came to the consideration of
employees’ career progression. The Group
consciously adhered to the recruitment principles
of “open recruitment, internal priority, fair
competition and selection of excellent talent”,
and formulated effective internal recruitment and
promotion mechanisms so as to provide a
platform for talented staffs to show their potential

and abilities.
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5. CARING OF EMPLOYEES (Continued)

5.1 Talent Management (Continued)

5.1.2 Practice of anti-discrimination and equal

opportunities (Continued)

BHR - ERERE FRANRGEZINESRAH

Total employees by gender, employment type, age group and geographical region

EEAH Aotk
(N) (%)
Number of
employees Percentage
(person) (%)
gl Sk 611 68.73%
By gender Male
g3 278 31.27%
Female
RERER g 824 92.69%
By employment type Full-time
e Bk 65 7.31%
Part-time
RF e/ Rl 30 AT 530 59.62%
By age group Under 30
30E507% 353 39.71%
Between 30 to 50
507 BA = 6 0.67%
Above 50
2821 R A b 889 100.00%
By geographical region Mainland China
BERH 889

Total employees
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5. CARING OF EMPLOYEES (Continued)

5.1 Talent Management (Continued)

5.1.2 Practice of anti-discrimination and equal

opportunities (Continued)

BER  FRAEANRGBEEHEIZEEBERREAE

The number and turnover rate of employees by gender, age group and geographical region

EBEAH BO
(KN) (%)
Number of
employees Percentage
(person) (%)
i) Stk 239 20.71%
By gender Male
g3 121 21.38%
Female
RERERE D 305k A T 294 23.43%
By age group Under 30
30E505% 66 14.41%
Between 30 to 50
505% A £ 0 0%
Above 50
R I E D =N 360 20.93%

By geographical region

Mainland China

290 Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited
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(1) MHEK:

(1) Market-matching:

(2 FIERFEN :

(2) Bandwidth

remuneration:

(3) Performance-related:

RE #HEREAHRS ()

5. CARING OF EMPLOYEES (Continued)

5.2 Retaining and Caring of Employees

5.2.1 Remuneration and benefits
The Group has two mode of remuneration
package, i.e. monthly salary package and annual
salary package, based on the nature of position
and the actual functions and responsibilities
borne by the relevant employees. Monthly salary
package is applicable to employees who ranked
under tier two department managerial personnel,
the major components are monthly salary,
process bonus, annual bonus, share award and
other bonuses, whereas annual salary package is
applicable to employees who ranked between
tier two department managerial personnel to
mid-to-high level management positions, the
major components being monthly salary,
performance bonus, share award and other
awards. The Group’s remuneration packages

reflect the following five principles:

REBASENBBRAEZLRERER  A5EREFSET
SKFAREES - ARG - BB R BEEANT

Taking into account of the Group's strategic goals and stage of
development, the Group assured that the salary would match the
market rate in order to attract, motivate and retain key talents;
REVERNBEERRER IEXEBKERLEE AXEEK
MERFH - URREFSEREM

In order to establish a dual-direction career path, i.e. business
development and management, the Group adopted bandwidth

remuneration to provide a salary development space;

BEWAREGERBNE B2 N2ZEAZZEAEEN
EERREN

Employees’ income is linked to their performance while the
bonus is paid with reference to personal appraisal and the overall

performance of the Group;
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4 FIEEER:

(4) Sustainable

development:

(5)  Dynamic nature:

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

5. CARING OF EMPLOYEES (Continued)

5.2 Retaining and Caring of Employees (Continued)

5.2.1 Remuneration and benefits (Continued)

AEE2EZREBAENREBEEIRKRA AREAEH
MEBEER BREMBSHEFN RECKLERBLAKNE
BHEHEOREN  MEEXAEENAHESRR &

The Group distributes income with reference to the economic
value created by respective employees, and establishes a salary
distribution model based on the Group's strategic development,
the competitiveness of the job market, regulated corporate
governance structure and internal management, to promote the
sustainable development of the Group; and
REZEREZLEARBERBFIHNRBLF SN WXKE
ERE MK PREZEEAZREE UWERKAEE TEHZ L
MEBRANERERFT R -

The overall remuneration structure and salary payment shall be
adjusted in a timely manner based on number of factors, such as
the efficiency of business operation, market rate and changes in
macroeconomic factors so as to adapt to the changing business

and human resource development needs of the Group.
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5. EEBEZEw 5. CARING OF EMPLOYEES (Continued)
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5.2 Retaining and Caring of Employees (Continued)

5.2.1 Remuneration and benefits (Continued)
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The Group believes that the abilities to attract,
retain and motivate qualified personnel are the
key factors to its success. Apart from the
provisions of social insurance and housing
provident funds, the Group also provides meals,
travel and laptop allowances. Apart from
adopting five working days and 40 working hours
per week, the Group encourages its employees
to complete their tasks efficiently during normal
working hours and not to work overtime. If there
is a genuine need to work during national
holidays and weekends, employees are required
to seek prior approval and the Group will re-
arrange holidays and offer overtime allowances
to them. The Group's employees are entitled to
national holidays, paid annual leaves, marriage
leaves, pregnancy leaves, maternity and family
planning leaves, sick leaves and bereavement
leaves. The Group believes that the above
policies help to attract and retain its core

employees successfully since its establishment.
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5. EEBEw 5. CARING OF EMPLOYEES (Continued)

52 RERBAEZRERE @ 5.2 Retaining and Caring of Employees (Continued)
S2BERERESBRE 5.2.2 Occupational health and caring of
employees

N EEFNHXEEH: K (1) Plentiful social events: The Group organised

SEETHAEGZE R various cultural and sport events such as

X BESEE) . W EE Bkt basketball competition, badminton

E -PERLENHE competition and board-game event

g RS SREE regularly to provide employees with

Vol AR EC BN E N opportunities to exercise and rest so that

B emmBRF L & employees can relax and ultimately be more
IMITAEEB YRR - cohesive to the working team.

LT HEL 2 105 184 B PEKRLE
Basketball competition Board-game event Badminton competition
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5. CARING OF EMPLOYEES (Continued)

5.2 Retaining and Caring of Employees (Continued)

5.2.2 Occupational health and caring of

employees (Continued)

@

Healthcare of employees: The Group
prioritises occupational health and safety of
the employees and complied strictly with
the relevant laws and regulations in the
PRC, including but not limited to the Fire
Control Law of the PRC, etc. The Group
took a number of measures to protect
occupational health and safety of
employees, including conducting monthly
inspection of fire-fighting equipment to
ensure fire safety of the office, organizing
annual body check-ups for employees and
mental health talks (“Xuan Ai Week"),
providing masks daily and disinfecting the
workplace during epidemic and mechanisms
for employees who caught COVID-19 to

work from home or rest at home.
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MAEHT

Disinfection of the office

SE

BEHRRRERRNEE
Talk regarding indicators of body check reports

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

5. CARING OF EMPLOYEES (Continued)

5.2 Retaining and Caring of Employees (Continued)

5.2.2 Occupational health and caring of

employees (Continued)

@

ZHREREERER AR

(Continued)

Due to the nature of the Group's operation,
employees mainly work in office place, and
they are not exposed to dust, radioactive
substances and other toxic and harmful
factors. Consequently, the Group is not
involved in any occupational health risks. In
the past three years, the Group recorded no
work-related fatal incident. During the

Reporting Period, there is no loss of working

days due to work-related injuries.

fEtE —5HED

Fitness program — back exercises

DR R AR
Mental health talk
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5. CARING OF EMPLOYEES (Continued)

5.3 Career Development and Staff Training

As mentioned, the Group believes that attract, retain
and motivate talents is the key to its success, so the
Group strives to consistently achieve its business and
development targets in order to create value which will
enable reinvestment in talents. The Group has invested
significant resources in career development and
training to employees of all levels, which includes
newcomers' training, on-the-job training, professional
development seminars and accredited educational
courses. The Group also launched an online learning
platform, X-Learning, on which the Group would
summarise the best practices on daily work done by
employees so as to allow them to learn in a flexible
approach. At the same time, the employees, through
the online learning platform X-Learning, would have
access to the latest learning materials, which would

help broadening their horizons.
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53 BEZRERREIEI@m

5. CARING OF EMPLOYEES (Continued)

(Continued)

ZHEE B 2D L (2022%F)
Percentage of employees trained (2022)

5.3 Career Development and Staff Training

BEA™ ZlEEAH ZIEEBI #3% B By F 19 £ 3| B
Number of Percentage of
Number of employees employees Total Average
employees trained trained training hours training hours
889 804 90.44% 44,644.50 55.53
RUEREDNZIES AR (20225F)
Number of employees trained by gender (2022)
EMEE ZHEER ZHEE LHESR
B FHIEH B s w2 Ztt FHlaH FHl ‘g T2
EBEA® EEAH EEEIH & KR EEA® EEAH EEEIH W& B &
Total  Average Total  Average
Number of  Percentage training training Number of  Percentage training training
Number of male of male  hoursof  hours of Number of female of female  hoursof  hours of
male employees  employees male male female employees employee female female
employees trained trained employees employees employees trained trained employees employees
611 562 91.98% 31,251 55.61 278 242 87.05% 13,3935 55.35
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5. CARING OF EMPLOYEES (Continued)

53 BMEZREKE I I @

5.3 Career Development and Staff Training

(Continued)

EHEBE PN ZIEE AB(2022F)
Number of employees trained by rank (2022)

Zils R ZilE R EREEE EREEE

BREEBAY EEREAY EEEBEL AZIFR FH A ER
Percentage of

Number of senior senior Total training  Average training

Number of senior management management hours of senior hours of senior

management trained trained management management

i M 100.00% 151 13.73

=3 A& =3 &% PREEE PREERE

PREEREAH EEEAY EEERADL 2R FHERIER
Percentage of

Number of middle middle Total training  Average training

Number of middle management management hours of middle hours of middle

management trained trained management management

47 47 100.00% 1,528 32.51

Z AN &K = 39140 & NERES NREES

DREEAH BEAH EEBSL AR FHZIRE

Number of junior Percentage of Total training  Average training

Number of junior employees junior employees hours of junior hours of junior

employees trained trained employees employees

831 746 89.77% 42,965.5 57.59
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53 BMERRREIFIl @ 5.3 Career Development and Staff Training
(Continued)

o - - o
=
05 camamae)
. Sl £ w— wu
- msam
" emma— s e
u

X-Learning ¥ & EmEEFI—EmEERE ‘rEZOEERBEIN—

RABENRAEETA
X-Learning platform Product manager training — Back-up core management training
Direction on planning of products — Elevating Leaders Performance

management tools

LB BES)
SR A

B EFIOH — AL R SR EFBEERERERITNERER S 3= BB AL B B pE B A —

TENHEREE - SEEER
Phase 9 of Talent Program — Profession training on sales of Soft skill training for 3 major
Life accelerator general consumption industry held positions — high quality
in Western China. communication
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IMPLEMENTATION OF GREEN
DEVELOPMENT

In 2022, the Group adheres to the idea of green
development. By continuously enhancing all aspects of
green operation in compliance with the Environmental
Protection Law of the PRC, the Group has reduced its
emission with advanced technologies, and reduced the
impact on environment during daily business operations
with application of cutting-edge business model and
scientific operational thinking. Due to the nature of the
Group's business, the Group does not have obvious
emission of pollutants or consume significant energy during
its daily operation, thus the Group would not cause
significant negative impact on the environment and natural

resources.

6.1 Energy Conservation and Emission Reduction

In response to the campaign of “Reaching peak of CO;
emission by 2030 and achieving carbon-neutral by
2060" proposed by the PRC government, the Group
has been following the concept of low carbon emission
and promoting the idea of energy-saving amongst all
employees by implementation of energy-saving
measures and provision of environmental protection

education.
The measures adopted by the Group including:

o Encourage green travelling including taking

public transport such as bus and railway;

o Set all air-conditioner to a unified temperature of
26 degree Celsius from April to September and
20 degree Celsius from December to March,
during normal office hours and working days, and
switch off all air-conditioners after office hours

and on non-working days;

Annual Report 2022 —Z = —F %

301



302

6. ZREHBERE m)

6.1

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

B 88 R BE ()

jl

CHENMEAR BEASH
ENZER O TESHEND
AORBIRT - REEE B Bf
PRI 2= 3R

THRMMABS THEZET
SRR I

m—

EHBE NI B D
B B BB BRI A X
BRI EEERERY:

SR ES&(CH D BERMD
BRI RATED ek E &
4T EN R BE AR B A A

BBEMERNMNELRE
MEes tEnees:

TEZOKERE MRS - 2B
BEEBHEZURD— KX
MEENFER

6. IMPLEMENTATION OF GREEN
DEVELOPMENT (Continued)

6.1 Energy Conservation and Emission Reduction

(Continued)

ZHERREEERA

Switch off the air-conditioning of conference
room when the meeting room is not in use, and
to post reminders at the entrances and exits of
conference rooms to remind employees to switch

off the air-conditioners when they leave;

Arrange technicians to maintain the air-

conditioning cooling systems on a regular basis;

Remove trash regularly with strict classification,
and to recycle and encourage the re-using major

reusable wastes;

Encourage paperless working to minimise photo-
copying and printing, and encourage double-

side printing and reusing of waste paper;

Promote green meetings by organising meetings

through the usage of phone and online channels;

Provide microwave in pantry to encourage
employees to bring their own meal box so as to

reduce the use of one-time cutlery;
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IMPLEMENTATION OF GREEN
DEVELOPMENT (Continued)

6.1 Energy Conservation and Emission Reduction
(Continued)

e Adopt multi-control lighting system, and use LED
and energy-saving light bulbs;

e Switch off all office light during the lunch hour,
and all electric appliances such as lighting,
computers, printers and water dispensers will be

switched off after office hour;

e Switch off the lighting of conference room when
the meeting room is not in use, and to post
reminders at the entrances and exits of
conference rooms to remind employees to switch

off the lights when they leave;

e  Opt for energy-saving green products when

purchasing new electric appliances;

o Encourage employees to bring their own laptop
with cash reimbursement so as to reduce

unnecessary electrical waste; and
e Apply automatic system with all toilet flushes and

handwashing taps to avoid water wastage when

employees forgot to shut the flushes and taps.
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IMPLEMENTATION OF GREEN
DEVELOPMENT (Continued)

6.1 Energy Conservation and Emission Reduction
(Continued)

—EiemBERE

CO, emissions

g

EEHMN

Equivalent CO,

emissions

BERBHERER 2022 F
Type of GHG emissions 2022
HENEEHEN 7@ g ey
Scope 1 Direct emissions N/ANete D
#E2MEIENR 193,576.95F 7,
Scope 2 Indirect emissions 193,576.95kg
Et 193,576.95F 5%
Total 193,576.95kg
BE 26.25F % ¥ 5K
Intensity 26.25 kg/m?

M ERATRE KSR
BHE N E A A PR
BN BN EEAEMA
RREB:MAEENEBE T
EELEXREERAEREH
M iARENZEFRE R
hRZEFHEG AMEM

Note 1: Emission data in relation to scopes of direct emissions
was not available based on the following reasons: (i)
the Group did not own any private vehicle; (i) the
Group’s business would not generate significant
amount of direct greenhouse gas emissions; (i) the
Group's air-conditioning system was a central system,

which was maintained by the property management.

EE#E-
BE R 3
Energy Consumption
BERER 2022 F
Type of energy 2022
B (TEE) 333,178.91
Electricity (kWh)
BE R B 45.18 F LB 75 K

Energy intensity

45.18 kWh/m?
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RESBERE @
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6.

RE #HEREAHRS ()

IMPLEMENTATION OF GREEN
DEVELOPMENT (Continued)

6.1 Energy Conservation and Emission Reduction
(Continued)

BEEY

Wastes
BEYESR 2022 E
Type of waste 2022
BEEZEY 7 i g M)
Hazardous wastes N/ ANote 2)
BEEERY 600 F 35 (Fi3)
Non-hazardous waste 600 kghere
BE 0.08 F 52,/ F 75 3%
Intensity 0.08 kg/mz

M2 AR EBLEE  AEETE
EEXEREFREY Bt
AEEEENEETEEDH
EEWM TEHRBEENE
REE -

M3 AEBEEENEEZERD T
ERARMEBEYE —RHKQ
EREEY -

6.2 HHRREL

MER ZREBRAZFRIHEAR
EMIRERE  ERENHES
B R KEEHRE EARET
¥f 7 [@ #) CRM PaaS iR # & CRM
SaaSIRIE ML 2 K E KA K&
HVE AEE-—HEEEREINR
LA EEEBTRNE
FE URINT - LEEEK
NEEREBEREBEZE L HEERE
BELENNBELE -l -
REBMBERTREEZKE X
REAHBAENBRABRSHE
8+ I [A) 1% 55 4R L 40 {a] B ¥ 4% o
AREHEMEE  BRRBFE
AAREE: YHEKBIFTE
ERGHREZGREG LT HE
DB -

Note 2: Due to the business nature, the Group does not generate
significant hazardous wastes, and therefore the amount of
hazardous wastes generated by the Group is minimal and will

not cause significant impact on the environment.

Note 3: Non-hazardous waste generated by the Group are mainly

food waste and general office waste.

6.2 COMBATING CLIMATE CHANGE

In recent years, extreme weather events such as heavy
rains and typhoons occurred frequently, resulting in
chain reaction such as disruption of power supply and
flooding, which could potentially lead to significant risk
and impact on the security of the Group’s CRM Paa$
services and CRM SaaS services. The Group has been
identifying actively the possible impact of climate
change on the Group's business and has put in place
of some emergency measures in order to minimise the
potential impact caused by climate change to the
Group's business operation . For example, the Group
would inform its employees about the weather prior to
extreme weather events such as heavy rains and
typhoons, and provide them with information on how
to prepare for extreme weather events so as to ensure
the availability and stability of services; and place most
of its computing resources onto cloud storage system
and to back-up data on a regular basis.
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ENTHUSIASM ABOUT SOCIAL WELFARE

The Group is committed to supporting social welfare and
fulfil its social responsibilities actively. In 2022, the Group
organised multiple social and charitable events to build a
socialist harmonious society and delivered warmth and
kindness to the public. In the future, the Group will continue
to participate in social and charitable events to become one
of the most influential enterprises. The Group had organised
several charitable events such as providing free drinks to
epidemic prevention workers, organising books donation to
participate in the building of libraries for the poor to in
mountain areas, encouraging employees to participate in
external charitable events such as “donation of walking
steps” and “Aixin dan” to raise money for heart disease

patients. A total of 100 employees were participated in the

abovementioned charitable events.

BRAZEHNAMAEAN

Internal notice on charitable event

BERY

Book Donations

ddid ~adds RES LA
HAL, AdArand, S ad#w.
aibd. MAnIANSE. 2oL
UBd s, RdcdermbtaTdd
ot EGNBLEAR. FHLL.

N TEERGTE. dadadns
Al Fie, KoL/
LENUEAL R SARN,
Metd. Rabnus
WiE, AN

%F%“*MWﬁP

Thank you letter from epidemic prevention office

ZHERREEERA
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APPENDIX | — ESG GUIDE INDEX

fBm BE =68
Aspect Requirement Chapter
Al: —MREE b—REBEHRBEER
B
EABERIABAEREBHEN MAKRIHOHES BEREEEEY
MELESEH:
(@) BE &
b) BFHBITABEATEMNEBEERE KRB
KB KL o
A1l: General Disclosure 6—
Emissions IMPLEMENTATION
Information on: OF GREEN
DEVELOPMENT

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and

land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

M 5E BERIENERERELY mEtYREMIZEERE
ERBEOFENSLEY -
Note: Air emissions include NOx, SOx, and other pollutants

regulated under national laws and regulations.
BREREBEE_SK Tk |ETER - SRR
&Y - 2abik R AsE o

Greenhouse gases include carbon dioxide, methane,

E

0

nitrous oxide, hydrofluorocarbons, perfluorocarbons
and sulphur hexafluoride.
BEEEREMEBRRBROMATE -

Hazardous wastes are those defined by national

regulations.
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Em RE -4}

Aspect Requirement Chapter
BRERIER P mER AR RS - THEA - NEEA
A1 BEHEBEALR

BE-AEHEEH
2E -

KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. ~ Not applicable. The
Group does not
own any private car
so there is no such
data.

MBREXESR RERBHENAECANMGE) R(WER)ZE (N 61—faER

A1.2 NEESEM - BAEKXMEAHE) -

KPI A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes) and, 6.1—ENERGY
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production CONSERVATION
volume, per facility). AND EMISSION

REDUCTION

BREVER FEEAEEEVHAE UEiAE) R(WMEREE RBEHEAR K&

A1.3 (MABEEEN BAREH) ° @Iﬁ%iiﬁﬁ
EREEY) -

KPI'A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where The Group did not
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production generate significant
volume, per facility). hazardous waste

during Reporting
Period.

FRERIEE MEABEEEVAECUIBHE) R(WERA)BE 61— a5

A1.4 (MABESEMN FERBAE

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, 6.1—ENERGY
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production CONSERVATION
volume, per facility). AND EMISSION

REDUCTION

BB IR AR FE 1R
A15
KPI A1.5

U BE i i RIS AR o

Description of measures to mitigate emissions and

results achieved.

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited ZREFHIZERBRA
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REDUCTION
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Em RE -4}
Aspect Requirement Chapter

MRENER WANAREEEELREZTERY RMHENEHENLA 61— &Rk

A6 BARR-

KPIA1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous 6.1—ENERGY
wastes are handled, reduction initiatives and results CONSERVATION
achieved. AND EMISSION

REDUCTION

A2: —RIKE b—REBERBER
BEREHR

BERERAER(BERER  KEREMERME)EBE -
A2: General Disclosure 6—
Use of IMPLEMENTATION

Resources Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and OF GREEN
other raw materials. DEVELOPMENT

B aE - &
Note:

RABREE  #7F &

Resources may be used in production, in storage,

L

BF BEFREZ-

transportation, in buildings, electronic equipment, etc.

MBRENES RELESNEER SAHEEERIME  R3loh)

A2.1 BREEMUTETARFE)REEWMNEGEES
m~ﬁﬁﬁmﬁ§%

KPI'A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g.
electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in '000s) and
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

BREWER RKEEREE(WABEESEN BERBTE) -

A2.2

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit

of production volume, per facility).

Annual Report 2022
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6.1—ENERGY
CONSERVATION
AND EMISSION
REDUCTION
T > REBR
HESRAES
K R HEK i 2 58
IR JPFIHE S - &
A FETHED FIK
Not applicable. The
Group operates in
leased premises
with supply and
discharge of water
controlled by
building
management and
no sub-metering for
individual

occupants.
TR CFFR
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B m
Aspect

RE

Requirement

-4}
Chapter

BB A R 1R
A2.3
KPI A2.3

B8 A BUE R
A2.4
KPI A2.4

BB AE R R
A2.5

KPI'A2.5

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

o gE R A MR T B R ISR ©

Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and

results achieved.

K BGE AR ERI B ERBRE - A REA K
Mzt B RPTERR

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives

and results achieved.

Sk mArAEEM e RE (CAREE) Kk (WiER)
BEEBMUGE-

Total packaging material used for finished products (in
tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit

produced.

ZHREREERER AR

6.1— & BE B Tk

6.1—ENERGY
CONSERVATION
AND EMISSION
REDUCTION
6.1— B0 B2 R BE

6.1—ENERGY
CONSERVATION
AND EMISSION
REDUCTION
THEA - REEH
EBREYTEH
EESERBEM
B o

Not applicable. The
Group's business
does not involve the
use of any

packaging material.
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Em RE 4]
Aspect Requirement Chapter
A3: — R 61— T RE L BE
RERRXARER
HMEZETAHRERRAEREREAZEHOBEK
A3: General Disclosure 6.1—ENERGY
The CONSERVATION
Environment Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the environment AND EMISSION
and Natural and natural resources. REDUCTION
Resources
BREMER T”ﬂ%ﬁ“%@%ﬂﬁ%&i%ﬁiﬁﬁ’ﬂiﬁ%ﬁ“&E?ﬁT{ 6.1— T REBL B
A3.1 ERRETENTY -
KPI'A3.1 Descnp’uon of the significant impacts of activities on 6.1—ENERGY
the environment and natural resources and the actions CONSERVATION
taken to manage them. AND EMISSION
REDUCTION
A4 — R E b—RERBRRE
RARE
BRI NEHERRAEGHETAEEFENEARBKGHEBEFEN
BR
A4: General Disclosure 6—
Climate Change IMPLEMENTATION
Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related OF GREEN
issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer. DEVELOPMENT
MRENER RIAEKRAESHETAEEXENERRKZE 62—HRREE
A4 WMEELERDNEEREBXENTH - 1t
KPI' A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues 6.2 — COMBATING

which have impacted, and those which may impact, the CLIMATE CHANGE

issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.
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Aspect Requirement Chapter
B1: — R 51— AT ER
&R

ERAFHEME BERES TERE B TEHRE ZT

b~ BRIEAR DA B2 Bt 735 588 B @ A 9

@ BE: R

b) BTEHBETAGERTENHEBERLAN

B E R -
B1: General Disclosure 5.1 — TALENT
Employment MANAGEMENT

312 Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-

discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

B EMRER RS BREN (MBS FRE)  FikAHE D

B1.1 M@ E D e fE B AR -
KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for

example, full- or part-time), age group and

geographical region.

BMRENER RIUER  FREFB S RREDNEE MK X -
B1.2
KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and

geographical region.

ZHREREERER AR

512— RIER K& F
THETER

5.1.2 — Practice of
anti-discrimination
and equal
opportunities
512— RIE®R K F
EHREER

5.1.2 — Practice of
anti-discrimination
and equal

opportunities
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Em RE -4}
Aspect Requirement Chapter
B2: — R E 50— AT ER
BRERZZ

FRARHZE2IEREMEREEEREBELEEN:

(@ BE: R

b) BEBFHETABERTENMERERLRD

B -
B2: General disclosure 5.1 — TALENT
Health and MANAGEMENT

Safety Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards.

BREVER BE=F(BRERFE)SFAITHNARNLL
B2.1 &

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in

each of the past three years including the reporting

year.
BRENEER AIGEAXIEBRH-
B2.2

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury.

BRENER WAMRKANBREREFEERZ 2N ARBEEHRT
B2.3 MEERTTIE -
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures

adopted, how they are implemented and monitored.
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522 —
Occupational health
and caring of
employees
522—BRBEER
EEBE

522 —
Occupational health
and caring of
employees
52—RBEEE
(==

5.2 — RETAINING
AND CARING OF
EMPLOYEES
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& m RE -4}
Aspect Requirement Chapter
B3: — R S53—RIRERK
R R 8T
ERRATEERTIEREMNMBELRENBER - WM iZlEE -
B3: General Disclosure 5.3 — CAREER
Development DEVELOPMENT
and Training Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging ~ AND STAFF
duties at work. Description of training activities. TRAINING
B 5 FAEBEEY  AIREREZINENHRNINEBRIE -
Note: Training refers to vocational training. It may include
internal and external courses paid by the employer.
MRENER BUFILREEREMN(WSRERE TREEEE S3—BEERK
B3.1 DTHXIEBEBDL 8 T3
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and 5.3 — CAREER
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle ~ DEVELOPMENT
management). AND STAFF
TRAINING
BMRENESR BUHREEREMNE D SREEZTKXINFY S53I—BEZRNK
B3.2 iSE 8 T3
KPIB3.2 The average training hours completed per employee 5.3 — CAREER
by gender and employee category. DEVELOPMENT
AND STAFF
TRAINING

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited
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Em RE -4}
Aspect Requirement Chapter
B4 : — R 511 —ZRERE
B IAEA AA - B ERBRR
BRAGIEE T Mg hlss T : DB IE
(@ BE: R
b) BEBFHETABERTENMERERLRD
B -
B4: General Disclosure 5.1.1 — Recruitment
Labour of talent through
Standards Information on: multiple channels

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour.
FRENER HOIEZHABENEREARRLET REHIST -
B4.1

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment

practices to avoid child and forced labour.

FREMIER HOAEBRHEERBAFERABBE MR E
B4.2 B o
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices

when discovered.

Annual Report 2022

and implementation
of strict work
allocation amongst

employees

511—ZREHE
AT E BB
o Bt T1E

5.1.1 — Recruitment
of talent through
multiple channels
and implementation
of strict work
allocation amongst
employees

511 —ZRERE
AT B BB
o B T1E

5.1.1 — Recruitment
of talent through
multiple channels
and implementation
of strict work
allocation amongst

employees
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Em RE -4}

Aspect Requirement Chapter

B5 : — R bA—REEEE

HEEEE B MIAEHITER

ERMHERERNREREGRARBR - i
BS5: General Disclosure 4.4 — CONTROL
Supply Chain OF SERVICE
Management  Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. QUALITY AND

FREQUENT
INDUSTRY

B8 9 A BRI
B5.1

KPI'B5.1

BB AR R 1R
B5.2

KPI B5.2

B8 1 A IR IR
B5.3

KPI B5.3

miwR ey WEEREE -

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

WaERERHEERNED AERTARBENN
HEMBE URAREMNNRITRESRT A

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,
number of suppliers where the practices are being

implemented, and how they are implemented and

monitored.

18t PR 7 38 ) AH T 5 O 3R AR M A & R B O 1B D1 DA %

BREMNNRTRERTE-

Description of practices used to identify environmental

and social risks along the supply chain, and how they

are implemented and monitored.

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited ZRERFEIERAR AR

COMMUNICATION
44— RIBEEE
Hl R EITER
i

4.4 — CONTROL
OF SERVICE
QUALITY AND
FREQUENT
INDUSTRY
COMMUNICATION
44— RIGE S
H AT AITER
i

4.4 — CONTROL
OF SERVICE
QUALITY AND
FREQUENT
INDUSTRY
COMMUNICATION
AA—RGEEE
Hl R EITER
i

4.4 — CONTROL
OF SERVICE
QUALITY AND
FREQUENT
INDUSTRY
COMMUNICATION



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
B -HEREBRE (K

Em RE -4}
Aspect Requirement Chapter
BMRENER RABXREHERREIRRER MRENED 44—RBEEE
B5.4 AR BEBENNRITRER L - H RIETmITER
ik
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote 4.4 — CONTROL
environmentally preferable products and services when OF SERVICE
selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented QUALITY AND
and monitored. FREQUENT
INDUSTRY
COMMUNICATION
B6 : — R R 4—REES
EmEE
ERMRHEERMRENERERLZ S  BEE BELILBEEUR
R TTER -
@ BE: &
b) BEBFHETABERTENMERER LR
B E R o
B6: General Disclosure 4 — SERVICES
Product ADVANTAGES

Responsibility

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters

relating to products and services provided and methods of redress.

BRENIER CEXCEXERBHEPRLT 2 HEREHMARD
Bé6.1 WH B Dt
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject

to recalls for safety and health reasons.

Annual Report 2022
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N

Not Applicable. The
Group's business
does not involve
any risk in terms of

safety and health.
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Aspect

RE

Requirement

E3: 0]

Chapter

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

BB A R 1R
B6.2

KPI B6.2

B SRR 1R
B6.3
KPI B6.3

BB A R R

B6.4

KPI B6.4

BB AR AR S 1R
B6.5
KPI B6.5

BREBNERNMRBHRFERE AREEHT XL -

Number of products and service related complaints

received and how they are dealt with.

R ERRENSEEEHANED -

Description of practices relating to observing and

protecting intellectual property rights.

MinEERETAENERBIWKER -

Description of quality assurance process and recall

procedures.

E B & ERHRE RALEBBUR - ARMEBEHITR
ERE-
Description of consumer data protection and privacy

policies, how they are implemented and monitored.

ZHERREEERA

42— FRETE IR
BEE  NREE
F &8 &

4.2 — KEEPING
CONTROL OF
SERVICE QUALITY
AND STRENGTH
RELATIONSHIP
WITH CLIENTS
432—HIMERTE
3

4.3.2 — Intellectual
property
management

4.2 — F AL HI AR
BEE  feER
P e g 1&

4.2 — KEEPING
CONTROL OF
SERVICE QUALITY
AND STRENGTH
RELATIONSHIP
WITH CLIENTS
434—REFFPH
B AL

4.3.4 — Data privacy
protection for

clients



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
R -HEREBRE (H)

fEm BE =6
Aspect Requirement Chapter
B7 : —MRIEE 433— P KER
RES
ERPIEREES - 80 - FREF R AR EEW
@ BE: R
b) BFHBETABERTZENMEBEERERG
BB EL o
B7: General Disclosure 4.3.3 — Business

Anti-corruption

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

FARENESR RBSHRAEETAXHRERLIYCELENES

B7.1 RARRMFVEE RFRER -
KPI'B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt

practices brought against the issuer or its employees

during the reporting period and the outcomes of the

cases.
B EBUEE Wl HEmENAERER  URBERITRERRF
B7.2 V£ o

KPIB7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-
blowing procedures, how they are implemented and
monitored.

BREWER HARNEFEREIRHNOREFE -

B7.3

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to

directors and staff.

Annual Report 2022

Ethnics

433 —RAEER

4.3.3 — Business
Ethnics

A33— R EERE

4.3.3 — Business
Ethnics

A33— R EERE

4.3.3 — Business
Ethnics
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& m RE -4}
Aspect Requirement Chapter
B8 : — R E T—HRBEARE
HERE NmEIR
FRANHR2ERTHREEMEHEFTENEREEKIDEER
A A 2 B R e
B8: General Disclosure 7—ENTHUSIASM

Community

Investment

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take

into consideration the communities’ interests.

FAESUEIE EIERERE(WHE BRESE S IHE K #
B8.1 B3t -85
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,

environmental concerns, labour needs, health, culture,
sport).

BREVER EEIRBEMHAERWWSERFER) -

B8.2

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the

focus area.

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited ZRERFEIERAR AR

ABOUT SOCIAL
WELFARE

T—RBRALE
A
7—ENTHUSIASM
ABOUT SOCIAL
WELFARE

T RBRALE
A
7—ENTHUSIASM
ABOUT SOCIAL
WELFARE



FINANCIAL SUMMARY
B E

BZ12A31HLEE

Year ended 31 December

20184 20194 2020 20214 20224
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
ARBTT AREBTT ARETT ARETT AR®TR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
U 2% REVENUE 518,835 600,201 796,762 991,941 1,043,378
EF GROSS PROFIT 185,501 196,694 193,793 232,392 225,647
1T (ER) /F) OPERATING (LOSS)/PROFIT 30,432 11,956 29,663 14,307 (33,352)
BFTERAT(ER)/  (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX
FE 30,545 10,581 27,358 12,480 (36,302)
ER(BE)/FEE  (LOSS)/PROFIT AND TOTAL
cENERE COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR 29,804 13,478 29,307 15,351 (34,968)
BEE(ER),/FB ADJUSTED NET (LOSS)/PROFITS
R 29,804 13,478 29,307 30,968 (11,997
M12H31H
As at 31 December
20184 20194 2020 20214 20224
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
ARBTT ARETIT ARBTL ARETT AR¥TR
RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
BE ASSETS
ERBEE Non-current assets 40,572 37,843 33,636 63,240 55,215
nHEE Current assets 273,639 291,553 434,603 484,727 619,436
BEE Total assets 314,211 329,396 468,239 547,967 674,651
a8 LIABILITIES
ERBEE Non-current liabilities 11,739 6,341 382 24,268 18,165
TEEE Current liabilities 104,461 142,775 196,088 236,545 233,697
EEAE Total liabilities 116,200 149,116 196,470 260,813 251,862
R EQUITY
ANFHEA AEEH#EZ  Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 197,735 180,924 270,854 285,401 420,328
FEMBRE S Non-controlling interests 276 (644) 915 1,753 2,461
mEs Total equity 198,011 180,280 271,769 287,154 422,789
ExRaEasE Total equity and liabilities 314,211 329,396 468,239 547,967 674,651
Annual Report 2022 —Z — —4FF3f
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RAFERR BRXERBAESI - T Inthis annual report, the following expressions have the meanings
FEABUTHEE

[EEERBE

“Administration
Committee”

(BB AL

“affiliate”

[RERBFAE]
“"AGM”

[Al
uAlu

[2RE]
"all-channel”

[AMS |
”AMS”

[ aPaaS ]
"aPaaS”

[API]
uAPlu

[ 40 Bl ] 3%
[ =24 A
“Articles” or "Articles
of Association”

[FitZEE]
“Audit Committee”

[ 1% &AM ]
" Auditor”

B30
“Award Share(s)”

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

set out below unless the context requires otherwise:

BREFERTRNOREREEIRFIBROEZRDFENESTSE TLZE8T AKX
BB ESFE IR TRGAESEETTMEZEGEIRERTE

a sub-committee of the Board, members of which shall be determined by the
chairman of the Board from time to time, with consultation with the chairman of the
remuneration committee of the Board, delegated with the power and authority by
the Board to administer the Restricted Share Award Scheme;

BEEAHEZEFBEALTAERSAHAEIHFEALEN XA EALEEER X
B KR E G ERIEMmAL

any other person, directly or indirectly, controlling or controlled by or under direct
or indirect common control with such specified person

ARAHER2023F6 A26 A RA R RITHEERRBEFKE
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held on or around
26 June 2023

AILE &
artificial intelligence

CREHFEPZANKLEMETRE §EETEREREDHARN
the online and offline channels between enterprises and their customers for the
purpose of products and services distribution or delivery

?’E%&%’E%%n [

alarm and maintenance system

&R 5 AR

application platform as a service

EREEED

application programming interface

RIEFTREBIIMARABAKE R

the amended and restated articles of association of the Company

ARAREFEETNETERES

the audit committee of the Board of the Company

AR A A% BUED 2 S Bl oK B B AT ED =S P

PricewaterhouseCoopers, the auditor of the Company

R SR I B0 B2 D AT 81 &0 15 3R B IR T RO B Ap
Shares granted pursuant to terms and conditions of the Restricted Share Award
Scheme

ZHREREERER AR



[EEg]
"Board”

[(RBERERES]
“BVI"

[ XRE 8T Al
"CG Code”

5]

%
8

“cloud-based”

[ARB &I ZR]

“Company” or
“Xuan Wu”

=
3
op
&
T
iz
o
i
| —

“Consolidated
Affiliated Entities”

[& R % 8]
“Contractual
Arrangements”

[cPaaS]
"cPaaS”

[CRM]
“CRM”

[DI]

G

[E%]
"Director(s)”

[DMS]
"DMS”

DEFINITIONS (CONTINUED)
B (@)

E=xg

the board of Directors

REEBRES
British Virgin Islands

T AR RUBT E% 1 T AT E KR R B VR ST RID

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules

BBEBERAFPRHNERERF MEXER AEAEHEROREHER
FRE TIRAAENATREZE R

applications, services or resources made available to users on demand via the
internet from a cloud computing provider's server with access to shared pools of
configurable resources

ZREMKRERERAR —KEHSHEEMRUNERR2AERAR - HX
9 PO B S AT BT (AR AR 5% 2392)

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited, an exempted company incorporated
in the Cayman lIslands with limited liability, the Shares of which are listed on the
Stock Exchange under stock code 2392

ARABEBERZHEHNER MENZRAREMNBEAR(ZEERA—RKIKRE
BEER) dXeRTH HUBXECH AXREBAERASENE QA
N

the entities the Company control through the contractual arrangements, namely,
Guangzhou Xuan Wu and its subsidiaries (each a “Consolidated Affiliated Entity"),
the financial results of which have been consolidated and accounted for as the
subsidiaries of the Group by virtue of the contractual arrangements

Z#EH BEMNZELREMBRRARELRR ZBET N — R ER%TH
the series of contractual arrangements entered into between Xuantao, Guangzhou
Xuan Wu and its subsidiaries and the Registered Shareholders

BIEF & RS

communication platform as a service

EFBRERER

customer relationship management

BEEE ARAREHHM TREALIRPES AR OMEBOMESTTAER
77E

data intelligence, all the analytical tools and methods a company employs to form a
better understanding of and get insights from the information

KREIESR
the director(s) of the Company

DA EERR

distributor management system

Annual Report 2022 —Z = —F %
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DEFINITIONS (CONTINUED)

B (®

LR O i
F4)

"ESOP Platforms”

[BR5ME & ] B

"Excluded
Employee”

SN RE AR =
BE]

“Foreign Investment
Negative List”

[ E] B
“Global Offering”

E=&ill 15
“Grant”
[ HE ] 15
"Group”
[EMZR ] it

“Guangzhou
Xuan Wu"

BEMNZRREEREEGE(ARER) ENZAREARaBLE(ERA
) BNZEREARAGBCEBRAB)LEMNZLEREREREBROX(A
ReRB) M EME EPEMN-—KHZRAA

Guangzhou Xuandong Investment Co., Ltd. (Limited Partnership) (BN Z R %K & B
REBLEERAEE), Guangzhou Xuanxi Investment Co., Ltd. (Limited
Partnership) (BEMZAKREBREB L E(BR & %)), Guangzhou Xuannan
Investment Co., Ltd. (Limited Partnership) (BN ZFH R EBREGE L EEBREE))
and Guangzhou Xuanbei Investment Co., Ltd. (Limited Partnership) (B /1 Z b 1% &
EREELEERAEE) orany one or more of them as the context requires

EEEREMNBERLFDEERENEES - MREZE & DEERENER MOE
B ARBABREZRGIRDRETSRAZEER T EMEB R DX AZE
EXNEMFREREZCAEENZEENEBRNO TREARSE » XARF]
ET LR EERABTREXLFERENEZRIER BEEEETE2RRE
FREBNEHKAAT MEZSREEERALFTHIEAENBR N2#
BIEREIKZEEMNAT ZHMBBETR/ONR

any employee who resides in any country or jurisdiction where the grant of any
Award Shares or making of any payment to him or transfer of any Award Shares
vested in him to the Nominee Account under the Restricted Share Award Scheme
would not be permitted under the laws and regulations of such country or
jurisdictions or would be subject to such requirements under those laws and
regulations compliance with which would, in the sole view of the Board, be unduly
burdensome or impractical and the Board, in its sole and absolute discretion,
considers it necessary or expedient to exclude such employee from the benefit of
such act

FR 7 7% 80 e B R B B E 2021 4F 12 B 27 B Bt & AR5 30 70 20224F 1 A1 B A A
GIrEREEARREEEE(BEBE) (20215 R))

the Special Administrative Measures on Access to Foreign Investment (Negative
List) (2021 Edition) (5% #% & /£ A% Bl & 245 it (B [ /5 B8) (20214 hix)) which was
promulgated jointly by the MOFCOM and the NDRC on 27 December 2021 and
became effective on 1 January 2022

EENREEMNBRESHEERN
the Hong Kong public offering and the international offering of the offer shares

18 71 % 2k [R] 3 AR 48 52 BR 1 A £ 22 Bh 71 &1 9% T 2B A 0
individually or collectively, a grant of Award Shares under the Restricted Share
Award Scheme

ARrMEGEMBERNETNEIMFN—8

the Company and its consolidated affiliated entities or any of them

BMHZREGHMERNDER AR —KN2010F 11 2B &R BEFMAIZE
ROBRAF  AERMANGEHEER Y —

Guangzhou Xuan Wu Wireless Technology Co., Ltd. (& /N 22 & 8 48 Bl 5 I& 15
fR A 7)), a joint stock limited company incorporated in the PRC on 2 November
2010, which is one of our Consolidated Affiliated Entities

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited ZRERIZERER AT



et
8|
"HKFRS"”

[&A]
“"Hong Kong”

ficcl
ulCC”

[loT]
"oT"

(&R ERATTHH]

“Latest Practicable

Date”

[T A&
“Listing Date”

[ R A
“Listing Rules”

[ZE 2= A
"Model Code”

(1848 ]

“module”

MOS

“MOS”

ESE

“multi-touch”

DEFINITIONS (CONTINUED)
B (@)

(BT B HmEERD)
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

TEEFEBFRITHRE
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

BeBETE
integrated communication centre

) Bk 4

internet of things

2023F4H20R - EERFHRAHE TEHNNKRRERAITHEH
20 April 2023, being the latest practicable date for ascertaining certain information
in this annual report

20227 A8H - BNk Bk Pr E R IR E Eay B HA
8 July 2022, being the date on which the Shares became listed and commenced
trading on the Stock Exchange

BRXFCER EmRAD - B ARERT - MRS AR AT B
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

FARBMETAEACETETAEFETESF R HNRESTRD
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out
in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules

B PR MERRERS  SEASEARNERREFN —2Bn A AETT
NXFRENREIAH gl - HERER  —EAREBTFTHZENET
(024

in the context of describing our technology infrastructure, a module refers to a part
of a system or application that can operate to support specific functionality or use
cases such as call, message and management, and a module is usually comprised of
multiple functions

HERERR

message operating system

PEEREANEEZ(WRLE BT HEM —LHEEBLREEDRM) (R
ERAPETREFEREMERMMRIRENBEER)) AR HEEPFEEH
XEEZHEMES

a net containing various forms of connection, such as, online, offline, business (unified
management of marketing and operational communications) and social (integrating
contact information of users over various telecom channels and mainstream social
media channels) which facilitates the interaction between enterprises and their
customers

Annual Report 2022 —Z = —F %
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(KB ARP] ¥

“Nominee Account”

[PaaS] b
“PaaS”

=g B

"Participant”

[PMM ] b=
IIPMMII

[F B 15
"PRC" or "China”

[HEER] 5

"Prospectus”

Xuan Wu Cloud Technology Holdings Limited

HOARRIBLERXRGIRNDBBAINEZENRTA  EMFEBEREENX
AAELNEREF (R EEZESNERNBATRENERAELENEMA
HAERPIF R b

an account operated by (i) the trustee(s) be appointed by the Company for
administration of the Restricted Share Award Scheme or any additional or
replacement trustee, or (i) any other online portal facilities operated by an
administrator designated by the Administration Committee in its sole and absolute
discretion

F & B0 AR 7%

platform as a Service

WARFHEMNGEHBEERNEZTLES (BRREXR SR M RE 2%
BREBBRMDIEREZFRAILERSRNZROHAL)  (\ARFHERD
A CREMBARKBELRNERTRES  R(i)RERMHE

(i) directors and employees of the Company or any of its consolidated affiliated
entities (including persons who are granted Award Shares under the Restricted
Share Award Scheme as an inducement to enter into employment contracts with
these companies); (ii) directors and employees of the holding companies, fellow
subsidiaries or associated companies of the Company; and (iii) Service Providers

REEBmERE

promoter merchandiser management

hEARANE  ERAFHHE - TREEE PEREMAFHNTREREE
the People’s Republic of China, excluding, for the purposes of this annual report
only, Hong Kong, Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan

RNRATHER2022F6 A24 B ER
the prospectus of the Company dated 24 June 2022

ZHREREERER AR



[ &R AR

“Registered
Shareholders”

[ 5 1

"Reporting Period”

[ %R 6 A% 17 22 @)
B

“Restricted Share
Award Scheme”

N
"RMB”

[RMS |
"RMS”

[SaaS)
“Saas”

[SDK]
"SDK"

\>J

[EESEE]

“Selected
Participant(s)”

DEFINITIONS (CONTINUED)
B (@)

EMNZRMOZRRE BIMRKEBLAE RO REE - FEHBELE - ZBELE
£ BIRFRFAEFE LEEENE HREREESEABLE(BRSE
%) et E?EE BEZMEEER NG  BEKRLE BNEERESED
%(ﬁﬁﬁ/\%) HERBAOAEREEGRLE(BRER)  RIMHEUEER
EEREBERAR WIETL?EE REERE BEESFRHBERAF - KKXHE
5%%(ﬁ@)% SH(BEREH) REXLE HFEIEFRNHBERAA - KE
ERAKEABLE(ARAR) FEEALLE BEUHALEREEXLAENRE
the registered shareholders of Guangzhou Xuan Wu, collectively, Mr. Chen Yonghui
(BR 7k #E), Mr. Song Xiaohu (R 7]\ [?), Mr. Huang Fangjie (& {75 £t), Mr. Li Hairong (&
2 28), the ESOP Platforms, Shanghai Fosun Weishi Fund (/818 2 tE & — HIfx &
KEESEEZLEEBERAEE), Mr. Xie Lejun (#1 %4 ), GF Qianhe Investment Co.,
Ltd. (B3 MR EAFRAF), Mr. Guo Haigiu (F/83k), Guangzhou Zhengxin
Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership) (EM EEREAB L E(BREE)),
Gongging City Blue Stone Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership) (3£ & 3 &
AEIEREGRLE(BRER)), Shenzhen Zhongou Runlong Investment
Management Co., Ltd. (&I TH R BUREE 1% & B 12 A R A 7)), Mr. Chen Zhengxu (W
1IEfB), Mr. Wu Fugui (R & &), GF Securities Co., Ltd. (f%é‘ SERMAERA
Chengda Coastal Industry (Dalian) Fund Phase | (Limited Partnership) (5% X4 i?
2 (REESSH EBE/\%) Mr Zhang Wei (5k4&), CITIC Securities Company
Limited (P15 iEFH M D A R A 7)), Zhuhai Qingshi Investment Partnership (L|m|ted
Partnership) (%f%E&ﬁA%’éﬁ% (BRRE %)), Mr. Zhang Boxiao (5R1&E ), M
Tang Bin (& X&) and Mr. Sun Junwen (2 & X)

BZE202F12A3MBIEFE
the year ended 31 December 2022

EEEMN2022F12 A1 BH#E KRR X R IR ) RE) 8 (B A EFEET)

the restricted share award scheme approved and adopted by the Board on 1
December 2022 or as amended from time to time

AR - hEE T E

Renminbi yuan, the lawful currency of the PRC

TEEEER
retail management system

B BD iR 75

software as a service

HHEHETLAR®

software development kit

EREZEBGREXRH RN BE B A IRFUE E LR B X R IR () 2B 5t 8 7]
TR (EM2EE

any Participant selected by the Administration Committee in accordance with the
terms of and entitled to receive a grant under the Restricted Share Award Scheme

Annual Report 2022 —Z = —F %
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[ AR 75 12 f &

“Service Provider(s)

[SFA]
MSFAM

(58 7% R E R 5P

"SFO”

[% 5 ]
“Share(s)”

[R5 ]
“Shareholder(s)”

[SKUJ
"SKU”

[SMS ]
IISMSII

[ <2 P
“Stock Exchange”

[ 2

“subsidiary(ies)”

[TPM]
“TPM"

[UMP
IIUMPII

[Z 8]

“Xuantao”

EAEEN —REAFEEBETHEIRLFTUE AR EERERS LA
RAEENRPERNALT(IABREERE HBEM 2B REERMS
HEREREME)

persons who provide services to the Group on a continuing or recurring basis in its
ordinary and usual course of business which are in the interests of the long term
growth of the Group (excluding placing agents, financial advisers, professional
service providers such as auditors and valuers)

HEENEBL

sales forces automation

EREVFESNEC(GEZ RBBERN) B AEEE] - AR £ gk
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

RN FRE A &R E{E0.0001 E T A AR 7] @Ak
ordinary share(s) of the Company with nominal value of US5$0.0001 each in the share
capital of the Company

EUESESIN
holder(s) of Shares

JERER =3 Xivi
stock keeping unit

215 AR 75

short message service

EEBMARIMARLIDA
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

BB ETRAE T %0 RE

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules

R P RIHE R

trade promotion management

sm—EEEBTA
universal message platform

BNTZEEZENMRBRAT  —KN2021F8 A6 R EFRBEMA LA AR
DA RARFIEEZEMB A A

Guangzhou Xuantao Intelligent Cloud Technology Co., Ltd. (EM T Z 8 & 2=/l
AR A A, alimited liability company incorporated in the PRC on 6 August 2021,
which is our indirect wholly-owned subsidiary

Note: The English transliteration of the Chinese name(s) in this annual
report, where indicated by an asterisk (*), is included for
identification purpose only, and should not be regarded as the
official English name(s) of such Chinese name(s).
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